DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 437 190 PS 028 170

TITLE Head Start Reauthorization. Hearing before the Subcommittee
on Early Childhood, Youth and Families of the Committee on
Education and the Workforce. House of Representatives, One
Hundred Fifth Congress, Second Session.

INSTITUTION Congress of the U.S., Washington, DC. House Committee on
Education and the Workforce.

REPORT NO House-Hrg-105-114

ISBN ISBN-0-16-057802-7

PUB DATE 1998-06-09

NOTE 200p.

AVAILABLE FROM

U.S. Government Printing Office, Superintendent of
Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402.

PUB TYPE Legal/Legislative/Regulatory Materials (090)

EDRS PRICE MF01/PC08 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS Administrators; *Educational Attitudes; *Federal Aid;
*Federal Legislation; Federal Programs; Hearings; Parents;
Preschool Education; Program Development; Program
Improvement; Staff Development

IDENTIFIERS Congress 105th; *Project Head Start; *Reauthorization
Legislation

ABSTRACT

reauthorization of the Head Start Act given on June 9,

These hearing transcripts present testimony concerning the
1998, before the

Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families. The testimony focused on
the efficacy of specific programs and activities funded by the Head Start
Act, successes and failures, and future needs and directions the program
should follow. Presented is testimony by: (1) Florida Representative John
Mica; (2) california Representative Loretta Sanchez; (3) the director of
Education and Employment Issues of the General Accounting Office; (4) two
academicians; (5) the assistant director of the National Center for Family
Literacy; (6) the president of the National Fatherhood Initiative; (7) two
directors of local Head Start programs; and (8) the president of a county
board of education. (SD)

ENTIRE DOGUMENT.

|
POOR PRINT QUALITY

ERIC Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made
from the original document.

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:




HEAD START REAUTHORIZATION

ED 437 190

HEARING

BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EARLY CHILDHOOD,
YOUTH AND FAMILIES

OF THE

A COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND
THE WORKFORCE
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

ONE HUNDRED FIFTH CONGRESS
SECOND SESSION

| HEARING HELD IN WASHINGTON, DC, JUNE 9, 1998

Serial No. 105-114

Printed for the use of the Committee on Education and the Workforce

U.S. DEPARTMENf OF EDUCATION
Office of Educational Research and Improvement

EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION
CENTER (ERIC)

% This document has been reproduced as
received from the person or organization

originating it.
O Minor changes have been made to
improve reproduction quality.

© Points of view or opinions stated in this
document do not necessarily represent
official OERI position or policy.

» %

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
52-481 WASHINGTON : 1998

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office
Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402
ISBN 0-16-057802-7

AEST COPY AVAILABLE




COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND THE WORKFORCE
WILLIAM F. GOODLING, Pennsylvania, Chairman

THOMAS E. PETRI, Wisconsin WILLIAM (BILL) CLAY, Missouri
MARGE ROUKEMA, New Jersey GEORGE MILLER, California

HARRIS W. FAWELL, lllinois DALE E. KILDEE, Michigan

CASS BALLENGER, North Carolina MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, California
BILL E. BARRETT, Nebraska MAIJOR R. OWENS, New York

PETER HOEKSTRA, Michigan DONALD M. PAYNE, New Jersey
HOWARD P. “BUCK” McKEON, California PATSY MINK, Hawaii

MICHAEL N. CASTLE, Delaware ROBERT E. ANDREWS, New Jersey
SAM JOHNSON, Texas TIM ROEMER, Indiana

JAMES M. TALENT., Missouri ROBERT C. "BOBBY” SCOTT, Virginia
JAMES C. GREENWOOD, Pennsylvania LYNN C. WOOLSEY, California
JOSEPH K. KNOLLENBERG, Michigan CARLOS A. ROMERO-BARCELOQ, Puerto-Rico
FRANK D. RIGGS, California CHAKA FATTAH, Pennsylvania
LINDSEY O. GRAHAM, South Carolina RUBEN HINOJOSA, Texas

MARK E. SOUDER, Indiana CAROLYN McCARTHY, New York
DAVID M. McINTOSH, Indiana JOHN F. TIERNEY, Massachusetts
CHARLIE W. NORWOOD, JR., Georgia RON KIND, Wisconsin

RON PAUL, Texas LORETTA SANCHEZ, California

BOB SCHAFFER, Colorado HAROLD E. FORD, JR., Tennessee
JOHN E. PETERSON, Pennsylvania . DENNIS KUCINICH, Ohio

FRED UPTON, Michigan
NATHAN DEAL, Georgia
VAN HILLEARY, Tennessee
i MIKE PARKER, Mississippi
Kevin Talley, Staff Director
i Gail E. Weiss, Minority Staff Director

1

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EARLY CHILDHOOD, YOUTH AND FAMILIES
FRANK D. RIGGS, California, Chairman

MICHAEL N. CASTLE, Delaware MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, California
SAM JOHNSON, Texas GEORGE MILLER, California

MARK E. SOUDER, Indiana DALE E. KILDEE, Michigan

RON PAUL, Texas MAIJOR R. OWENS, New York
WILLIAM F. GOODLING, Pennsylvania DONALD M. PAYNE, New Jersey
JAMES C. GREENWOOD, Pennsylvania PATSY MINK, Hawaii

DAVID M. McINTOSH, Indiana TIM ROEMER, Indiana

JOHN E. PETERSON, Pennsylvania ROBERT C. “BOBBY” SCOTT, Virginia
FRED UPTON, Michigan DENNIS KUCINICH, Ohio

VAN HILLEARY, Tennessee

(1D

ERIC . L 3

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

K
I3

o
»
3



TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF THE HON. JOHN L. MICA, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA .......oooioiriiitiietetnts ettt 1

STATEMENT OF THE HON. LORETTA SANCHEZ, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA .......cocooiieieiiin st 4

STATEMENT OF DR. CARLOTTA JOYNER, DIRECTOR, EDUCATION AND
EMPLOYMENT ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE ........ccoeonveveriierinens 21

STATEMENT OF DR. EDWARD ZIGLER, DIRECTOR, YALE BUSH CENTER IN
CHILD DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL POLICY, YALE UNIVERSITY ....c..cccceevvenninacn. 24

STATEMENT OF DR. CATHERINE SNOW, CHAIR, HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND
PSYCHOLOGY, HARVARD GRADUATE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION ........c.ccovnvevvcncne. 27

STATEMENT OF BONNIE FREEMAN, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, NATIONAL CENTER
FOR FAMILY LITERACY, LOUISVILLE, KENTUCKY .....cccooiiiiiinicnncene 29

STATEMENT OF DR. WADE HORN, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL FATHERHOOD
INITIATIVE, GAITHERSBURG, MARYLAND ........coiiics 32

STATEMENT OF JACKIE DOLLAR, DIRECTOR, NAPA-SOLANO HEAD START,
NAPA, CALIFORNIAL.......c.ooeei ettt st ase s et e st s e s en 35

STATEMENT OF YOLIE FLORES AGUILAR, PRESIDENT, LOS ANGELES COUNTY
BOARD OF EDUCATION, DOWNEY, CALIFORNIA, ACCOMPANIED BY ANDREW
KENNEDY, DIRECTOR, LACOE'S HEAD START-STATE PRESCHOOL DIVISION..... 39

APPENDIX A -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE HON. JOHN L. MICA, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS.FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA ........ccccceveeenenne. 69

APPENDIX B -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE HON. LORETTA SANCHEZ, A
REPRESENTATIVE'IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA..................... 73

APPENDIX C -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE HON. MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA..................... 77

APPENDIX D -- INFORMATION REGARDING HEAD START PROVIDED BY
CONGRESSMAN MICA ...ttt st e sb e s ss st ettt se st bt 91

APPENDIX E -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. CARLOTTA JOYNER, DIRECTOR,

EDUCATION AND EMPLOYMENT ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE ...
..................................................................................................................................................... 111



Iv

APPENDIX F -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. EDWARD ZIGLER, DIRECTOR,
YALE BUSH CENTER IN CHILD DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL POLICY, YALE
UNIVERSITY ..ottt tee et e beesentseesseebens e e ssan s sesessesosnen 129

APPENDIX G - WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. CATHERINE SNOW, CHAIR,
HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND PSYCHOLOGY, HARVARD GRADUATE SCHOOL OF
EDUCATION ..ottt st et st ss st sbe e sv s v e snsses 139

APPENDIX H -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF BONNIE FREEMAN, ASSISTANT
DIRECTOR, NATIONAL CENTER FOR FAMILY LITERACY, LOUISVILLE,
KENTUCKY ..ottt st s et e e e e s e eses e eseese e sesesesessanas 153

APPENDIX I -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. WADE HORN, PRESIDENT,
NATIONAL FATHERHOOD INITIATIVE, GAITHERSBURG, MARYLAND.................. 163

APPENDIX J -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF JACKIE DOLLAR, DIRECTOR, NAPA-
SOLANO HEAD START, NAPA, CALIFORNIA ..ot 175

APPENDIX K — WRITTEN STATEMENT OF YOLIE FLORES AGUILAR, PRESIDENT,
LOS ANGELES COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION, DOWNEY, CALIFORNIA,
ACCOMPANIED BY ANDREW KENNEDY, DIRECTOR, LACOE'S HEAD START—
STATE PRESCHOOL DIVISION .......ccoootiiiiiiiiitie ettt et et es e ssnesseessstessesesnasesonns 199

TABLE OF INDEXES.........cooiiiitt st eses e esssass s esasssssssens 207



HEARING ON HEAD START REAUTHORIZATICN
June 9, 1998

Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families
Committee on Education and the Workforce
Washington, DC

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:07 A.M., in Room 2175, Rayburn House
Office Building, Hon. Frank Riggs [Chairman of the Subcommiittee] presiding.

Present: Representatives Riggs, Martinez, Roemer, Scott, and Kucinich.

Staff Present: Denzel McGuire, Professional Staff Member; Richard Stombres, Legislative
Assistant; June Harris, Minority Education Coordinator; Alex Nock, Minority Professional
Staff Member; and Marci Philips, Minority Professional Staff Member.

Chairman Riggs. Good morning. I call to order this hearing on the Subcommittee.on Early
Childhood, Youth and Families to address a very important. subject, and that is the
reauthorization of the Federal Head Start program.

As our two colleagues who are seated at the witness table know, it is very customary to begin
hearings with opening statements by the Chairman and ranking member of the Subcommittee.
But I just conferred with my good friend and the ranking member of the Subcommittee,
Congressman Martinez, and we decided that we would hold our opening statements until the
next panel of witnesses so that we could go right to our colleagues, because we know our
colleagues have very busy schedules as well.

For our first panel, it is our privilege to welcome Representative John Mica from the Seventh
District of Florida and Representative Loretta Sanchez from the 46th district of and it says here
the "Great State of California," and you will certainly get no argument from the Chairman and
ranking member.

John and Loretta, thank you for being here. We have looked forward with a great deal of
interest to your ideas, thoughts, and suggestions regarding the reauthorization of Head Start;
and with that, I will turn to Congressman John Mica for his testimony. Please proceed, John.

STATEMENT OF THE HON. JOHN L. MICA, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA’

Mr. Mica. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I am back from the smoky State of Florida, the
smoky Seventh District. And you get that in California, too, from time to time.

By



Ms. Sanchez. No way.
Chairman Riggs. It is called smog in California.

Mr. Mica. We will be drowning in water soon, so I guess we all have to contend with Mother
Nature. But I am pleased to be here this morning to testify on an issue of great importance to
me personally and, I know, to this Committee.

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I am pleased today to have an opportunity
to testify on how we can work together to improve Head Start. Let me say at the outset that I
have been a strong supporter of the Head Start concept and unequivocally believe that we can
make no greater investment than to intervene early in the lives of our disadvantaged children.
If we do not extend that effort and make resources available, we will pay a much larger price
in social programs, public assistance and in our criminal justice system. We can produce
poets, professionals, and productive public citizens or public charges and prisoners. I think the
choice is ours.

The reason I am here today is because I believe Head Start has strayed from its original
mission. I believe it was, in fact, established to give disadvantaged children a head start, a leg
up, an exposure to experiences they had been deprived of, and to enrich their lives and abilities
so that they could better compete in our schools and function in their lives. I am afraid that,
while well intended, what we have done instead, in certain instances, is to build an inflexible,
costly, and sometimes unresponsive bureaucracy that has lost both the sight and the purpose of
its original mission.

Let me provide as an example one of the Head Start programs in central Florida that serves -
two of my counties. The program services approximately 478 students. Just the local cost per
student is $6,165 per year. By contrast, our best private preschool program costs on average
$2,265 less. My largest parochial preschool program has 1,118 pre-K students, with one
superintendent and one aide, and costs less than half as much annually for a much more
extensive and comprehensive program.

The Head Start program does not have a single State certified teacher in the classroom. We
have 25 teaching positions and 25 teacher assistants. These so-called teachers and teaching
assistants earn salaries in this range, from $8,000 to $17,000, and I have all of the latest
figures here for the Committee.

We also have, as mandated under the morass of Federal Head Start regulations, a small army
of Federal employees. Call them what you will, they are in charge of administrating or in
some way being part of the bureaucracy to oversee this program. We fund around 22
positions, with salaries ranging on average from $40,000 to $80,000. And what is sad is that
not only does this Head Start program cost twice as much, it does not give what I believe is a
real head start to our disadvantaged children.



What are some of the problems with our Head Start program? Head Start is often turned into a
minority grouping and minority employment program. Children fail to get positive exposure
to language, cultural and educational experiences. That was the intent of Head Start in the
beginning; Head Start was intended to lift children from a cultural and educational
disadvantaged position, not to extend, in fact, the disadvantaged status. Our least advantaged
children should be afforded the best teaching skills. Instead, what we have created is a
subclass of glorified babysitters to influence children at this most critical educational and
developmental stage.

Another problem relates to smaller service area programs, such as the one I have just described
in our community. Inflexible Federal Head Start regulations and the mass of administrative,
so-called "educational bureaucracy" causes some programs like ours to spend a fortune on
miscellaneous, well-sounding and well-intentioned positions that have little impact on the
children we set out to give a head start.

Some of this mass of overhead can be absorbed in-maybe some of the larger systems, like
Chicago, New York, Los Angeles, but our community and many others should be allowed
more flexibility or waivers to provide cost- and program-effective Head Start assistance.

1 did not come here today to criticize Head Start with you, rather to see if we could get-it back
on its original mission, to enhance programs and expand the opportunity to many more
children. Today, I piead with this Committee to explore several alternatives to the current
Head Start program requirements:

First, consider a limited voucher program, where parents could place their children in
preapproved preschool programs. Local school boards would certify area programs eligible to
participate.

A second alternative would be charter Head Start programs. General qualifying guidelines
could be established, as they are with charter schools, but these Head Start programs would
operate without the morass of federally required bureaucracy and regulations.

A third proposal would be to block grant an amount to school boards or other qualifying
institutions of higher learning in order to establish local programs, sans that is minus all .of the
current federally required mandates. Universities and colleges, particularly those with
education and postgraduate teaching programs, should be brought into this process.
Disadvantaged children in Head Start programs should have access to the highest level of
teaching skills and educational talent rather than a forced. grouping with mediocre attendant -
monitoring.

I believe you have one of the most important tasks for reshaping the lives of thousands of our
most needy and disadvantaged children. While every program could use more money as a
"Band-Aid" solution to its problems, here is a true opportunity to enhance and expand a
program simply by providing a little bit more flexibility and imagination.

8



Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I thank you for this time and look forward
to working with you as we work together to improve Head Start. Thank you.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you Representative Mica, particularly for introducing some creativity -
and imagination at the outset of our consideration of Head Start reauthorization. Are you free
to stay?

Mr. Mica. Yes.

SEE APPENDIX A -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE HON. JOHN L. MICA, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Chairman Riggs. Okay, then, we will turn now to Representative Sanchez for her statement.
Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF THE HON. LORETTA SANCHEZ,_A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Ms. Sanchez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, especially my
ranking member, Mr. Martinez, for allowing me to testify this morning on behalf of a program
I believe has made a profound difference in my life.

As you may know, I am the only Member of this Congress who is a graduate of the Head Start
program, and I am actually out of the very first class that graduated from Head Start in 1965.
As many of my Head Start colleagues, if you walk into my home, you will see my Head Start
certificate from 1965 hanging on my wall. There is a reason for that: Because it makes a -
difference in people's lives.

Back in 1965, 1 was not exactly one of those 4-1/2-year-olds that had it all together. In fact, I
was wearing orthopedic shoes and had not spoken a word yet. My mother, my grandmother,
actually, was taking me to the doctor and continuing to think that I was deaf and dumb, and
could not find anything wrong with me.

My mother was reading the paper one day and, as many of you know, I come from an
immigrant family, but reading the paper one day she came across this whole idea of the Head
Start program, because it was beginning. And she said to herself, this is something that
Loretta needs. And Head Start changed my life.

Those 6 weeks, because then it was a 6-week program during the summer, transformed me
from a shy, quiet girl into an inquisitive and eager child, fully prepared to begin kindergarten
at the same level as the rest of my classmates.

I have to admit that the first day I showed up at Head Start I was not really thrilled. As most
children, I screamed and yelled and cried and wanted to go home. But the minute I saw celery



and peanut butter, I was a devoted fan of the Head Start program.

Now, I bring that up because one of the things that is so important about Head Start is that it
does take people who are not used to the education system in the United States and introduces
them and does prepare them for their ability to get through K through 12, not just by getting
by, but by being an active participant. And it belongs not only to children, but the program
belongs to the families of these children.

Every time I hear people talk about how immigrant kids or kids are not trying to learn English
or are not trying to fit in, the reality of Head Start is that it does mainstream somebody like
me. I had never seen celery and peanut butter as a snack, because of course, I come froma
Hispanic family and we eat traditionally Hispanic foods. )

The interesting thing is that I do not believe this program has strayed very much from its
original intent, nor do I think it has changed that fundamentally. Because when I walk into the
Head Start classes in my district, guess what the kids are eating? Celery and peanut butter.
And it is still just as important today to introduce them to the American culture and to get them
mainstreamed as it was over 20 years ago for me. .Gosh, 30 years ago.

Seriously, though, I am positive that Head Start makes a critical contribution not only to
people like me, but to all the children who go. And, in fact, I know that many of my
constituents, and by that I mean even some of the parochial schools, care about the Head Start
program and believe that it is an integral part for our community.

I am thinking of this past year with the classroom crunch that we have had in Orange County,
as we have in most of California. The fact of the matter was that our Head Start program was
taken out of a school that was needed, that had been in mothballs, but was needed now by one
of my school districts; and Head Start had no place to go in Orange County. I was able to
broker a deal with the Methodist church in my area so that Head Start could come and have a
place in their home. These people believed enough in the Head Start program and saw the
results that happened.

Head Start gives families the initiative for them and their children to succeed despite personal
or economic hardship, and we all get a lot of bang for our buck through Head Start. It is one
of those programs that you can pay for now or wish that you had paid for later on.

But Head Start is not just a childcare program.. It is more than that. It incorporates families in
the community into the early development of the child. Head Start is a comprehensive
program of social services, early childhood development and health care all rolled into one.

Head Start is in a class by itself. Therefore, why make Head Start compete with other for-
profit childcare centers? Head Start addresses child and, more importantly, family needs. It
offers health, nutrition, social services. It puts a premium on parent involvement, encouraging
and offering services to foster parenting, literacy and employment skills.

Fmt
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This is a very important point also, because while out of seven children I was the first and the
only one to go to Head Start, the fact of the matter was that what my mother learned through
the Head Start program allowed her to be an active participant in the schooling of all of her
children, being a den mother, and a room mom, and ways and means chairman in the PTA.
She learned this not because someone came up and told her you should do this, but because she
was involved in the Head Start program with me. It transforms children and it transforms
parents in being able to do management of their children and decision-making.

Attempts to incorporate vouchers or English fluency and paternity testing into this program is
contrary to the purpose and the practice of Head Start. Vouchers would destroy Head Start as
we know it, not only financially but also its foundation and organization. Head Start is already
the most successful publicly funded children's program in the Nation. Never before have
vouchers been suggested as a means to improve Head Start, because they will not. If anything,
vouchers would sacrifice accountability and quality.

Parents are deeply involved, committed and satisfied with the services of Head Start. Why
meddle with something that works? Reauthorization should serve to improve and expand Head
Start, not to undermine its primary components.

Let us work to maintain Head Start as the success that it is. Let us make it a birth to
compulsory school age program. I urge the leadership of this Subcommittee to consider the
successful history of Head Start and to move on with the reauthorization in a bipartisan
manner.

Head Start is a program that has enjoyed incredible success and bipartisan support for over 30
years. Let us continue that tradition. We all know that it is less expensive to build a child
than it is to fix a broken adult.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Martinez.

SEE APPENDIX B -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE HON. LORETTA SANCHEZ, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Representative Sanchez.

You asked a rhetorical question in your statement, and let me give Congressman Mica a
chance to respond to it. In fact, I want to make sure that I quote correctly here.

You asked rhetorically in your statement, I say rhetorically only because you, I think, were
making a point, but you did not go on to really explain yourself or to basically answer your
own question. You say, "Therefore, why make Head Start compete with other for-profit child
care centers?"
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I do not think Congressman Mica is proposing that competition extend only to for-profits, but I
want to give Congressman Mica an opportunity to respond to that question.

Mr. Mica. Well, again, my idea isn't competing with for-profit centers. My idea is just
looking at how much money we are spending in small programs. I come from an area with
470 students, and I do not have one certified teacher. I have this list of teachers here, and I
am spending between $40,000 and-$80,000 for 22 administrators, $6,165 per year per student,
and that is only the local cost.

I have some of the regional costs and the national costs. It would astound you, the amount of
bureaucracy that we have created in Head Start.

I am just saying, let us take the funds that are given to us. We have two premier, ihe very
finest, schools with preschool, private schools I think they are not-for-profit in my district or
locale. I could send them and give a check back to the government, $1,000, and I could give
$1,000 to the students. And then, if I took some of this overhead from Atlanta and
Washington and Tallahassee, I could provide them with psychiatric care and everything else.

I am just saying that you have to look at how much you are spending and what the results are.
And then, if you want a minority grouping program, I have been in these classrooms, and I
cannot understand these so-called teachers or what kind of cultural experience that is being
given to the Kids that are my potential social problems, the kids that will be my dropouts, the
kids that will not be able to speak English, the kids that will be the social outcasts.

Now, I support the program. And when Ms. Sanchez was in the program, I was working in
my university and [ remember starting a project called "Begin Here," which tied the university
into a local preschool program, and our educational assets and resources of the university were
used to give the very best exposure to these young people.

I do not know what the program was like when she started out;. it obviously did a tremendous
job. But I am saying we have strayed. Look at what we are spending and what we are
getting, and then go into some of these classrooms and see the exposure these kids are getting.
It is not what it should be. It should be the finest, the best, and most cost effective.

Chairman Riggs. Congressman Mica, to make sure we understand your point, you are saying
that that parochial preschool program down the street, then, is more demographically diverse;
it is more heterogeneous, so to speak, than the Head Start program that you visited?

Mr. Mica. I went to all of them, to the parochial, the Catholic school, and I gave the numbers
here for the Catholic school and what they are doing in Prestart. We went to the private ones,
and I went to the very best private ones; and we went to the church ones. I could not find any
one that spends this much money.

Now, the question could be, well, we are taking children with certain disabilities and other
things. So I even asked those questions, what percentage do you have, and they were not



much different. They were dealing with children with handicaps, from broken families, too.
But in bringing them into this setting, it gives them a better exposure at much less cost.

If the program in Los Angeles or Chicago is working, fine, do it. Do your thing. But let us
take some of this and let us look at it at least.

And there have also been some mixed results about the effectiveness of some of these
programs. Maybe if we had the very best teaching skills. If I am paying $40,000 to $80,000,
I want to spend it on the very best people to work with the kids that are the least advantaged,
not $40,000 to $80,000 on administrative positions and $8,000 to $17,000 for unskilled,
glorified babysitter monitors, as I call them.

Chairman Riggs. I just want to clarify for the record that for-profits participate in the child
care development program, in the nutrition program, and introducing for-profits, at least in the
context of the Head Start reauthorization, should not, in my view, be controversial in that they
are already providing services with taxpayer dollars.

But before turning to Congressman Martinez, let me give Congresswoman Sanchez now an
opportunity to respond to Representative Mica.

If the goal is universal early childhood education for all eligible children, what is wrong with
competition, if competition will allow us to spread the dollars and serve more kids?

Ms. Sanchez. First of all, what I was talking about with respect to the vouchers, or families
going elsewhere, you cannot assure quality and performance standards are being met and
comprehensive services are being delivered. For example, of the 18 States providing a State-
funded continuum of support for children zero through five and their families, only three
incorporate Head Start performance standards.

There are no performance standards, and that is part of another whole other bureaucracy you
would have to create, putting in these voucher systems and trying to see if in fact these other
preschool or for-profit agencies are really following and really coming up to the performance
of the Head Start program. And, in fact, there is only one State, and that would be Florida,
that requires the minimum of a child development associate for childcare providers.

The other thing you look at, and I come from the business world and I understand what some
people talk about when they say the client is satisfied. We do not have parents saying that this
is a bad program; they are saying, this is a great program. We do not have community leaders
saying, this is a bad program; it is a great program.

And in addition to that, it 1993, the final report of the Advisory Committee on Head Start
Quality and Expansion, Creating a 21st Century Head Start, which was an exhaustive look at
ways to improve and strengthen Head Start, vouchers were never mentioned as a means to
improve services for Head Start-eligible children and families.



Parents are deeply involved. They are very committed to their children. They are learning
how to work with the system. Children are coming out with a good understanding of what it is
to be at the very basic line of what it takes to compete in kindergarten.

They need that Head Start. And they are satisfied with it and the parents are satisfied with it.
My community leaders are satisfied with it.

I do not know what is happening in Florida, but I can tell you what happens in Orange County.
The only shame of the Head Start program in Orange County is that we have 17,000 kids
eligible for it and we are only able to put 35- or 3800 through the program. We would love to
see more of what is going on, not start to change it.and put it in private hands and not have
ways to oversee it and have to build other bureaucracies either at the State level or God knows
how.

But it is a good program and it is working, and I do not think that farming it out to other
people is a satisfactory thing to do, other than if you are just in the business of funding private
firms.

Chairman Riggs. Mr. Martinez.

Mr. Martinez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to focus a little bit on your concern Mr.
Mica, because I understand where you might legitimately have concern. But, of course, when
you express that concern, you have to go back and look at the way you investigate it and the
frame of mind in which you investigate it and what you really expected from the program.

You keep talking about no certified teachers in the program. As the law is now, they are not
required to be certified teachers. They are only required to have a Head Start emphasis
development certification, and they do get special training for that. But the fact is that the low
budget that the Head Start program runs on is the reason why we have never really required
certified teachers. '

I understand the Chairman would like to have that requirement in the law, but then you are
going to start to look towards making it an educational program when you start employing
certified teachers in the program. The program was never intended to be an educational
program.

There should be a link to education, because naturally there is a step up from that program to
the educational one, but the fact is, if a particular Head Start program in your district is being
wasteful of the money they are getting, the fault lies with the people that approve their budget.
Because all the budgets for all of the Head Start programs are submitted, and they are judged
not necessarily on numbers of students they would serve, which is one of the criteria, but on
all the other expenses they would need to meet to serve any students at all.

So, really, if you are criticizing the amount of money spent, let me go back to the fact you
keep talking about the administrative costs in these programs. By law, a local agency can use
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only 15 percent for administrative costs. Now, if they are finding money someplace else to
subsidize some of these salaries, and you mentioned 11,000 to $17,000, you wouldn't get a
certified teacher in a Head Start program for even $17,000. Most certified teachers who have
been through an AA or Bachelor's degree are going to require more than that even to begin as
a starting pay. It depends on the area they are teaching in, too. In California, a starting
teacher makes upward of $28,000 to begin with. So I do not think that person is going to want
to work in the Head Start program for $17,000.

If the program is working bad, then I think we should have the people that provide the grantee
with the funding to look at the program and examine that budget again and take a closer look,
because there may be a case and I know where Loretta says that Head Start is working, it is
working great in the majority of places. That is not to say in isolated instances that there are
not bad programs.

I have sat here in this Congress for 18 years now and listened to people criticize Head Start all
those years, but they are usually people that come forward that have examined one particular
program and used that isolated instance to damn the whole program, when that is not fair.
Because, actually, when you have to look at a program that the Federal Government provides
money for, it is on a national basis and overall. What are the majority of the programs doing?
The majority of the programs are doing well.

We have a lot of instances. We have a person in Congress who was a graduate of Head Start.
I remember at the last Head Start conference that I was at, it was during the NCAA basketball
tournament, and the most valuable player of that whole tournament, one of the things he
proclaimed that allowed him to become the success he is, he said, was Head Start. He was a
Head Start graduate.

So we have an accomplished number of examples of the product of the Head Start. Statistics
that have been done by national studies have proven that people that go through Head Start are
less likely to drop out of school, they are more likely to finish school and go on to higher
education, they are less likely to become involved in teenage pregnancy, and I can go on and
on with all the things you have probably heard, but that does not make any less the concern
you have for a particular program.

If they are spending the kind of money you are saying that they are, per student, then I think
that program needs to be looked at, because the national average, I can assure you, is nowhere
near that. So I would think that we, as a Committee and the Committee of jurisdiction, that
has oversight responsibilities over that program, ought to be able to take a look at your
particular program.

We are going to a program here in the near future in Texas which has not been run ideally,
and we want to take a look at that, possibly for the information we gather from that, to
improving Head Start and making sure situations like that do not occur.
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SEE APPENDIX C - WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE HON. MATTHEW G.
MARTINEZ, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA

Mr. Mica. Thank you, Mr. Martinez. Again, I am very laudatory of Head Start. I am not
here to bash Head Start. I am here to tell you that.a parent and members of their advisory
board came to me and expressed concern that under Federal regulations and Federal law they
had to have all of these positions, 22 positions. I only have 25 so-called teachers. Here are 22
positions. There are like three health food specialists, or whatever is required, to decide that
they get peanut butter and jelly sandwiches; and they are getting $20,000 to $29,000. That is
why I do not have enough money to put a certified teacher in the program.

Los Angeles may work fine, Chicago may work fine. I do not want to interfere with what you
are doing; go on and do it. But I am telling you that in order to run a program.and our school
board does not even want to participate any more. They are shopping this out because of the
Federal regulations and the morass.

The majority of counties in this'country-are small counties, and we have real problems in our
rural counties, but we are forcing them into this bureaucratic morass of positions that we do
not need in this fashion. Not that we do not want to give some of these services to these kids
on an individualized basis, and we may have to do that. We may even have to contract out.

And I am not saying, do everything I have recommended. I have a proposal for vouchers, 1
have a proposal for block grants, we have a proposal for choice. Just let us try to do this.
And you do not even have to do it for the whole country. Do it in a few districts and see what
the results happen to be.

But I am telling you the reason we do not have the money to put qualified people in these
positions is because I am spending it on and, you know, they have their little way of getting -
around the administrative costs to create every other kind of cockamamie position you can
think of. We do not need them, we do not want them; we are just asking for a little bit of
flexibility to let us try to do our own thing and then, if it works, my God, we might try it-
somewhere else and it may be cost effective.

Mr. Martinez. Just let me close by saying, because I see my time has run out, in fact, in
many cases I have found that when people accuse the Federal Government and the regulations
from the Federal Government in forcing them to do something, if you really look closely, it is
not the Federal regulations causing them or forcing them to do any of that, it is their
misinterpretation of that Federal regulation.

1 can assure you, in law, it is concrete that you cannot use more than 15 percent towards
administrative costs. Now, how do they get to the salaries of $40- and $80,000 apiece-for
those 22 staff people out of 15 percent of the administrative cost of the budget they are given?
Explain that to me, if you can, because they cannot. In other-words, they are doing something
wrong, and they need to be looked at and scrutinized very closely as to how they are running
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their program. That is the responsibility of the overseer of the program.

Mr. Mica. I went to Atlanta myself and 1 said, this is ridiculous. They said, you have to have
all these positions or you cannot be certified. So here are the positions; it does not lie. Here is
the budget approved in Atlanta and here are the required positions. Just look through these.

A program with 470 students does not need 22 positions. Now, some are strictly
administrative, and then they have this, like I said, three health specialists, and here are the
positions. And these are all required in order to participate in the program.

I have been to Atlanta, talked to these folks, tried to get some waiver; and they said, you pass
the laws and you pass the regulations, and these are the rules. You operate on this or we do
not follow the program.

Mr. Martinez. We need to take a real close look at it.

Mr. Mica. I really appreciate that. And I come here really with the intent of trying to make
the thing work, but in a cost-effective manner; and then, if we can, upgrade.

The other thing, too, is trying to get as many of these programs tied into universities and
postgraduate education programs where you have some of the best expertise.

We are finding out more and more, to00, in education that the younger the students get this.
exposure, the better job we can do. So getting that expertise in there, and not just a
monitoring system, we can change these lives dramatically at an early stage. Thank you.

Chairman Riggs. I want to observe, I think you had some very constructive and thoughtful
suggestions, and perhaps they are ones that would allow us to build upon the recent I do not
want to call them "discoveries," but the recent research on early childhood development,
particularly brain development. '

I want to point out to my good friend and colleague, the ranking member, that under the
current act, 50 percent of the quality improvement funds can be used to and I am quoting from
the act now, "...to improve the compensation (including benefits) of staff of Head Start
agencies."

So that is current law, and that might explain how we get salaries in the range of $40- to
$80,000.

Mr. Martinez. That is only if the appropriation exceeds 25 percent of the preceding year's
appropriation.

Chairman Riggs. Correct. But appropriations have been going up steadily for Head Start,
something I very much support, and which has, I think, attracted strong bipartisan support in
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the Congress.
Let me turn to our fellow Committee member and colleague, Congressman Scott.

Congressman Scott, both the ranking member and I deferred our opening statements out of
respect for the tight time schedules of our colleagues as well, but if you would like to make an
opening statement and/or pose questions to our colleagues, please proceed. You are
recognized.

Mr. Scott. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think I interpreted a mild hint in your comments.
Let me just ask one question of Mr. Mica.

In your statement, you indicated that the private programs cost on average about $2,200 less.
Is that the tuition cost for nonprofits or for-profits?

Mr. Mica. Both. I think there are some for-profits we looked at. We did a complete study of
every preschool program in the area parochial, some private, some for-profit. We just
averaged those out. I have two fantastic I mean, the places that the wealthiest people in town
put their kids in preschool; they are looking at $1,000 difference.

Mr. Scott. Are you talking tuition?
Mr. Mica. $1,000 less to put them in the very best program.
Mr. Scott. Are you talking tuition or the cost?

Mr. Mica. The tuition. And that includes some of the other things that are provided in Head
Start.

The other thing, too, is we even compared the hours. If you are in Head Start, you are going
to more than likely be a single mother, and our goal is to get these people into the mainstream,
having them working, whether they are a single mother or a single father. So the Head Start
program that we have does not give as much time in the program as some of the other ones.
They had to be there at such-and-such a time and out such-and-such a time. The others were
longer and year-round.

Mr. Scott. Trying to comply with the Chairman's hint, if you could provide us with that,
because a lot of the estimates of costs mention tuition and do not factor in the fact that a lot of
the programs are very much subsidized by foundations or churches or otherwise. And some of
the for-profits have admissions requirements where they do not have to deal with some of the
more difficult problems like special education. So if we can get that, we could better be able
to evaluate that.

Mr. Mica. Be glad to.
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SEE APPENDIX D - INFORMATION REGARDING HEAD START PROVIDED BY
CONGRESSMAN MICA

Mr. Scott. With that, Mr. Chairman, I would yield back the balance of my time.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Congressman Scott. And I did not mean to cut you off, because
I am, actually, going to ask a question or two. So if you want to use your entire time
allotment, you are certainly welcome to. -

What I would like to do on the second and very brief go-round here is ask Representative
Sanchez's help, since she has a very unique perspective indeed, I guess the most unique .
amongst our colleagues, on how we can increase performance standards in the reauthorization
of Head Start.

We have had considerable discussion about establishing minimum levels of education
performance standards. We had a joint House-Senate hearing on the Senate side to sort of, if
you will, commence. deliberation of the Head Start reauthorization; and at that hearing
Professor E.D. Hirsch, Jr., of the University of Virginia testified and gave us some very
specific and very concrete recommendations on how we can establish, at least as he put it,
"minimum levels" of required education performance standards.

But what caught me a moment ago and I want to be sure I am clear on this you, in your .
testimony, referred to Head Start as a comprehensive program of social services, early
childhood development and health care all rolled into one; and then you went on and talked
about how it also addresses family needs as well as-the child's needs by offering health,
nutritional and social services. But I am struck that there is no real reference to the fact of -
Head Start being principally an educational program. Just a moment ago the ranking member,
I think, made some similar remarks along those lines. '

We want to strengthen the academic compbnent of Head Start reauthorization. Is that a
fundamental point of disagreement? Do you not believe Head Start is principally an
educational program?

Ms. Sanchez. Not at all, Mr. Chairman. In fact, going back to my experience, I went into a
classroom situation in Head Start, as I said, never having spoken a word, and came out pretty
fluent in English, to tell you the truth, after about 6 weeks. So the answer is that, of course,
Head Start should have and does have very educational components.

I have been to many of the classes, probably all of the classes.that we have in Orange County,
to visit and to see what goes on, and in my opinion my personal opinion, but again I do not
have an education degree there are things that we could even enhance in Head Start. -

For example, I truly believe that all children should be exposed to as much American culture
as possible from the very beginning. Iam talking about classrooms I have been in where there
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are not just Hispanic kids, for example, but I have a large Vietnamese population, of 93
languages spoken at home, where kids when they enter kindergarten in my area, they come
from 93 different language backgrounds. So I do believe that it is an important place to begin
their education.

But what I was speaking to earlier about families and the needs are what I saw happening in
my family and what I continue to see happening in these families that I have, in particular in
my district, and that is that many people come without a knowledge of the American school
system.

My parents did not have that knowledge. They did not know that the right thing to do when
your kid turns seven or whatever is that you put them into Little League and you begin to teach
them about apple pie and home runs. They just do not have that cultural background. So what
is important about Head Start is that it brings the parent in.

As I'said, while I was the only one to go to Head Start, the fact of the matter is, my parents
have seven children, and that allowed them to understand the process and to talk to parents, not
just the ones who were living next door to them, but the parents of other children and those
who were mainstream already. That is the importance that I was talking about when I said it is
a social program, a social skills program.

There definitely is an educational component, and I would be for strengthening it even more. I
happen to be one of the few people probably that thinks phonics is important for children as at
early an age as possible. And I would love to see even more emphasis in some areas, even in
Head Start, let alone K through 12. But what is happening now in the type of education the
kids are getting in that classroom is doing a phenomenal job for our children, at least in
Orange County.

All of my school districts come to me, almost every teacher and every superintendent-
administrator that has seen the difference between a Head Start kid and a kid that is not
prepared, or even a kid that has been prepared in a private preschool situation, and they tell me
all the time, they always prefer to get the Head Start kid.

Chairman Riggs. Fine. I don't disagree. And we will ask our next panel of witnesses what
we can do to sustain those gains that Head Start children make as they enter the public school
system.

Let me follow up on that point you made. If you agree that one of the principal purposes of
Head Start is the social assimilation of Head Start children into the I think you put it, "the
mainstream of American culture,” do you agree then that most conversation, particularly the
conversation with respect to instruction or teaching and learning, should be primarily in
English as opposed to the child's native language?

Ms. Sanchez. I would hope that you would have someone in the classroom who would be able
to deal with a child in his or her native language. I want kids to learn English. It is probably
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the most important thing that you can teach a child in America these days. But you cannot
compensate for every situation. I may have three Vietnamese-speaking kids come into my
Head Start class, 14 Hispanics, and some from Bulgaria or something. So you are not always
going to be able to have the perfect situation.

I look at the American education system, and I think it is really one of the few places where
the client has changed. The client is coming from a different background now, at least where I
live, and we have not changed the dynamics of what is happening in the classroom to address
that.

One of them is we need bilingual teachers in Head Start and every other place. If that is the
majority of the kind of kids we are getting in, you should not put a 4-1/2-year-old ina -
classroom situation where no one speaks Spanish. Especially if the majority of the kids are
walking in there and speaking Spanish, and the mother is dropping them off for the day, you
are not going to get anywhere.

Chairman Riggs. But you agree that the majority of the instructional time should be in
English?

Ms. Sanchez. Well, if they can understand English at that point, let's do it in English. But if
there is a transition to be made, then you are going to have to teach them in their pative

language.

Chairman Riggs. Let me ask you one more time on this idea of competition and vouchers. As
I understand it, one of the principal arguments that voucher opponents make is that it violates
the church-state separation. Yet in your testimony, I think you even spoke of a Head Start |
program being run by or out of a Methodist church.

Ms. Sanchez. That is right, it is mun out of the school site of the Methodist church, and they
are there as a tenant landlord to the Head Start program there. It was the only available
classroom space we could find. Thank God we could find it.

But these people are just as thrilled if the child graduates from Head Start and goes into their
program as in a parochial K-through-12 system. We are not adverse in Orange County to
working with all of our school systems. As a Congresswoman sitting on the Education
Committee, I am responsible, I think, in my opinion, for policymaking for all of our children,
whether they go to parochial school or whether they go to the public school system.

Chairman Riggs. Congressman Martinez.
Mr. Martinez. I do not want to prolong our colleagues' stay at the witness table, but I want to

mention a couple of things, because it seems like we are always in this same quandary as to
whether or not Head Start is an education program or a social program.

+
an

n T
i
~

-4, .
?
EE
O



17

Head Start is a social program. It has an educational component, but it is a social program
Because the purpose of the program is to essentially bring the child up to speed and get him
ready to learn when he gets to the public school or parochial school. But it also is to bring the
family up to speed.

We have seen a number of cases over the years that have been testified to before this
Committee, that have shown that component of it to be so important as to take people who
might not ever have been that interested in their child's education, not only be interested in
their child's education, but be interested in their own.

We had a lady testify before us at the LACO board meeting room in Los Angeles who, when
she got her child enrolled in Head Start and realized how important it was for her to be
involved in her child's education, and in order to do that she had to be educated, that she went
back to school and at the time she testified before us was completing her Ph.D.

Now, here is a black single mother who has gone from a dropout to a Ph.D. Now, that should
describe as well as anybody could describe the social aspect of that program.

So let us not get confused that this should simply be an educational program. It was never
intended to be that from the beginning. It is to bring the entire family into the mainstream of
our society.

Ms. Sanchez. Mr. Martinez, if I could add on to that. I would agree. Because there is an
education component, I think that is important. But I think of it all as an educational
experience. For my family it was; for my parents it was. For my family to have the ability to
make sure that their kids made the most of the public school system, enough to graduate artists
and CEOs and the whole works, it was very successful.

It was not just about learning English in the classroom or doing your ABCs, it was all the other
components, including, as I said earlier, learning what peanut butter and celery was all about.

Mr. Mica. Mr. Martinez, my family on both sides were immigrants. My grandfather, I am
one generation removed from immigrant families. My grandmother's family was Italian and
grandfather's was Slovak, and I can imagine what would have happened to my parents and my
family if we had a Head Start program, and the Italians had sent their kids to a Head Start
program where they just had an opportunity to associate with Italian kids from the same rough
background and experience rather than being immersed in society.

I can imagine my grandfather from the tough First Ward and the Slavic background, if he had
been put in a program where he just had exposure to that Slavic language and culture, if that is
what we want to do, some of these programs we are doing a great job just to keep them
exposed as little as possible.

Again, I will let everybody do what they want to do. I am here to say that some of us who
have a need who would like to change this rather than spend the $40,000 to $80,000 on
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administrators, I would like to spend it on the best education professionals.

I tend to think below the age of 5 that education is an incredible component here;, and if we
haven't emphasized it, we should.

And Ms. Sanchez, she said what happened to her in a short time in that program, if you go
into some of these programs today and look at what they are doing, and not everyone is the
same, they are not immersing them in our society. They are not immersing them in our
culture, and they are not giving them access to the best educational and developmental
resources that we have available. I thank you.

Mr. Martinez. I appreciate your view, although I disagree with it

When I went to school, it wasn't Head Start, it was kindergarten, and it was largely Hispanic.
We didn't get immersed in our cultural differences. We became proud of our first heritage,
which was American.

I come from a varied background. My mother was half Irish. My father was a quarter Ute
and a quarter French. I was raised in a family that was traditional, even though it had
diversity, I was raised with the Hispanic background and culture. And as a result, when 1
went to school, that is what I enjoyed mostly with my classmates. -And I think with-all of that
diverse background, I wave only one flag, and it is red, white and blue.

I always talk about my ancestors as being in this country for generations and generations,
except for my grandfather who came from Ireland, and I can't do anything about that. I
learned that fromn school in those classes. I didn't learn to wave the Mexican flag. I learned to
wave the American flag. The first thing that they taught us in school was to say, "I pledge -
allegiance to the flag." And at the end of it, "and justice for all.” -In this country.we haven't
seen justice for all because of antiquated thinking about isolation. -

People who isolate themselves choose to isolate themselves. Immigrants like your parents,
they didn't want to isolate themselves. They wanted their children to become assimilated into
that American society and to learn English because they knew how important it was for them
to succeed in this new society that they accepted as their own and this new country as their
home. Idon't think that there is this isolation as a result.

You will find classes, if you go to Kentucky, we have somebody here from Lexington or
Louisville, Kentucky, and people that will testify on their Head Start experience they were not
of a minority, they were white because it is a program for disadvantaged youth, regardless of
your color.

If you are white, disadvantaged, those are the people who are going to be served. If you go
into a Hispanic neighborhood, you are going to see the majority is Hispanic. You may see
Asians. So the minority separation is there simply because of the district or the neighborhood
that they live in, not because they are trying to get isolated from the values of America; and
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the programs of Head Start are not trying to isolate them into their own cultures, they are
trying to bring them up to speed with American values and cultures.

Mr. Mica. Do you think that the parents should be forced then, who have just the choice to
send them to that one program?

Mr. Martinez. I think the parents should have the choice to send them wherever they want.
Chairman Riggs. Congressman Scott?

Mr. Scott. We have invited people from all over the country to testify today. I would like to
receive their testimony. I thank the colleagues for testifying.

I would want to make one brief comment on the Head Start program located in a church. As
our colleague from California said, the church is a the program is a tenant. The students who
g0 to that program are not taught sectarian information. They are not required to participate in
certain religious activities. So that is not a violation, and I don't want to get caught up because
it happens to be located in the church. I would hope that we would not use that as an excuse to
violate the Constitution which was not amended to allow sectarian programs to be funded.
With that, I would yield back the balance of my time. ‘

Chairman Riggs. I thank the gentleman.

I would note for the record that a majority of the House did vote, although it fell short of the
two-thirds necessary under law.

Mr. Scott. And we can be thankful to our forefather's for requiring a two-thirds vote and for
that foresight. '

Chairman Riggs. As I prepare to excuse our two coileagues who have been tremendous
witnesses, I think, Representative Sanchez, I think it is important for the record to make sure
that we understand just a little bit about your personal background. Were you fluent in English
when you began the Head Start program?

Ms. Sanchez. I hadn't spoken a word in English or Spanish.

Chairman Riggs. What language was spoken in your home?

Ms. Sanchez. Spanish.

Chairman Riggs. You are the only one of your seven siblings that actually participated in the
Head Start program?

Ms. Sanchez. That is correct.
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Chairman Riggs. I would like to extend the invitation to both of you to work with the
Subcommittee as we proceed with the reauthorization, particularly with respect to
strengthening the educational component of Head Start.

We are, I think, very committed to promoting school readiness, which I think you both spoke
of, by enhancing the social and cognitive development of low-income children who participate
in the Head Start program, although you approach it obviously from very different
perspectives. We thank you both for being here, and you are excused.

Ms. Sanchez. Mr. Chairman, I would like to add one other thing for the record.

I think one of the greatest things about the Head Start program is, believe it or not, that you
don't come out of the program ever considering or at least I didn't that I was from a minority
or disadvantaged or below the poverty line.

I always thought it was one of the greatest things that ever happened to me, and it wasn't until
I read 4 or 5 years ago in the newspaper that Head Start was a poverty program that I realized
that I would have been considered poor when I was growing up.

I think it does a great service to kids in not labeling them or making them feel inferior. It is a
very positive program.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you.

I call forward Panel II, Dr. Joyner, Dr. Zigler, Dr. Snow, Ms. Freeman, Dr. Horn, Ms.
Dollar and Ms. Aguilar. As you settle in, I will return here momentarily. :

We now turn to our second panel of witnesses. We have a big panel here with, collectively, a
very, very broad perspective and experience with respect to the Head Start program. So what
we are going to do is proceed right down the panel, solicit your testimony, and feel free to
speak informally. You don't have to adhere to your written statement which wiil be published
in its entirety in the official record or transcript of today's proceedings.

When we complete the testimony of each of our witnesses, we will then proceed to-have some
interactions, some give and take because we find that-the question and the answers, as perhaps
the exchange with our.two colleagues just illustrated, is the most valuable and important part of
the hearings.

Dr. Carlotta Joyner is the Director of Education and Employment Issues at the U.S. General-
Accounting Office here in Washington, D.C.

Thank you for being here, and we know that you have looked closely and continue to look
closely at the Head Start program. You may proceed.
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STATEMENT OF DR. CARLOTTA JOYNER, DIRECTOR, EDUCATION AND
EMPLOYMENT ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Ms. Joyner. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee. And I am very
pleased to be here today to discuss our work on Head Start.

As you know, this 30-year program is widely viewed as one of the most successful social
programs including an educational component of our time, and this program, in its effort to
improve the social competence of children, has provided a very wide array of services
educational, medical, mental health, social services to over 16 million children since its
inception at a cost of more than $38 billion. The funding for the program has been increased
from 1.5 billion in 1990 to about $4 billion in 1997 and is now poised for major expansion.

It is because of that major expansion, as well as the congressional interest in reauthorizing it at
this time, and the Government Performance and Results Act, which has increased the focus on
this and other program on results; all of that, we believe, provides a good setting to consider
the two things that are in my written statement.

Two issues: One is how well the Department of Health and Human Services, which
administers this program, can ensure and is ensuring that the Head Start program is achieving
its purpose; and the second is how well the program is structured to meet the needs of program
participants today, a society that is quite different from when it was first created.

My statement is based on two GAO reports, as well as an ongoing study that we are doing at
your request that looks at HHS procedures to ensure accountability not only for compliance
with laws and regulations, but for achieving program purposes. -

Let me take a moment to describe just what we mean when we talk about achieving program
purposes. I really mean two things. One is whether the program has achieved the outcomes
that were intended and desired, such as improved language skills.

And the second, as well, is whether the program has an impact on children and their families.
And when we use that term, we are distinguishing here that these differences that occurred
would not have occurred if the child and the family had not been participating in Head Start.

In summary, Head Start over the years has provided a comprehensive array of services that,
especially in the early years, would have not have been received by these children and their
families. In addition, as envisioned by the Results Act, Head Start has substantially increased
its emphasis in recent years on determining the results of those services. Head Start is still
faced with challenges in two areas; one is in demonstrating program results and another is
responding to changes in society.

Let me say a bit more about each of those points.
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HHS has increased its focus on results. It now has a performance assessment framework that .
includes measurable objectives for how the program will be implemented, such as how it will.
deliver the educational and other services, and also for outcomes such as enhancing children's

growth which is one outcome objective, and the other is strengthening families as the primary

nurturers of their children.

Overall, we believe their approach is methodologically and conceptually sound, their approach
to assessing these outcome objectives. It has new initiatives that will, in the next few years,
provide information not previously available at all on the specific measures and performance
indicators they will get this primarily through a national study of a representative sample of
Head Start children and their families called the Family and Child Experiences Survey. It will
collect data at the beginning of program participation, at the end of each year, and then at the
end of kindergarten. For example, the study-will show what kind of gains the children have
made in their language skills and so forth. -

But it will be collecting information only at the national level. At the local level, HHS does
not require individual Head Start agencies to demonstrate that they have achieved these or
other outcome goals objectives of the program, although it has said that it intends to do so in
the future.

In addition, we are concerned that the study's comparisons may be with groups not similar
enough to the group of families and children in Head Start with the result that we will still be it
will be difficult still to draw conclusions about whether the improvement was actually caused
by that participation or by some differences in the groups or some other experiences that they
have had. :

Chairman Riggs. Dr. Joyner, let me do something I don't normally do and that is interrupt a
witness just on one point. I thought just a moment ago you said that you thought their study
was methodologically sound?

Ms. Joyner. Yes, sir, for one purpose which is to collect data.on the outcomes.

It will be it is a national sample, and it will be it is a sound approach. That particular study is
a sound approach to gathering a national picture of the outcomes being achieved. I also would
say that beyond that particular study, the whole approach of having clearly stated objectives
and measures and indicators is sound and important. ’

The distinction that I am making is that we will still be left without data at a local level. For
example, to go back to Congressman Mica's example, we still will not know what result was
achieved with children at any particular local grantee. Even though some grantees are funded
at more than a million dollars a year, they are held accountable to do certain things in certain
ways. They are held accountable to have funded certain positions and to meet certain
standards. What we won't know is whether those children learned anything. That is the
distinction that I am making.
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Also, in the national sample, in the national study, we will know that these children have better
language skills at the end than they had at the beginning; and they are making some
comparisons, attempting to make up for the lack of a really rigorous comparison group. So
they are attempting to make up for not having that by making some multiple comparisons.

But our concern is this is a large program anticipated or desired to grow larger. We think that
it warrants a more rigorous look at whether the program is causing the difference, given that it
is more costly, by and large, than other programs, and so that is why we have repeatedly
recommended that there be a study that would go beyond this one in that regard.

The other challenge that Head Start faces is to respond appropriately to the changed social
environment, and this was alluded to already in the hearing today as well. The fact that, in
comparison with 30 years ago, more of the children are in homes with a single parent who is
now working outside the home and there is a growing need for full-day, full-year care, but
Head Start is predominantly part-day, part-year. And they are aware of this and have been
grappling with this, but it Goes pose a challenge for not only how to take care of the children
the rest of the time, but how to allow sort of a fundamental part of Head Start, which is
involvement of the parent, how to continue that if the parent is working full time.

And also another very significant difference is, there are a lot more other programs out there,
as has already been alluded to in the hearing as well. There are other programs that provide
specific services, and in this regard, I think it is important to note that Head Start, by and
large, with the exception of the educational component, is not actually delivering these other
services in the comprehensive array. They are providing for them, they are making linkages
and in fact they are required to do this. The first step is to find out if someone else in the
community is offering it: If Medicaid will pay for it, don't pay for immunizations yourself.
That is part of their mandate.

So the cost of the program is what they had to pay for themselves, not what they were able to
leverage or broker elsewhere, and they are much more able to do that than in the past.

There are many other programs which provide comprehensive services such as Head Start.
And there are some States that have statewide programs, Georgia and Ohio.

So the world is quite different now. Our concern is that Head Start has to respond to this.
The Congress needs to take this into consideration in deciding what, if any, changes might
need to be made in the program, and our concern is that you may be lacking some of the
information which would be helpful, such as how many programs are there, what are they
doing in comparison with what Head Start is doing, what are the real needs of the parents; and
we would hope that you are able to get that through hearings or that Head Start can find out in
some way to help with the decision-making.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Dr. Joyner.

SEE APPENDIX E -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. CARLOTTA JOYNER,
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DIRECTOR, EDUCATION AND EMPLOYMENT ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL
ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Chairman Riggs. We now turn to Dr. Edward Zigler, who is Director of the Yale Bush
Center in Child Development and Social Policy in New Haven, Connecticut. Dr. Zigler is'a
renowned expert in the field of early childhood development and education and is widely
regarded as the father of Head Start. Please proceed with your testimony.

STATEMENT OF DR. EDWARD ZIGLER, DIRECTOR, YALE BUSH CENTER IN
CHILD DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL POLICY, YALE UNIVERSITY

Mr. Zigler. Thank you, Mr. Chairman for the opportunity to speak before this Committee on
how to make our Nation's Head Start program better and on how to assess our progress toward
that goal.

When I sat on the Committee that planned Head Start back in the early 1960s, we did not have
much evidence to prove that comprehensive services and parent involvement could help
prepare young children living in poverty for their entry into school. We put these components
into Head Start because of our professional hunches, hunches that have now been amply
justified in the scientific literature. :

And we certainly were not privy to the recent knowledge on how important the early years are

to brain development. We were not aware that ages between birth and eight presents a window
of opportunity for the actual wiring or structuring of the brain. We did suspect that earlier and
more are better, which is why we planned Head Start for 3-to-5-year-olds.

Over the years, the number of 5-year-olds who attend has dwindled as public kindergarten has
become more widely available. Unfortunately, the percentage of 3-year-olds has also declined,
largely because program expansion has concentrated on children about to enter school. So
today Head Start is primarily just a program for 4-year-olds. Iam afraid that we are being
lured back to the inoculation model, thinking that if we give young children a little bit of Head
Start, their brains will develop to full capacity.

The human brain develops throughout life: Age 4 is important, but so are the years that come
before and after. Gradually expanding early Head Start for children from birth up to age 3
would be responsive to the new findings on brain development, and so would be reopening
Head Start's doors to more 3-year-oids as well as the 4s it currently serves. Ages 5 to 8 can
be served by a larger Head Start public school transition program, which puts the elements of
effective intervention into school practices.

For any intervention to be effective, it must be of high quality. Quality is clearly related to the

child outcomes that we find when we assess these programs. Head Start has long suffered
uneven quality, but I am happy to say that this is turning around.
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A milestone event in Head Start's history was the work of the Advisory Committee on Head
Start Quality and Expansion, a Committee on which I served. This bipartisan group provided
a road map for the Clinton administration on how to improve the program. Olivia Golden,
Helen Taylor and other officials turned the panel's advice into action.

For the first time in over 30 years, poor programs have been closed, and marginal centers have
been put on probation and are receiving technical assistance. After more than 2 decades, the
program performance standards have been revised to reflect new knowledge and best practices.
Congress has renewed the quality set-aside to enhance salaries, benefits and facilities.

I am very pleased with this process. Head Start definitely is improving. Yet today I want to
point out to you one area that needs more attention. Congressman Mica actually made this
point very clearly this morning, and I agree with him. A fact that is not very well known,
since day one early childhood educators have been unhappy with the quality of the preschool
education component in Head Start. Part of their concern is about staff qualifications. Only
about half of Head Start's teachers have a college degree, a degree that is mandatory in most
private early childhood centers, as well as public preschools.

Many staff do have CDAs, which was invented in my day, although that number is not high
enough because of the expense and low availability of scholarships. Many poor women who
work in Head Start simply don't have the $300-plus to get the training. But the real problem, I
think, is the qualifications we demand of Head Start teachers. The CDA is simply not enough.

Without better compensation, better trained teachers go elsewhere leaving less qualified staff in
charge. Just as Congressman Mica would like B.A.-level people, I would, too; but you are not
going to pay them with the average pay of Head Start, which is $17,000 for a teacher. The
average pay for a teacher in elementary school is about $33,000. I believe there will always be
a place for CDAs in classrooms, they should be headed by professionals who are paid a worthy
wage.

The type of education delivered in Head Start is also of suspect quality. The planners,
including me, did not mandate a specific curriculum because we had no proof that any one
curriculum was better than any other. In fact, over 20 years ago when I was a Federal official
responsible for Head Start, I studied the effects of various curricula used in Head Start and
found no particular model superior.

The same held true in follow-through, which was a planned curriculum variation experiment.
Yet because we imposed no curriculum, what happened is that many centers in the early days
never bothered to write one at all. They just did whatever came to mind each day.

The new performance standards wisely require a written plan. This has sparked a huge debate
among those who recommend a structured, cognitively oriented curriculum versus those who
prefer a play-based, individualized, developmentally appropriate model. The latter type has
long been used by Head Start, is endorsed by the NAEYC, and was found to have lasting
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benefits right here in the D.C. public schools where they tested one model against the other.

Still, I believe that if we really knew which type was better, we would have advanced it long -
ago. What type of curriculum works best, with which students, is an empirical question, and it
is time that we answered it empirically.

Head Start is a national laboratory for the development of quality practices. We should use
this natural experiment to address the curriculum issue. We can look at child outcomes in
centers using various educational methods to see who fares the best. This type of national
evaluation study would be more doable than a massive random assignment study a format that
the Blueprint and Roundtable panels and many respected scholars have recommended against.
It would also be more informative to local councils who could look at the resuits of different
curricula in centers with populations and philosophies similar to their own.

Of course, knowing the success of an educational method depends on.what we mean by
success. We cannot decide if a program works unless we know what its goal is. To me, it is
clear that Head Start's goal has always been school readiness, sometimes referred to as social
competence. Readiness basically entails good health and sound cognitive and socioemotional
development.

The Head Start bureau is in the process of developing readiness and other performance
measures to be used to evaluate quality and child outcomes in Head Start classrooms. That is
the FACES effori. These measures can have two valuable uses. One is a tool of quality
control; if outcomes in a center are not up to standards, assistance can be offered. Second, a
national sample of performance on these measures would be available annually and would
enable us to continually assess the program's efficacy.

Research funds have always been scarce in Head Start. They should be increased so we can
conduct the naturalistic study of curricula I discussed and continue developing outcome
measures that can be used for both accountability and service improvements. Thank you.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Dr. Zigler, for being here today and for your testimony and for
your pioneer work in this field.

SEE APPENDIX F — WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. EDWARD ZIGLER, DIRECTOR,
YALE BUSH CENTER IN CHILD DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL POLICY, YALE
UNIVERSITY

Chairman Riggs. Our next witness is Dr. Catherine Snow. She is the Henry Lee Shaddick
Professor of Education and Chair of Human Development of Psychology at Harvard Graduate
School of Education in Cambridge, Massachusetts. She is the chair of the Committee on
Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children, which produced an extensive report by the
same name. Please proceed with your testimony.
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STATEMENT OF DR. CATHERINE SNOW, CHAIR, HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND
PSYCHOLOGY, HARVARD GRADUATE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION

Ms. Snow. Thank you. It is a great pleasure to be here.

I am speaking here specifically from the perspective of someone interested in literary
development and in preventing reading difficulties. And what I would like to bring to the
Committee's attention is the importance of the preschool period, the period during which

. children are in Head Start programs, in ensuring the development of skills which are relevant

to preventing reading difficulties.

Clearly, the potential for Head Start to contribute to children's literacy success or to form part
of a prevention program, preventing reading difficulties, is enormous, and I will make four
points about how to improve that potential.

First of all, who are the children who will have difficulty learning to read when they get to
school? The evidence is quite clear that those are children who arrive at school with poor oral
language skills and with little familiarity with the conventions of print, children who arrive in
kindergarten without knowing a number of the letters of the alphabet, who cannot write their
own names, who don't recognize environmental print, who don't know what "stop” says on a
stop sign; children who don't know about reading books, starting at the beginning and moving
toward the end, who don't understand that books are a source of pleasure and a source of
knowledge; children who have not had the pleasure of being read to and the children with
small vocabularies.

The differences among children and the size of their vocabularies upon.arrival in kindergarten
are enormous. Some children know 1,000 words as 5-years-olds. Other children know 10,000
words as 5-year-olds, and those differences can entirely be accounted for by the differences in
the quality of the early environments children are exposed to at home and in preschool, Head
Start or other group care settings. )

So given the importance of these language and early literacy sKills, it is crucial that we
understand how to design early childhood environments to ensure that children have access to
rich language and literacy experiences. And it is possible to do that.

Research has repeatedly demonstrated that parents, including low-income parents, and
preschool educators, early childhood educators, can be taught how to engage in styles of book
reading with children, styles of conversation with children, literacy-related activities with
children that provide children with experiences that promote their language and literacy
development. :

In classrooms and in homes where children talk more and where they get talked to more,

where they have opportunities for sociodramatic play in small groups, opportunities for one-
on-one conversations with adults and where they have opportunities to look at books and be
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read to from books, children acquire more language and more knowledge of print conventions.

Unfortunately, poor children, children from low-income families typically encounter language
and literacy impoverished environments not just at home, but also in the early childhood
classrooms that they are in; and I am not speaking here exclusively of Head Start programs,
but in general, the classrooms serving children from low-income families.

Early childhood classrooms, even classrooms that score quite well on dimensions of quality
having to do with health, cleanliness, availability of appropriate materials, typically score
much lower on measures of literacy and language environments available to the children.
Those are not impossible dimensions of quality to improve, but they are dimensions of quality
that can be improved only with the involvement of well-educated, well-trained adults in those
classrooms.

So the fourth point is that investment in professional development of early childhood educators
can improve early childhood education, but such investment is a challenging task. It is not
something we can achieve with a few weeks of quick courses for future Head Start teachers. It
really does require a significant educational program, because excellent early childhood
educators have a wide array of understanding of skills and knowledge. They know how to talk
to kids, they know how to read books to kids, they know how to select which books to read
with children. They understand children's language development and their cognitive
development and early literacy development, and achieving a cadre of Head Start educators
who have the full array and appropriate depth of understanding of these demands requires
thinking of professional development as a serious target of investment. Thank you.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Dr. Snow.

SEE APPENDIX G - WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. CATHERINE SNOW, CHAIR,
HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND PSYCHOLOGY, HARVARD GRADUATE SCHOOL OF
EDUCATION

Chairman Riggs. We now turn to Ms. Bonnie Freeman. She is the Assistant Director for the
National Center for Family Literacy in Louisville, Kentucky, my birthplace.

Thank you for being here, Ms. Freeman. Please proceed with your testimony.

STATEMENT OF BONNIE FREEMAN, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, NATIONAL CENTER
FOR FAMILY LITERACY, LOUISVILLE, KENTUCKY

Ms. Freeman. I do want to say that I do represent the National Center for Family Literacy,
and I want to speak today on the area of family literacy and how it can enhance and support the
work of Head Start.
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As my colleague, Pr. Snow, said, growing up in a literate environment is critically important,
and there is a segment of our population who have parents themselves do not have the skills
they need to help their childien develop literacy skills. Without these essential skills, the
parents cannot achieve their own goals, such as employment or citizenship, so that they can
move their families out of poverty.

Comprehensive family literacy programs tackle the needs of families at the bottom end of the
literacy continuum. Comprehensive family literacy services integrate the following four
components: adult education or English language instruction; developmental experiences for
children, birth through seven; parent education and support; and regular opportunities for
parent and child interaction. :

These programs provide services in an integrated approach and include the following goals: to
improve basic and/or English language skills and raise the educational level of parents; to
increase the development skills of preschool children and better prepare them for academic and
social success in school; to improve parenting skills to enable parents to become familiar with
and comfortable in school settings; and to help parents gain the motivation, skills and
knowledge that contributes to becoming employed or pursue: further education or training.

Head Start works with children and families in a holistic way, addressing their nutritional,
cognitive and emotional development needs. Historically, Head Start has engaged parents by
requesting and supporting parent involvement and giving parents the opportunity to take
leadership in local programs.

Additionally, Head Start programs serve in a resource .and referral capacity charged with
helping parents advocate for themselves and gain access to other available assistance.

Family literacy, as developed by the National Center for Family Literacy, builds upon this
strong foundation by offering intensive services for parents who are not literate or English
proficient and do not possess the skills to support their child's education when the child.
transitions from.a Head Start program to a larger school setting. It makes sure that the success
of a good early childhood program will be multiplied by helping parents become the first
teachers of their children and making sure that learning and messages about education are
reinforced within the home.

I would like to dispel the notion that we are taking an either/or position; that is, one either
supports Head Start or family literacy: Some of the biggest proponents of family literacy are
Head Start providers because they have experienced how family literacy can strengthen the
value of Head Start in a child's life. -
The new demands of time-limited, work-oriented welfare reform are also pressing the need for
more powerful interventions. Parents are.meeting the responsibility of entering the work
force. Modeling a work ethic to their children is one component of good parenting. The:
demands of work add new stress on the family unit, particularly in a single-parent household.
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The parent in this situation not only needs a job, extra support and better parenting strategies,
but also skills that will help them grow beyond a minimum wage job. Before the advent of the
family literacy approach, a parent with poor basic skills might simply be referred to a local
adult education program that is not coordinated with Head Start programs. Possibly the
program hours could be complementary to the Head Start program, but they might not be.
Therefore, coordinating additional child care would become a disincentive for parental
participation. Transportation between different sites also became an additional challenge for
the parents or the agency.

Finally, some adult educational programs didn't provide a clear strategy for helping the
individual establish and achieve their own academic and career goals.

The findings from the extensive research performed on family literacy programs illustrates the
success and added value that it can have with Head Start programs when comprehensively
incorporated. These same findings indicate that well-implemented family literacy programs
have significant and lasting effects on children and their families.

We have seen some progress in Head Start programs’ seizing the opportunity to strengthen
their impacts through collaborating with other agencies to offer family literacy services. Some
good examples of these are in the State of Arizona, here in Washington, D.C., and in South
Carolina.

In Tucson, Arizona, in 1991, the Pima County Adult Education Family Literacy Project,
collaborating with Head Start, initiated three family literacy programs in elementary schools in
the Sunnyside Unified School District. These programs continue today.

In Washington, D.C., there is a very successful Head Start-Family Literacy and Collaboration
working out of Moten and Adams Elementary Schools, and one of the graduates of that
program recently testified before the Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources.

NCFL has been working with the State of South Carolina to develop and explore the role of
family literacy in welfare reform, specifically with Head Start programs.

In conclusion, as the challenges facing families in poverty grows more intense, we must find
models of success like Head Start and Family Literacy collaborations and work to ensure the
broadest implementation possible.

During the 1994 Head Start authorization, Congress took important steps toward increasing the
role of family literacy as an important strategy within Head Start.

Now we need to seriously think through practical implementation strategies and questions. We
do not see the need for broad-scale legislative changes as being necessary, but we would like to
recommend severa! refinements that would be put in place to put a stronger emphasis on
assisting Head Start agencies and programs in pursuing that family literacy approach.
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Our recommendations would be: Congress should insert into Head Start authorization the new
working definition of Family Literacy Services that has already been included in the House
Workforce Training Bill and the Reading Excellence Act. Family Literacy needs to be
implemented with comprehensive and integrated services and particularly the adult education
component.

For family literacy to work, Head Start can’t do it alone. Effective family literacy-is a
collaborative undertaking; and so, therefore, we think the state collaborative process should be
strengthened.. We also-feel that the effect of family literacy.coordination-can be challenging. -
Therefore, we suggest placing a greater emphasis on the provision of training and technicat
assistance within Head Start.

For a program the size of Head Start, -the- implementation of family literacy services .cannot be
done in a one-size-fits-all manner.. Head -Start the Head Start system needs to develop the
capacity for greater collaboration and.integration of services.

Therefore, significant training funding should be set aside to enable the regional Head Start
offices and the State Head Start associations to develop their internal expertise as to how to
effectively collaborate with other service providers, especially welfare reform agencies.

NCFL has trained over 10,000 teachers in implementing family literacy and has a certified
trainer system which could support the internal training systems of existing Head Start
programs. We stand ready to provide this training.

These are broad recommendations and our Washington staff is prepared to work with your
staff in developing -specific legislative proposals that would reflect these priorities. Thank you.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Ms. Freeman..

SEE APPENDIX H--- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF BONNIE FREEMAN, ASSISTANT
DIRECTOR, NATIONAL GENTER FOR FAMILY .LITERACY, LOUISVILLE,
KENTUCKY

Chairman Riggs. Dr. Wade Horn is currently President of the National Fatherhood Initiative
in Gaithersburg, Maryland. Dr. Horn was the Assistant Secretary of Children and Families at
the Department of Health and Human Services under the Bush administration, the position that
Olivia Golden currently holds. Please proceed with your testimony.

STATEMENT OF DR. WADE HORN, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL FATHERHOOD
INITIATIVE, GAITHERSBURG, MARYLAND

Mr. Horn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Two years ago this Congress passed and the President
of the United States signed into law comprehensive welfare reform legislation. As part of that
legislation, the purpose of that legislation was to move previously welfare-dependent heads of
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households, mostly single mothers, from welfare into the paid labor force.

To helps States with this task, Congress included up to $30 billion in State and Federal funding
for child care over 6 years. Now, to many people, $30 billion sounds like a lot of money, but
there are some who believe that-$30 billion for child care is not enough, and so they are
saying, we need to look elsewhere for additional child care opportunities to help with the task
of welfare reform. One place to look is Head Start.

Now, coordinating government programs is never easy. Some have said that coordinating
government programs is akin to requiring people to engage in unnatural acts between non-
consenting adults, and coordinating Head Start with welfare reform and child care has proven
to be no exception.

One of the big problems, of course, is that Head Start is a part-year, part-day program, and
welfare is not designed to move people into part-day, part-year employment, and so it is
unlikely that a part-day, part-year program is going to match up to large numbers of welfare-
to-work participants.

In addition to that barrier, there are other barriers as well. For example, a lot of Head Start
programs use double shifts so they couldn't expand to a full day program if they wanted to, at
least not in the current space. They have different enrollment patterns between Head Start and
welfare-to-work programs, and there are also differences in the culture missions between Head
Start and welfare-to-work programs.

The difficulties that are faced by trying coordinate these various programs is illustrated by the
most recent data collected by the Head Start Bureau, which suggests that 40 percent of Head
Start enrollees who were in need last year of full-time, full-year child care, yet only 10 percent
of those Head Start enrollees actually received full-year full-day child care through the Head
Start program.

Now, this doesn't mean that there are not any effective models of coordination. Of course
there are, but it does suggest that the current way of doing things makes it difficult to
coordinate these programs.

Might there be a better way? Well, let me suggest two possibilities. First, we could
strengthen the current Head Start State Collaboration Grants program by providing within the
Head Start Act authorization for governors to seek waivers from current Head Start
programmatic requirements in order to more effectively coordinate Head Start welfare reform
and other funding mechanisms.

A second and, I admit, more controversial suggestion is that we at least consider the possibility

of devolving Head Start from a federally administered program to a State administered
program for several reasons.
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First of all, Head Start has grown too large. There is simply no precedent for a $4 billion
Federal-to-local grantee arrangement which touches millions of citizens within the States where
the States have absolutely no say over how that program is administered to-its own citizens.

Second, over the past 6 years the Federal Government has been downsizing. Both at the
Federal level and at the regional offices, we have seen dramatic reductions in the number of
Federal employees. This makes oversight of an expanding Head Start program even-more
difficult. By some estimates, as many as one-third of Head Start grantees are of inadequate

quality.

Devolving Head Start to the States for their oversight would allow, in my judgment, for better
oversight of the program.

Third, coordination is made especially difficult because Head Start is a federally funded and
administered program, whereas the funding streams that come down for welfare-to-work
programs and most child care programs pass through the States.

Devolving Head Start also to a State-administered program would allow for more effective
coordination of all three of these funding streams.

And finaliy, there are many lessons learned from Head Start, as Dr. Zigler has pointed out;
and by devolving Head Start to the States, one could have more effective cross-pollination of
the lessons learned from Head Start into the broader child care-communities.

I know that any program to devolve Head Start to the States would be controversial, and so it
shouldn't be done controversially and it should not be done simply because I say so. There
may be some who would say that it shouldn't be done especially because I say so, but rather
the purpose of my offering this idea is to stimulate a discussion about why it is we are
continuing to see Head Start as our only and solely federally administered and overseen
program.

Perhaps there are good reasons for us to continue to do so, but one of them should not be
simply because that is the way that we have already done it. Instead, we should look at the
needs of low-income families and their children, especially within the context .of welfare
reform, and develop even more effective systems for supporting them.

Now, if I can spend 30 seconds on a second issue which is the impact of Head Start. Dr.
Zigler is correct, there is a good deal of evidence that Head Start has an impact on children.
There is also a large body of evidence that suggests that much of the impact of Head Start
fades by the time children reached the third grade.

Now, I want to offer a little perspective here. I am a psychologist, and in my profession we
throw wild parties if we can show the effects of psychotherapy last more than 6 months, so 3 .
years of impact of Head Start is actually quite extraordinary. But while recognizing that, I
don't think that we should just simply say so it is better than psychotherapy. What we ought to
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do is examine ways to make the impact more long lasting.

There is no evidence that suggests that giving multiple years of Head Start has substantially
more effectiveness than 1 year of Head Start. In fact, the Perry Preschool program specifically
looked at this question of 1 year versus 2 years and found no difference in the impact of a
Perry Preschool program, whether the children got 1 or 2 years.

I think the answer is not giving more years of Head Start; the answer is fundamentally
changing the systems that they transition into, that is, the schools. That is one of the reasons
when I was Commissioner of the Administration for Children, Youth and Families and not the
Assistant Secretary, although I appreciate the promotion, that I started the Head Start transition
projects to try to change the public schools.

Unfortunately, no results of that initiative have yet been released even though it has been
ongoing for 6 to 8 years. And today I recommend a bolder idea. Why not, this Congress,
authorize a demonstration program, just a demonstration program, that would provide
vouchers to Head Start graduates when they exit Head Start to use in the schools of their
choice after they leave Head Start, and compare the effectiveness of Head Start long term with
those graduates who get a voucher versus those graduates who go to the government-run public
school system?

I offer these ideas not because I think Head Start is a failure. I think it is an exemplary
program. I am concerned that the conditions have changed, and that Head Start needs to adjust
itself to changing conditions. Thank you very much.

Chairman Riggs. Dr. Horn, thank you for your provocative testimony. We look forward to
the Q and A period to follow.

SEE APPENDIX I - WRITTEN STATEMENT OF DR. WADE HORN, PRESIDENT,
NATIONAL FATHERHOOD INITIATIVE, GAITHERSBURG, MARYLAND

Chairman Riggs. Our next witness is a friend and constituent. Ms. Jackie Dollar is the
Director of the Napa-Solano Head Start program in Napa, California, and we are still working
on a field hearing in my congressional district, hopefully at one of the Head Start facilities that
Ms. Dollar oversees, that would culminate, at least at the Subcommittee level, the
congressional review and hearing process leading up to the reauthorization.

The Head Start program that Ms. Dollar operates is serves the Solano and Napa County areas,
as the name implies. It has centers in Fairfield, Solano County, and in Napa City, Napa
County. These programs have been award winning, and Ms. Dollar recently received the
Johnson & Johnson Excellence in Management Award, a national citation for the outstanding
administration of an early childhood education program.

Jackie, if I can call you that, please proceed with your testimony. Thank you for being here.

39



35

STATEMENT OF JACKIE DOLLAR, DIRECTOR, NAPA-SOLANO HEAD START,
NAPA, CALIFORNIA

Ms. Dollar. Thank you. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee.
Thank you for giving me an opportunity to represent Head Start practitioners who-are doing
extraordinary work on behalf of children and families across the country and in the trust
territories.

I would like to address three areas this morning: regionalization of Head Start, community
collaboration and key issues that would improve Head Start operational effectiveness.

I will begin with regionalization. In 1995, our grantee was awarded a competitive grant to
operate the Head Start program in Solano County, a county contiguous to Napa, and this was
due to the dissolution of the prior grantee that had been operating Head Start. The grant was
awarded on September 14, 1995 and services to families began on January 30, 1996, a 4-
month transition.

The impact of change on our agency was significant. It was a 400 percent increase in size,
increased our family population from 200 to over 800. Our staff grew from 42 to 150
members. Funding increased from $1 million to $5 million. We grew from a bicultural, two-
Janguage program, to a multicultural eight-language program.

Our region grew from 800 square miles to a total of 1,700 square miles. The growth in the
number of income-eligible families in our area increased from 800 to over 5,000. We opened
30 classrooms in addition to our existing nine, and hired over 100 staff.

The transition work elements were enormous, and I have included those in my written:
testimony. We also learned some incredibly valuable lessons on becoming a change agent. I
have also included those in my written testimony.

The benefits to the program have been striking. Each-county has benefited from the strengths
of the other and the weaknesses are better addressed due to the increased, more efficient
funding available through consolidation of staff, facilities and focus.

Napa-Solano Head Start continues to grow with the recent expansion into full-day, full-year -
capacity, and we are opening four new:sites in two counties within the next 60 days. And if I
can make a comment about privatization and-vouchering-of Head Start, we have taken a great -
risk because we have put ourselves in direct competition with all public-and private providers
within our two-county region. We have developed a universal application and a centralized
waiting list, and all families are referred through the Resource and Referral Agency.

Families receive their vouchers at the R&R and have a choice of choosing any provider within
our two-county area, and who are they choosing? They are choosing Head Start hands down.
Our program is considered the model of all child development programs within the two-county



36

area, and we have a fantastic waiting list for our centers that are opening July 1.

Now I would like to talk about an example of collaboration that Representative Riggs asked me
to please comment on this morning.

A hallmark of Napa-Solano Head Start has been very effective results of collaborative
partnerships, and I would like to describe to you just one of the many opportunities Napa-
Solano Head Start has seized to create new and better services for families and children in our
region.

The Fillmore Head Start Center opened in 1996 as a partnership between Head Start, the City
of Fairfield, the Police Department, and the Quality Neighborhood Team. The key players
included the City of Fairfield, the Police Department, the County Office of Education, and the
property owners. The Quality Neighborhood Team needed the attendant services component
to revitalize a decaying area, and Head Start needed a facility with a play area. Mr. Silva had
vacancies, Mr. Lee had excess parking space, and we negotiated with the city to lease two
apartments and the parking lot. Community Development Block Grant funds provided the play
equipment. Residents of Fillmore Street and the city staff volunteered to build the playground,
and Head Start converted two downstairs apartments for the center.

The Fairfield Redevelopment Agency provides rent support to Head Start, made a loan to the
property owner, provides Quality Neighborhood Team staffing and funded landscaping,
driveway improvements and exterior painting for all 16 buildings in the neighborhood.

The outcomes have been significant and many. Fillmore area residents have a free, reliable
child and family development program. All buildings are attractive and meet building and
housing codes. Property values have rebounded. Tenants are connected through a weekly
newsletter. Mandatory housecleaning classes are held for every tenant. Microenterprise
training is provided to interested tenants. Services for children with disabilities are
coordinated on site. Regular tenant meetings and ESL classes are held. The vacancy rate has
dropped from 25 percent to 3 percent. Calls for police service dropped from 300 in 1995 to
less than 40 in 1997, and serious crime has been virtually eliminated.

From this project and many others we have learned some important considerations when
developing partnerships, and I have also included all of those in my written testimony. That
brings us to the present, and I would like to talk about some key issues for reauthorization.

Head Start has been a part of the conceptual landscape of services to family in this country for
over 33 years. We have weathered some devastating challenges and have enjoyed the
exhilarating crest of success. Current issues facing Head Start are diverse. From my
perspective, the following are the issues that are important to address now through
reauthorization.

The child care block grant compels Head Start to develop strong and effective collaborative
partnerships at the State level. When partnering women, both the State and Head Start benefit
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from the best that each has to offer in program approach and funding. There is a strong
program focus on State-Head Start full-day partnering, but the effective strategies to support
that at a policy level have not been adequately addressed. I encourage you to support
individual choice of partnership selection at the local level.

Second, the State-Head Start collaboration projects are well conceived in purpose and strategy
but poorly funded for the larger States, such as California. Currently, the State of Vermont
receives nearly the same amount of support as California. The inequities in terms of size,
population, participants, travel and complexity cannot be adequately addressed. Please review
funding for larger States for collaboration projects.

Third, quality child care is a key success issue for transitioning families from welfare to work.
Head Start must be supported to implement this transition from part-day to full-day as
appropriate at the local level. Child care and a job do not necessarily create a healthy family.
Head Start must be funded to continue to provide the comprehensive family services necessary
for many families to be successful employees and good parents. To meet family needs,
programs must be supported to address seamless services, birth to school age, through existing
funding and also through expansion grants.

Fourth, the income eligibility of families in Head Start remains one of the lowest of all social
service programs. This is particularly critical in States with high-cost-of-living areas. A
review of the income eligibility and its effect on full-day, full-year participation for working
families must be addressed in order to respond to the changing needs of the individual
communities served. Currently, a single mom with one child working 40 hours a week at
McDonalds on minimum wage is not income eligible for Head Start.

Fifth, program monitoring is a crucial factor in Head Start, maintaining the high quality
reputation it has earned. Each qualified Head Start director must be. encouraged to participate
as a member of the peer monitoring process. Regional offices must be supported in raising the
leverage for poor performing grantees. The unevenness in Head Start programs must be
addressed and programs assisted with enhanced training opportunities.to achieve the level of
accountability dictated by the revised performance standards:

Last, but by no means of least importance, the relationship of Head Start programs to their
grantee agencies must be reviewed. When Head Start was granted in 1965, they were small,
short-term, underfunded demonstration projects. The situation has dramatically changed and,
in many cases, Head Start programs have grown much larger than the agencies funded to
govern them. The regional offices must support programs to address the inequities of the
grantee relationship that is often an inefficient and unnecessary layer of administration.

The mission of Head Start is clear: to break the cycle of disparity by preparing young, low-
income children and their families to better succeed in life; and this mission has not changed
since 1965. Because of this clarity of purpose and nationally acclaimed success, Head Start
continues to generate tremendous excitement and commitment throughout our local
communities. Our program alone had 210,000 hours of volunteer support and over
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$1,400,000 of in-kind demonstrations this program year alone.

Head Start is defined as a comprehensive program that addresses the needs of the whole child,
and this always includes the needs of the child's family. What is most extraordinary is the
extent to which Head Start generates the loyalty and respect of the people and communities it
serves. If there is a secret to Head Start's success, it is that Head Start staff enters into a
compassionate partnership with each parent to shape the future of the child.

Services to children are not provided without the active and intense participation of the family.
Even a strong partnership formed between the parent, the child, and the Head Start staff cannot
succeed without the committed involvement of the local community. Because of this, a
significant part of the Head Start mission is also to partner with public, private and corporate
entities to effectively move families to personal responsibility, self-sufficiency and active
community involvement. \

Community development itself is the result of an actively supported community-based
program. While the child is in Head Start, families are being supported and connected to
community resources. Families demonstrate willing and active participation in improving their
circumstance and moving from isolation to connection with a social and working network.

In summary, Head Start builds strong families and strong families build healthy communities.
I thank you.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you very much, Ms. Dollar.

SEE APPENDIX J - WRITTEN STATEMENT OF JACKIE DOLLAR, DIRECTOR,
NAPA-SOLANO HEAD START, NAPA, CALIFORNIA

Chairman Riggs. I now recognize the ranking member to introduce our final witness.

Mr. Martinez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is my pleasure to introduce Ms. Yolie Flores
Aguilar, the President of the Los Angeles County Board of Education. We are fortunate that
she was able to come all this way to provide us with the views of the largest Head Start
program in the country and to share her wealth of experience in early childhood issues.

Mr. Chairman, let me elaborate on her wealth of experience. Prior to being appointed to the
board in 1995, Ms. Aguilar was the Director of Child Care for the City of Los Angeles. She
continues her efforts in this area by working with the National Economic Development and
Law Center in helping communities develop child care programs.

In addition, Ms. Aguilar is a consultant through the Annie E. Casey Foundation on Child Care
and Latino Children's Issues. She is also an executive member of the Children's Planning
Council, a founder and director of the National Latino Alliance, and a board member of the
Pediatric and Family Medical Center of Los Angeles Roundtable for Children.
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Thank you, Ms. Aguilar, for coming all this way and joining us today. I think I can safely say
that the lives of our children throughout Los Angeles County are enriched by your work.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Riggs. Of course.

STATEMENT OF YOLIE FLORES AGUILAR, PRESIDENT, LOS ANGELES COUNTY
BOARD OF EDUCATION, DOWNEY, CALIFORNIA, ACCOMPANIED BY ANDREW
KENNEDY, DIRECTOR, LACOE'S HEAD START-STATE PRESCHOOL DIVISION

Ms. Aguilar. Thank you, Mr. Martinez. Chairman Riggs, Congressman Martinez and
members of the Subcommittee, good afternoon. Thank you for the very generous and kind
introduction.

As Mr. Martinez indicated, I am President of the Los Angeles County Board of Education,
also known as LACOE. You will hear me refer to LACOE throughout. LACOE operates the
largest Head Start program in the Nation, serving 4,000 square miles of the County of Los
Angeles. We contract with 15 school districts, 15 private nonprofit agencies, and two city
governments to provide direct, comprehensive services to over 21,000 Head Start-eligible
children and families, and. we have been providing innovative family services for Head Start-
eligible families since 1979.

It is a pleasure to be here today to present our recommendations on Head Start reauthorization.
Before I outline our recommendations, I would like to highlight some of the innovative
programs that we operate.

Our Head Start regionalized family services program has expanded services to the entire
family, based on the premise that parents are the foundation of their children's success and are
the primary resource for building strong families for America's future. This program uses a
case management approach providing comprehensive, participant-directed services de51gned to
promote family literacy, family wellness, and meaningful employment.

Our direct services home-based program provides.an opportunity for parent involvement to .
influence their child's development in education. Parents learn about child development and ..
parenting skills.and how to access community resources medical; dental, mental health and-
other social services through heme visits, group activities and-trainingzsessions.

We have also developed a partnership with the JTPA program.to provide training, field work
and course work leading to employment for selected Head. Start parents .as instructional .. . -
assistants or Head Start teachers. We.provide parents with.not only academic credit through »
our local colleges, such as Cerritos College, but also critical employment skills. And, finally,
we provide substance abuse awareness training and.seek to help parents address gang
prevention issues. These are just a few examples of the comprehensive approach we have
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adopted for our Head Start program.

Let me now talk about some of the transition services we have built into our program so that
our Head Start children are ready to learn when they reach kindergarten. Before I do that,
please let me commend Congressman Martinez for introducing H.R. 3880, which directly
focuses on the needed and very important transition services and increased collaboration
between Head Start programs and local educational agencies.

Our experience clearly demonstrates that collaborative transition plans between preschool
programs and early elementary grades prepares families for learning continuity and helping
children begin kindergarten successfully. To succeed, transition plans must address issues of
curriculum continuity, developmentally appropriate instruction, staff development, and teacher-
student ratios. Our Head Start program partners with local educational agencies to promote
reading readiness, family literacy, and transition from Head Start to kindergarten.

We have also formed a partnership between our Head Start delegate agencies and the
California Parent-Teacher Association units to link Head Start parents with the local PTA
networks. These collaborative efforts have enabled us to assist elementary schools in building
on the positive aspects of the Head Start experiences. It has also contributed to the self-
esteem, well-being, and skills of both children and their families and has provided a
communication network for parents, teachers, and Head Start agencies.

In addition to the transition services authorized in Congressman Martinez's bill, we would like
your Committee to consider several recommendations developed in collaboration with other
large Head Start grantees in New York City, Chicago, Puerto Rico, Migrant Head Start and
the Navajo Nation.

First, Head Start reauthorization should enhance family literacy services by requiring specific
literacy services for the whole family. Our experience shows that literate parents greatly assist
their children in learning to read, and these parents are more likely to gain meaningful
employment. It is also important to link Head Start to literacy services to pre-employment
skills training, thereby furthering the goals of welfare reform.

Our second recommendation is that early Head Start programs should be expanded. Clearly,
the recent research on brain development shows us the critical need for early childhood
development in education. We now have the opportunity to reach our infants and toddlers of
today early on to promote the cognitive and social development.

I would like to add here the equity in funding. I mentioned earlier that in Los Angeles County
we serve 21,000 children. However, there are 110,000 eligible children in Los Angeles
County who are not accessing Head Start because of the lack of equity in funding in the State
of California and in Los Angeles, in particular.

Third, reauthorization should include quality performance measures. Head Start grantees and
delegate agencies need to have in place concrete objectives, measurable outcomes, and time
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lines for a child's achievement. These measures must be aligned with accepted quality
program indicators.

Fourth, reauthorization should emphasize safety. We see too much violence in and around.the
communities where Head Start services are delivered. - Therefore, we recommend that the
Head Start Bureau partner with the Justice Department to develop. programs to improve, the
safety of the environment where-Head Start programs are located and improve training for
parents and staff that addresses the best practices in making their communities and programs
safer.

Lastly, reauthorization should include program flexibility to coordinate between Head Start and
child care providers and incentives for partnership and other forms of collaboration, with the
goal of achieving full-day, full-year services.

Program guidelines should be strengthened to address four things:

One, the areas of allowable supplemental expenditures-for. collaboration with child care
providers;

Two, allowance for joint funding of Head Start agencies and child care providers;

Third, enhanced program requirements, such as parent participation. For example, this should
count toward TANF requirements:- In Los Angeles County 51 percent of parents hired are .
TANTF participants; and

Fourth, liability issues, and how partnerships can work with shared liability and responsibility -
being shared between child care and Head Start.

I believe we can all agree that the Head Start program is a critically important resource in
helping our children and families succeed in this increasingly competitive world. We have
seen and heard the success stories. Therefore, it is my strongest recommendation that funding
be included to reach the goal of serving 1 million children and their families by the year 2002,
and we support the recommendation for Head Start to. go through the next 5 years, through
2003.

Thank you for providing me with the opportunity to testify, and .1 would be happy to answer
any questions you might have.

SEE APPENDIX K -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF YOLIE FLORES AGUILAR,
PRESIDENT, LOS ANGELES COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION, DOWNEY; .
CALIFORNIA, ACCOMPANIED-BY ANDREW KENNEDY, DIRECTOR, LACOE'S HEAD
START-STATE PRESCHOOL DIVISION

Chairman nggs Thank you, Ms. Aguilar, and thank you to all of our witnesses on this panel.
We have certainly, I this think, run the gamut with this testimony, since it has covered such a
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broad range of opinion. We now look forward to the opportunity to expand on your testimony
through our questions and answers.

I want to ask you, Ms. Aguilar, because you made, I thought, a very interesting
recommendation at the very end of your testimony. You say program guidelines should be
strengthened to enhance paraphrasing just a little bit to enhance program requirements, such as
parental participation. What specifically do you have in mind?

Ms. Aguilar. Well, I was specifically referring to the parent participation in TANF, and that
we count parent participation toward the TANF requirements currently. I mentioned that we
have over 51 percent of our parents that are hired through Head Start that are TANF
recipients.

Chairman Riggs. Isee. Thank you. I think that is a very important point of clarification,
because I think I was perhaps thinking more along the lines of some other form of parental
involvement and empowerment.

I also want to thank you, by the way, for emphasizing the need to stress safety, and would just
suggest that, since you are seated side by side, maybe you can informally compare notes with
Ms. Dollar, or maybe even arrange for her to do, if this is not too presumptuous of her smaller
program from northern California, but to provide some technical assistance on how that can be
done, because I have had an opportunity to visit the Fillmore project in Fairfield, and it is
really remarkable what the community, because I do not want to limit it to just Ms. Dollar or
Head Start, but what the community is doing in that particular area. The transformation in the
neighborhood, with the Head Start center as the hub of the magnet of that transformation, is
truly remarkable. And I look forward to my colleagues hopefully having an opportunity to see
that firsthand when we visit Solano County, visit northern California, for our field hearing.

Now, I will have several questions to ask of many, if not all of our witnesses, and I am going
to plead with you for very brief responses so we can cover as much ground as possible.

First of all, several of you, I think, have stressed greater accountability and more stringent
performance standards and measures. Let me ask, for those of you who are familiar, do you
think that the Department's revised performance standards, which went into effect January 1 of
this year, provide greater accountability? Are they moving us in the right direction? Are they
sufficient or should we consider even stronger, at least educational performance standards in
the reauthorization of the bill? Dr. Snow, will you go first?

Ms. Snow. Certainly the performance standards are a step in the right direction. My
suggestions for enhanced performance standards would specifically incorporate more focus on
language and literacy environment in these classrooms. The social skills are not an adequate
preparation for entering kindergarten and school and being prepared to learn how to read.

Kids really do need to have literacy-specific and language-specific skills, and programs need to
think about how to organize themselves to ensure that the children have an opportunity to
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acquire those skills.

Chairman Riggs. Dr. Zigler, do you agree with that? You said in your testimony ‘in fact, I

might follow up on that, I guess that we can look at-child outcomes in centers using various

educational methods to see who fares the best. But do you have something further in mind?-
Can you tell us. what is happening? .

Mr. Zigler. What I have in mind is, it is time to redo the study we did 25 years ago where we
look: at various approaches, curricula that are going on, and actually determine if one is better
than another.

I have great respect for Dr. Snow, she is really a world.ranked authority-on language, but:1
would take some exception. The strength of Head Start has always been that it is a community
program. Not only do we not know: for certain if one curricutum is better than another, but a
strength of Head Start has always been the local community control of these programs.. To
start fine-tuning the curriculum in a program at the level of ACYF, or even higher than that,
Congress, is quite alien to the entire philosophy of Head Start.

Chairman Riggs.. Dr. Zigler, I am glad you made that point, because I am going to ask you to
respond then. very specifically to your professorial colleague, E.D. Hirsch; who testified in our
joint hearing in the Senate and I am-quoting.now from his.testimony here. He says, "In order .
to achieve equality of educational opportunity, the humane imparting of explicitly defined
cognitive skills needs to. be an essential new element.of Head Start. The basic message of my
testimony is this: Congress will be able to ensure that Head Start lives up to its name only if
Congress mandates with some specificity the kinds of cognitive goals that every child must
attain in order for the local program to retain its funding."

Sounds like, sir, you would take issue.

Mr. Zigler. 1 agree with some-of it. I am a strong believer in accountability, and I think I
would agree with Hirsch that you need clear goals. I think what is going on right now in the
FACES effort is going to provide us with those benchmarks. There will be explicit goals of.
Head Start. Where I.would disagree with-him is on the issue of how you get to those goals.

What developmental experiences does a child need to experience to reach the kind of goals
which would, of course, assess language, numeracy,-and social skills as well? There has been
a cottage industry in this country, going on for the last 35 years, trying to say this curriculum
is better than that curriculum. There is an absolutely wonderful review by Don Bailey at
North Carolina in a new book on early childhood intervention where he says what I said-
earlier, we have no evidence that one curriculum is better than another.

I would point to you to a study done right here in the City of Washington by Markham where
she actually compared the kind of curriculum that Hirsch is championing versus a more what
we call developmentally appropriate curriculum. And the fact of the matter is and these are
empirical issues, not ideological struggles, to me and the fact is that the more developmentally
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appropriate, less directive curriculum, those children did much better in the Washington,
D.C., schools later.

Chairman Riggs. I am glad you made that point because that debate also rages on in the public
schools over this whole debate of developmental kindergarten versus the more academic
approach, as you well know. I do not know how we will reconcile these conflicting
testimonies. Dr. Snow, let me give you a chance to respond; then I want to turn to Dr. Horn.

Ms. Snow. Well, developmentally appropriate is a prerequisite for a good education. We do
not try to teach calculus to first graders. The point, though, is not that a specific curriculum is
the route for giving children access to the language and literacy skills they need, but that
certain kinds of educational practices and attention to certain kinds of educational practices are
crucial. '

Classrooms in which children never have a chance to talk alone to an adult or in a small group
with an adult, classrooms in which children spend most of their time in large group play, in
outside play, being given snacks where they talk only to each other without an adult sitting
down at the table and talking to them, where the procedures for how often they should brush
their teeth are more explicit than the procedures for how many times a week books should be
read to them, are not classrooms where whatever the curriculum, are not classrooms which are
developmentally appropriate because they are not challenging children's language and literacy
development, and they are not classrooms where children are learning the things they must
learn in order to do well in school.

Chairman Riggs. Dr. Horn, let me ask you, based on your observations and experience and
other panelists if they want we are concerned about this phenomenon of fade-out. I don't
presuppose to know how real that is.

And Dr. Joyner, just an aside, are you all looking at that in the study, this problem of fade-out
versus children being able to sustain the gains that they make in the Head Start program well
into their primary school years?

Ms. Joyner. The one study that we have ongoing right now does not look at that issue. It
would answer for us the extent to which the current Head Start program is assessing that as
part of their other outcome assessments and so forth, but other than that, we are not looking at
that issue.

Chairman Riggs. One other aside, if Dr. Horn will bear with us a moment. The Department

itself apparently is doing their own internal study, which they call the FACES study. Is there

any correlation between the study currently under way in your office and what the Department
is doing?

Ms. Joyner. The study that we are doing and the FACES study?
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Chairman Riggs. Yes.

Ms. Joyner. Well, what we are doing is not an integral assessment of the impact of Head
Start, or the outcomes of Head Start, but our ongoing study looks at what processes or
mechanisms the Department has in place to answer those questions about program purposes
and so forth.

So we are aware of the FACES study, and the intersection is that we have analyzed it from the
perspective of how much information we provide about outcome and impact, and we think it
provides a very good basis that could be built on to answer some of the issues that have been
raised here, like outcomes at the local level. It could be extended to that, but there are no
concrete plans at this time to do that.

_ Chairman Riggs. Okay. So that sort of begs the question. I am aware of all these studies,
because that is the good old Washington way, paralysis by analysis. But it sounds like we
perhaps then need to consider going one step further in the context of the reauthorization.
Because what we have been discussing is a true I do not know where we came up with this
term, it may be just staff driven but an "impact study” or a "results study.” It sounds like
neither what you are doing or what the Department is doing internally, what I call the FACES
study, really would get to the kind results-driven information that we want to see; is that
correct?

Ms. Joyner. There is a difference of opinion between the Department and the General
Accounting Office on that matter, in that their position is that the activities that they have
under way right now will provide information we believe is needed about impact evaluation;
and FACES is one of the components of that. Their position is that when they have this
outcome data nationally descriptive for the study, that there are certain things that they can do
with that that they believe will provide enough comparison that they can conclude that it is the
program.

We believe that that is better than doing nothing, and we think it is very useful in a great many
ways. But there are a lot of weaknesses to that from a research perspective to the comparisons
they have laid out. We believe and the experts with whom we consulted on this believe that
more is needed than what they have currently planned.

Chairman Riggs. Okay. Dr. Horn, what is your opinion, then, about the need to increase or
enhance performance standards and measures in the context of the reauthorization, assuming
we do not devolve this program back to the States?

Mr. Horn. Well, I agree with Dr. Zigler that we have to be careful that we do not so
micromanage the local program from Washington, D.C., that it takes away what I think is a
very important aspect of the Head Start program, which is local flexibility. I do not think that
the research is developed well enough at this point that we can say that this is exactly the
curriculum that needs to be used in every Head Start program across the country; nor do I
think we will ever get there. Because I think local conditions do require local kinds of
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considerations in terms of the curriculum that is actually used.

On this issue of the effectiveness of Head Start, let me say this. On the issue.of, is a kid better
off for having had a year of Head Start or 2.years of Head Start compared to nothing, I think
that is a silly question for-us to ask now. We know the answer to that. Yes.

But there are two. questions, it seems, that are vital: One is, compared to some other kind of -
preschool experience, with which many States are now experimenting; and then the second .
question is, how do we deal with this fade-out effect?

Dr. Zigler is quite correct, we do not want to slip back into this idea Head Start is a one-shot
inoculation that will somehow protect kids from all sorts of horrible experiences that they then -
continue to live in, whether that-is dangerous neighborhoods or crummy schools or whatever.
But I also do notthink we should think a two-shot inoculation will do it either, and that is the-
thought, well, if 1 year did not do it, then 2 years or 3 years.

I think we have to be much more bold about transforming the neighborhoods and- the.schools
these kids transition into and live in as a way of overcoming that 2~ or 3-year fade-out effect.

Ms. Dollar. May I addressthat? While the impact studies and the performance measures are -
being developed, I would like to share with you some of the strategies.that we are using in the
field to address fade-out.

Number one, we are supporting the parent-through a continued relationship with Even Start,
Healthy Start and public health nurses.to ensure high-risk families continue to receive some
additional levels of support through the grades.

Number two, we are working very closely with the unified schiool districts to support the
understanding, culture and language considerations of the child and the family as they
transition. '

Number three, we are providing very strong transition strategies from Head Start to the
grades, meeting with kindergarten teachers, sharing relationships between kindergarten
teachers and Head Start teachers so that there is a very seamless transition and a
developmentally appropriate practice that continues into first, second and third grades and
enhances the Head Start experience.

Chairman Riggs. Ms. Aguilar.

Ms. Freeman. May I also respond? -

Chairman Riggs. Yes, I'm sorry. Ms. Freeman.

Ms. Freeman. I just wanted to comment, too, that one of the reasons we wanted to support
the idea of family literacy being a stronger part of Head Start is that we have research studies
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also that have children all the way up to fifth grade now where we are looking at the fact that
where we are supporting the parents' own educational developments means that their children
are able to go on further in school as well. So that concept of family literacy also supports that
idea of, if there is a fade-out, how can we better support the family as a whole, so that that
does not happen as children begin to move up.

Chairman Riggs. Ms. Freeman, while you are at the mike, I want to ask you a related
question; then I will go to Ms. Aguilar and then recognize my colleagues.

How do you promote family literacy in non-English-speaking households?

Ms. Freeman. In non-English? Well, throughout Even Start, or any of the family literacy
existing programs that we have, we have comprehensive family literacy programs as well. For
the parents and the children, as far as what is happening, parents come to family literacy
programs to learn to speak English. So, therefore, they are there to speak English. We in the
academic instruction time, that is the time that they usually speak English. In the parent
component, that is often the time where they speak their own native languages. So they are
able to use both languages.

For the children, we also do bilingual, depending upon what is necessary for the local agency.
We do not promote either one. The local agency makes the decision as to what they want.
But most of the parents come because they want to learn English for their children and for
themselves.

Chairman Riggs. Ms. Dollar and Ms. Aguilar, do you have any idea how many children in
your jurisdictions are limited or non-English speaking?

Ms. Aguilar. Let me ask Dr. Kennedy, who is our Head Start Director if he has that number.
It is Seventy-three percent.

Chairman Riggs. And Ms. Dollar? Then we will let Ms. Aguilar respond.
Ms. Dollar. In our area, one-third of our families are non-English speaking.

Chairman Riggs. One-third. Okay. Ms. Aguilar, I think you wanted to comment about fade-
out.

Ms. Aguilar. Yes, but on this point of family literacy and I shared this in my remarks earlier,
that our partnership with the National Center on Family Literacy has made an incredible
difference and impact on helping parents have that opportunity to learn English. They all want
to learn English; it is not a question for them.

I do want to go back to the fade-out issue. There is some research that tells us that the
elementary school curriculum, the instructional program, does not align itself to carry out the
gains of Head Start. For example, there is much lower parent involvement at the third grade
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" level that might impact learning gains.

So I think it is important to as we tatk about transition, and the transition that Mr. Martinez has:
placed in his bill is critical, but it is important also not just to put the onus of transition on
Head Start and early childhood; that that-also should be placed on'K-12. So I would like to
make a further recommendation, as IASA and EASA in Title I are reconsidered. for
reauthorization, that we look at that transition responsibility-also in K-12 education.

Chairman Riggs. Congressman Martinez.

Mr. Martinez. Thank you; Mr. Chairman. We have heard this for a long time, too, about the
fade-out from Head Start; and that is one of the reasons why our now-Chairman, before he was
Chairman, interacted with our then-Chairman, Bill Ford, to introduce a piece of legislation.
called Even Start, which was supposed to take care of that continuity.

I think there was a greater wisdom in that, with the-emphasis being on the fact that if Head
Start children lose what they gained in Head Start, it is not the fault of the child, not even in .
many cases the parent, but the parent is substantially-a part of that because if the parent takes
that kind of an interest and develops that kind of an interest in the kid's education and their
own, then they can sometimes recognize -when the school that they have sent their children to
beyond Head Start is a bad school. And the real reason why these+kids have fade-out is the
bad school and also, sometimes, bad environments. So we ought to be emphasizing the right
thing here.

I think you say it very well, Ms. Aguilar, that the responsibility-for the continuance of the gain
in Head Start ought to be in K through 12. There is no-doubt about it. The fact is that if we
think in those terms, I think we can put forth in the bill a good reauthorization that can-take
care of that problem we have had in the past with fade-out, which has not always occurred in
every student. If the student went to a good school, he did not have fade-out. If the parents
became that interested in their child's education, that they got a further education, even to the
extent of the parents who come to the programs wanting to learn English, because they
understand, if they learn English, their children will learn to speak better English and their
children will get a better education.

But I want to kind of ask the question here of Dr. Zigler. One of the-objectives we have had
for several years now, going back to when I first got to Congress, there was talk of full
funding. Both Reagan. talked of full funding for Head Start; Bush made it a commitment in his
campaign, full funding for Head Start, and we still have not achieved full funding. The fight is
always for the dollars and how we are able to impress the appropriators, how important Head
Start is and what that appropriation level should be; not only that, but in the reauthorizing of
these bills, too, what those appropriation levels should be.

When we think about trying to achieve full funding and Loretta Sanchez testified to the fact

that there are a great number in Orange County, 47,000 I think she said, of unserved children;
and then we just heard Ms. Aguilar-testify tothe fact that there are 110,000 in L.A. County
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that are unserved, so if you couple that with your testimony, Dr. Zigler, that we really need to
expand the Head Start program to ages before four, because those are cognitive learning ages,
too, how do we reconcile then the doubling of the cost of Head Start by doubling the salaries
by requiring certified teachers?

Now, I understand certified teachers would be able to do a better job in Head Start, but
sometimes I think we ought to expend that effort in money in those other grades, K through
12, to make sure the teachers that are there are qualified. Because I am not sure all the time
that every teacher that is in the K-through-12 system is doing the kind of job they need to do to
make sure those children get a full and meaningful education.

So the question is, how do we reconcile those two really diametrically opposed concepts, that
if you want to reach full funding you are going to need more dollars, but then you are going to
spend the dollars to increase from $17,000 or an average of 16; it is from $11- to $17,000 to
$33- to $34,000? That is a doubling of cost, which means all that has impact on the dollars
you are able to appropriate for the program.

Mr. Zigler. Iunderstand your dilemma, and I, too, would like to congratulate you in your
wisdom on the transition effort. I have been talking about transition now for 30 years,
pointing out how many Head Start kids, the momentum they get in Head Start is lost. Dr. Lee
at Michigan has pointed out how many Head Start children go on to poor schools.

The dilemma you pose is a real one. It depends on what you are trying to accomplish. I think
the evidence is fairly clear. Contrary to what Dr. Horn said a moment ago, I just wrote an
introduction to a book on the Parent-Child Centers in Chicago, which are very much like Head
Start, which show that the more years that a child has had, the better they do. But they follow
the kid right into school.

There is no free lunch. There is absolutely no free lunch.

I also have evidence that indicates that 2 years of Head Start are better than 1 year of Head
Start, and I can provide this Committee with that evidence. However, I have never argued that
Head Start become a how can you argue that some children should have 2 years of Head Start
when right now 70 percent of the eligible children have none? So I am not arguing expending
our money that way right now with the lack of money that we have.

In terms of do you want to spend more money on teachers? Will they cost more? Yes, they
will cost you twice as much. I think that, as Congressman Mica said earlier, these children
really deserve the very best type of intervention that we are capable of providing. The best
kind of intervention would be a highly trained, well-qualified person who would automatically
do the kinds of things they were taught to do, the kinds of things that Dr. Snow was telling you
about. That costs more money. My hunch is you will get better outcomes as a result of that.

I think one can do this at least experimentally. There are already some BAs in Head Start.
Why is a study not done to find the cost-benefit analysis of those kids who have had a BA as a
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teacher, as opposed to those who have a CDA as a teacher? If we can demonstrate that the
benefits are twice as high, then you can see that this should not be treated so much as an
increased cost but as a worthwhile investment.

Mr. Martinez. Thank you, Dr. Zigler. Well, I have to agree with you that maybe that is
what we ought to do, is do a study of those environments where a B.A. teacher and the CD
teacher are compared side-by-side, and find out what the results are. I think that is what we
are all trying to do anyway.

Let me ask you along the same-lines, and probably Dr. Snow, both you and Dr. Zigler can
answer this, because this has been another long-standing question. I remember when we
reauthorized Head Start last time, and I brought the Subcommittee together to find out what
their views were on the reauthorization, and almost to a person, both sides of the aisle said
quality, improvement of quality. Then we sat to try to determine what quality was. Ard what
we did is we came up with a reauthorization that included what we thought would be an -
increase of quality. And according to Dr. Joyner, there has been some increase in the quality
of Head Start programming.

But what it really boils down to, I think, is a simple question of quality equates to preparing
the child to learn. But yet I do not think we have ever had a real definitive statement on what
that means, "ready to learn.” Could either of you give us that?

Mr. Zigler. Again, that is a very tough issue, a definition of school readiness. Why it is so
important, as we said, the last national study done on school readiness is that about 35 percent
of America's children, according to kindergarten teachers, are not ready when they hit school.
If you look at poor children in our inner cities and our rural slums, like in Appalachia, that
number is closer to 65 percent.

I do not think there is a great mystery really about what school-readiness is. And I would like
to emphasize something that is being said here. Head Start is in the midst of doing, I think,
the most important effort ever in the 33-year life of Head Start. ~School readiness measures,
first of all, let us get realistic. I think we all oversold Head Start in.the beginning. I was
reminded this morning when Congressman Sanchez pointed out her program;:beliéve it or-not,
in 1965, we thought if we had a child for 6 weeks, we thought we could make him wonderful
forever. Today what we ought to do is say, look, what do you really expect to get out of a 1-
year, mostly half-day program for 4-year-old children? We need a clear goal. To me, that
goal is school readiness.

Now, the FACES effort is, for the first time in well, we have been arguing for 33 years, and I
was consulted on the GAO report where they concluded, well, we don't know yet.

The problem is, you ought to have a clear goal. Make that goal school readiness, which
involves working with the family, all the things that Head Start does as part of school
readiness. But then what you have to have are, let's say, six, maybe it is seven six or seven
very clear measures of school readiness. They would include language, they would include
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numeracy, they would include, can a kid follow instruction?

Those measures are not beyond us. We have been thinking about this thing now for over 30
years. Develop those measures. This would be the first time, if they are successful, and they
are working on it now, this would be the first time ever that Head Start would have to say,
here are what we are shooting for and, if we achieve those, we are a success. If we do not
achieve them, we are not.

But I guarantee you, Mr. Martinez, that any group of scholars in early childhood would have
no trouble agreeing on six basic measures; and they would be measures of cognition, health,
social and emotional development essentially. Those are the core of school readiness. Once
those measures are in place, and they are being developed as we speak, then we will finally
have the clear goals of Head Start as defined by those measures.

Mr. Martinez. Very good. Dr. Snow.

Ms. Snow. Well, another way to think about the effectiveness of Head Start is to think about
Head Start as a prevention program, a program designed to prevent the emergence of
problems. And difficulties in learning to read are the biggest problem that society faces. Most
kids do learn to read. Too high a proportion of children, particularly children from the
population groups served by Head Start, do not learn to read.

So in that sense, school readiness really has to be defined by the kindergarten and first grade
teachers, what they expect children to be able to do in order for their instructional programs to
work. Kindergarten teachers expect children to be able to sit quietly for a little while and
listen to some instruction. They expect children to be able to follow directions.

But they also presuppose, in general, some understanding of what literacy is all about. They
presuppose that kids arrive at school thinking that reading is a good thing to do, motivated
enough to learn to read; that they are prepared to persist through a certain challenge or
struggle, and with some basic understanding of why people sit and stare at funny little marks
on a piece of paper. If kids do not get to kindergarten knowing that, if kids are not
linguistically well prepared to start to understand what those squiggles on the paper represent,
then the prevention of reading difficulties has not adequately taken place.

Mr. Martinez. I can very clearly understand that. For example, I spoke Spanish when I went
to kindergarten, and then we transitioned to English over the next few grades. But when
people wonder why, with my Hispanic background, that I don't speak Spanish better, it is
because I didn't have much of a vocabulary at 5 years of age and never expanded it beyond
that because I made the transition to English.

So I think I have a pretty good command of English, although some people would contradict

that, because the fact is I did not have a broad knowledge of the Spanish language, and I have
had to go back as an adult, in fact, since I have been in Congress, to relearn Spanish. I have
found, you are right, there are words that I didn't know existed in the Spanish language. 1
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knew the English word but did not know the Spanish word.

So you are right, those are things that children, if they are going to be ready when they get to
that kindergarten age, they have to have a better grasp of vocabulary and, as you say, know
what those. little marks on the paper mean. Thank you.

Mr. Horn. May I had add one thing to that?

With all due respect, I think it may be the wrong question. Iam convinced by the data that
Head Start, to a very large extent, helps kids arrive at school ready to learn. I think what we
should be measuring is whether the schools are ready when the kids arrive at their doorstep.
That is the result we see of the fade-out effect. It is not that we are not delivering kids in large
numbers ready to go to school, but the schools are not equipped to deal with these kids and
ensure that these kids learn in the long term.

So I would hope that in addition to anything that this Congress might do to enhance the
measurement of the readiness of the Head Start graduate, that it simultaneously also measure
the readiness of the schools to accept and work with the Head Start graduate.

One small point I wanted to make for the record: Dr. Zigler just said 70 percent of income-
eligible kids do not get Head Start at all. That is not true. That is simply not so. There are
about of 650,000 income-eligible 4-year-olds in America today. According to the most recent
program information report from Head Start, there are 519,000 4-year-olds in Head Start.
Now, even allowing for the 10 percent over-income enroliment, you don't get to 70 percent of
Kids that are income-eligible not getting Head Start. The only way you get to 70 percent of not
getting Head Start is by expanding it to 3-, 4- and 5-year-olds.

It is a complicated statistical argument, but for the record, it is not so that 70 percent of
income-eligible kids are not getting Head Start at all.

Mr. Martinez. I think the percentages differ from area to area. I do not know about your
statistics, but it still does not answer the question that we have evidence in Los Angeles County
that of the numbers there, there are 110,000 which is what percentage, Dr. Kennedy that are
not receiving Head Start who are eligible?

Mr. Kennedy. I think we have 60 percent.

Mr. Martinez. Sixty percent. So, you see, it varies from area to area. But I think you make
a very good point. The point you make, in getting that school ready to receive these children,

. is one that I think Dr. Snow made when she said that the kindergarten and.the first grade

teacher should define what that school readiness is.

Ms. Dollar. I think it is critical to remember, t00, in a year of Head Start we can have
tremendous influence on a family dynamic; that we can change attitudes; that we can enhance
motivation; that we can prepare parents to be better-advocates for their children when they
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enter the school system. A year with a parent is significant.
Mr. Martinez. Ms. Aguilar.

Ms. Aguilar. If I may, I would like to go back to the language question, because it was raised
earlier with the representatives here today. And someone asked if English ought to be one of
the goals with children. Absolutely, yes, to prepare children to enter school ready to learn
they have to be somewhat ready to master the English language, which they will continue to do
in K-12.

However, one of the things I think we all would agree on now is that ultimately who makes a
difference in the lives of children are their families, are their parents, no question. If children
have to choose between English and their home language, I am afraid that we will continue to
separate families, and the communication of families is ultimately the most important thing.
So I would like for you to think about English as a primary goal in all families.

All children recognize that to be successful in America we all must learn English; however, we
must not compromise the family relationship by rejecting the home language. There are so
many families who do not communicate any longer because their families, their parents, speak
their home language and their children are no longer communicating in that home language and
are now communicating only in English. We could do no worse damage to families in
America than to separate their children through language.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Congressman Martinez. If you will yield to me for a moment to
follow up the point Ms. Aguilar made, and then we will go to Congressman Roemer.

I want to be sure we are clear on this. If we are saying one of the primary purposes, if not the
primary purpose, of the new and improved Head Start program, as reauthorized by Congress
and signed into law by the President in a bipartisan fashion, I hope, is school readiness, it just
seems to me that that would mean an emphasis on English language skills for children with no
or limited English proficiency. We are not saying anything about trying to discourage that
child from also, obviously, communicating at home or, for that matter, at the Head Start center
in the native language, or doing anything to put a language barrier between the child and the
parent. If I gave that impression earlier, I want to dispel it now for the record.

Ms. Snow. May I address that issue?

Inevitably, if English is the dominant language in the Head Start center, children in the center
will understand that English is very important and will start to learn English, as Mr. Martinez
did, at the expense of their home language.

There is no educational reason for assuming that being an English speaker is an aspect of
school readiness. Children can learn English at school, and we have programs in the
elementary schools designed to help them learn English. Children who arrive at school with
strong oral language skills, in whatever language they speak, are the children who are going to
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do well in school. If those strong oral language skills are strong skills in Khmer or strong
skills in Spanish, they. will serve the children well.

The early transition into English is in absolutely no sense justified as an educational strategy.

Chairman Riggs. Well, I guess-we could get off on that tangent and have an interesting debate.
on that as well. 1 want to thank Dr. Snow for thoroughly muddling the issue with her .
professional expertise.

You have done a great job today, by the way, collectively, of confusing us. We are now
befuddled with respect to the reauthorization. Congressman Roemer.

Mr. Roemer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank-you for holding this befuddling hearing
this morning.

1 want to thank all our witnesses. I am a very, very strong proponent and supporter of Head
Start. I could spend my entire 5 minutes and maybe 50 months.taiking about- how strongly I
support it and how good a job it has done in the-past, but that is not what these hearings are all
about.

These hearings are about finding opportunities to improve existing. programs, to-reform and
modify existing programs, and if they are not working well enough in some capacities or in
some areas, to revolutionize those existing programs. - And that is why I am here, is to find out
how we can continue to work together in a bipartisan way as a Congress with your good
expertise and your good advice here from the field and-from academic life. -

Let me see if I can try to discern a little bit of what we are hearing from the different witnesses
in terms of some educational components or transition projects which link with our Head Start
programs and our schools, or to put specific performance standards into our Head Start
programs.

Now, one of the things the Head Start programs prided themselves.on, and many Members of
Congress have said is good, is the variance from one program to another and the local control.
We have a huge dichotomy here in Congress when it comes to setting standards for our
schools. We had deep divisions on that question when we voted on that earlier this year.
Should we set standards for our elementary schools and our high schools? Congress was
deeply divided.

Specifically, Dr. Zigler, Dr. Snow, anybody else, do you recommend .that Congress set.these
specific readiness requirements for the Head Start program?

Mr. Zigler: There are.two issues. First of all, there are already performance standards. 1
think performance standards are absolutely necessary to guarantee quality. Those standards
are now in place.
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Mr. Roemer. You recommended six that you might agree on when we set up the different
programs.

Mr. Zigler. I want to draw a distinction for you. There are performance standards that are
processes. You have to do such-and-such. You have to have a curriculum. You cannot have
just nothing. That is a standard. But then you have goals that you are trying to accomplish.
That is what Head Start has never had. And, yes, I think that it is time.

I think the efforts to establish those goals are in place now. I think my recommendation to
Congress would be, insist that those kinds of standards are developed. But I would not write
into law at this point in time what those standards ought to be because it takes a process to
develop those kinds of standards. That process is in place now.

But I do want such standards, because I think that after 33 years of the life of a program that
taxpayers and Congress have every right to say, what exactly are the goals of this program and
how are you going to assess whether you got to those goals or not.

Mr. Roemer. Let me put you on the spot again here, Dr. Zigler. We have a program that is
33 years old. You say we have the process now being studied and maybe put into place. If we
do not write it into law, how much time should we give these readiness or academic
vocabulary standards? Must we wait for the next reauthorization?

Mr. Zigler. No, that would be

Mr. Roemer. Then we do demonstration projects in some of the schools?

Mr. Zigler. No, I am as impatient as anybody else. My life has been intimately involved in
this program for 33 years. It has taken us so long. Ididn't do it. Of course, there were not
any performance standards; I wrote the first performance standards. Dr. Horn did not do it.
Nobody has done it until these people came along. They are in the middle of doing it now.

I have examined some early efforts of the group that is doing it. I think we are talking about a
time frame, probably, of 2 years to develop those standards. If we waited 33 years to do it
right, we can wait 2 more years to get the job done well.

Mr. Roemer. Dr. Snow, should we have

Chairman Riggs. Would the gentleman yield on one point briefly? And we will turn the clock
off so he has adequate time. But I think we are getting confused here.

Mr. Roemer. Yes, that was the fastest 5 minutes I have ever seen.
Chairman Riggs. On the use of terms, Dr. Zigler, a moment ago you made a very clear

distinction between goals and standards, and you said we had standards in place. But you
concluded your response to Congressman Roemer's question by saying we are going to need a
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minimum of 2 years to develop these standards. Did you mean goals?

Mr. Zigler. 1 misspoke. My apologies. It is not the goals. The goals are rhetoric. The goals.
are rhetoric. What you have to do with the goal is operationalize them and the specific
measures that you are going to use to assess your success or failure.

So I simply misspoke. My apologies.

Mr. Roemer. Dr. Snow, let me put you on the spot. What kind of measures should we have,
and should we do it faster than what Dr. Zigler has recommended?

Ms. Snow. I think we could perhaps do it a little faster, .if everybody on the Subcommittee
starts by reading the National Academy report, called Preventing Reading Difficulties-in
Young Children, because in that report the committee of 17 scholars and practitioners who put
the report together spent:a fair amount of time achieving agreement on what performances,
what skills children of different ages should be able to display, children who will go on to have
the opportunity to learn to read with minimal difficulties.

So we pretty much know what 3-year-old children should be able to do, what 4-year-old
children should be able to do. And if Head Start programs, if professional personnel in the
Head Start programs around the country know about those expectations, and we all can agree
that those are appropriate expectations for 4-year-old children, then they can be incorporated
into the kinds of activities that the Head Start classrooms engage in. They would start to drive
the goals of the classrooms without the necessity of having draconian efforts.

Mr. Roemer.. Not to put words in your mouth, then, you do agree we should have some
standards and you agree it could happen faster than a 2-year time frame?

Ms. Snow. Yes.

Ms. Joyner. Congressman, if I could add to that, I would like to put this in the context of the
Results Act and, again, to work with the terminology, which can be very confusing here. But
part of my statement, or what I was commending them for, and I agree with Dr. Zigler in this
regard, is that they have made great strides in complying with, in fact, the mandate in the last
reauthorization that they develop performance measures, and with the Results Act concept of
having overall mission statement, a goals statement, and some strategies to link what they do
day to day with that.

I have in front of me, for example, their first progress report on the Head Start program
performance measures, which came out in May of 1997. I understand their second progress
report is now being reviewed. We have not been allowed to see it yet, but this will be coming
out. This really lays out a model that says, if we are trying to achieve social competence, here
are the things we have to do. Some of those are processes which tie in with the standards.
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The standards, as they use the term, simply I don't mean simply, it is extremely important, but
it means this is how you will do things; you will have these positions filled, you will carry out
things. And that has been the mind-set, is quality means we did the things the way experts
believed we ought to do them. Now, I think they are to be commended that they moved
beyond that to say we have three objectives that relate to standards or processes.

We also, for the first time, have two that, at a broad level, are simply rhetoric, "enhanced
families' ability to nurture and improve children's skills." But they have also identified
specific measures and what the numbers need to be; and that is where the study that we spoke
of earlier, the FACES study, is designed to collect that information. Because, yes, they have
become specific on what we really hope to have happen, but have had no way to now that we
know how good we want to be, how will we find out if the children are gaining those skills and
the parents are gaining these skills? So this is a study intending to collect that for the first
time.

And I think that goes back to my term about conceptually sound, methodologically sound.

And it provides a good base to build on now to look at the local grantee level to see, are they
achieving those outcomes for the amount of money being spent in this local program? Are
they achieving the outcomes, the gains that now for the first time they have articulated? And is
a program that uses one kind of curriculum actually doing a better job than a program using
another kind of curriculum?

So they have the tools to move to that next step to make those comparisons.

Mr. Roemer. Well, having been someone who has visited Head Start programs in Indiana and
in other States, including D.C., there is such a wide variance between what these Head Start
programs achieve and what, if any, kinds of academic and literacy objectives they sometimes
have, I think it is extremely important for us to be able to measure from one program to
another what we are accomplishing and what results we are attaining.

Let me come to another equally divisive and politically charged issue, and that is professional
development in our Head Start programs.

Some people have testified that these are enhanced babysitters taking care of our children,
other people have said that we do not pay them enough. When you look at pay scales for what
we pay Head Start teachers, starting them many times at $13,000 a year and they reach a
$20,000 salary after many years, we often pay people picking up our garbage, we often pay
zoo keepers taking care of animals, we often pay parking attendants taking care of our
automobiles much more money than we pay people taking care of our children.

And oftentimes these children are children that can be coming from very difficult, challenging
circumstances; it takes a great deal of expertise to work with these children to equip them with
the needed skills to then be prepared to learn and take on this challenging environment that
they are going into. Yet, in this Head Start program we only pay people $13- to $17,000 a
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I think the real challenge for this Congress is going to be, are we going to are Republicans and .

Democrats going to work in a bipartisan way on trying to improve the qualifications for people
coming into the schools and trying to make sure that these qualifications continue to go up to
B.A. and other levels, but that we-also increase the money and the pay? And for Democrats,
maybe increasing the professional development and the standards and the qualifications will be
difficult on our side; and for Republicans maybe paying them more is going to be difficult, as
that has been shown in the past.

I am for both. I think that we need to move in both directions. More pay, more
qualifications, and more reward, so we do not have the attrition rates we have in our Head .
Start programs. I think it is just ludicrous, ludicrous that we expect to improve Head Start
programs and pay somebody $13,000 a year to try to get these children ready for our public
schools and our private schools. Dr. Zigler, as the father of Head Start, what do we do here?

Mr. Zigler. First, I would like to say "amen," because I could not agree with you more. AsI
said before, there is no free lunch. We have study after study that indicate that the outcomes
of children in these:intervention programs is related to the quality of the program, very central
to the quality of a Head Start program, particularly if-we are thinking about school readiness,
consistent with what Dr. Snow has said and Dr: Horn has said. . I think we are all speaking
with a single voice, that a very central person in determining the-quality :is the teacher of that
Head Start.

The magic of Head Start, as far as child change, takes place at the intersection between that
teacher in the Head Start program and the child, the same way as in the home the parent and

the child. So anything that you could de-to enhance that, but again, you cannot hire a BA-level:.
person for $17,000 or $13,000. So if you. really want to enhance the quality-of Head Start, I -
can think of no move that would enhance it quicker and have a quicker payoff than to demand.

a higher level of teaching ability and pay for that higher level.

Mr. Roemer. Dr. Zigler, does not that come right back to our first point about the standards
and performance and readiness, that if we are going to insist on the first part, that we have
some of these different academic requirements in Head Start? How do you do that with a
person coming.in at $13,000 a year that.will.probably not have those skills to be able to get
this intersection accomplished?

Mr. Zigler. You cannot. It is impossible-

Mr. Roemer. Dr. Snow?

Ms. Snow. I agree entirely.

And another point that you mentioned, namely the attrition, becomes very relevant here. One -
of the problems with the very low pay scale within Head Start is that the on-the-job learning,
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the professional development that goes on in the classroom as teachers learn how to be better at
doing what they are doing, goes to waste because the pay scale is so low that it is very hard to
retain teachers in Head Start programs.

Mr. Roemer. Do you have any idea what the attrition rate is in our Head Start programs?

Ms. Snow. I do not have any national figures on that. I know the attrition rates in
Massachusetts was halved for Head Start teachers 10 years or so ago when State funds were
used to enhance hourly wages for Head Start teachers. It improved the quality of what was
going on in the programs enormously because there really was a chance for on-the-job
professional development of those teachers.

Ms. Dollar. Teacher recruitment and retention is almost at a crisis point in education in
general. With class reduction in California, we struggle to hang on to our teachers because all
of our BA-level teachers were recruited by the school districts.

Our teachers in our Head Start program must have a minimum of an AA degree and a
California Children's Center permit to enter into the system, and six continuing units of
education annually. A competing priority is to make entry-level positions available to the
parents in our program as well, and that is where staff development and continuing education
funded by Head Start is so critical.

Our program is funded almost 50 percent by parents, prior parents in our program, and can be
some of our most intensely committed and dedicated teachers. But that is an early and long-
term commitment to education and professional development when you bring a parent in at an
entry-level position, and so much of the focus needs to go in that area.

Mr. Roemer. Ms. Dollar, how many people do you have on staff at your Head Start
program?

Ms. Dollar. Almost 150.
Mr. Roemer. How many have BAs?

Ms. Dollar. Of our teaching staff or our management staff? Of our teacher staff, a third have
BAs.

Mr. Roemer. A third. And what type of attrition have you seen out of that third to the public
schools or have been recruited away?

Ms. Dollar. We have probably lost about a third of that third over the last 2 years with class
reduction. And those that have stayed have stayed because of other kinds of positions that we
could create within the agency to help them move up the career ladder more into management
positions, mid-management positions, supervisory positions. And that came as a result of



60

getting larger expansion, other program grants that we were able to compete for as well.

Mr. Roemer. So let me see if I have this right. Thirty-three percent of your teachers have
BAs; you have been able to retain a third of those 33 percent?

Ms. Dollar. [Nodding in the affirmative.]
Mr. Roemer. So we are down to about 11 or 12 percent?

Ms. Dollar. Yes. ButI don't necessarily equate a B.A. degree with a high-quality early
childhood education teacher. We have many teachers who have AA degrees and who have
California Children's Center permits and ongoing units whose quality of teaching is every bit
as high as a BA degree.

I would rather have an AA-degreed teacher with an early childhood degree than a BA-level
teacher with an education degree in general. There is a much more highly focused curriculum
content when someone comes out of a 2-year program with an early childhood education
degree as well.

Mr. Roemer. And you feel comfortable with those people now being able to take on some
enhanced readiness and academic building goals? '

Ms. Dollar. It is continued education. As the program grows, we must provide the continued
support in education for the staff that we have. But, again, there is a certain amount of growih
that comes from continuity with the program as well as bringing people from outside in and
starting them fresh in the program as well.

Mr. Roemer. . Thank you. Ms. Aguilar?

Ms. Aguilar. Thank you. Just a quick comment on our school districts that have Head Start -
programs in L.A. County. All of them have teachers with Bachelor's degrees. But I wanted
to add another recommendation, perhaps, along this issue of teacher preparation.

As Ms. Dollar mentioned, in California we have a teacher crisis because of class size
reduction, and so any additional credentialing requirements for Head Start teachers, I think,
should be phased in. One of the recommendations that we would offer is that we have a
"grandmother clause" for those teachers who have been working with Head Start for many
years, so we do not lose those individuals.

“The other is that the flexibility is important, State by State, in terms of teacher preparation, -
because there are a variety of ways in which we can prepare early childhood development
teachers and Head Start teachers, not just with Associate degrees or Bachelor degrees,
although those are important, especially if they have a focus on early childhood, but we have
in California, for example, the CDA, Child Development Associate, training program. There
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is NAEYC that has training programs, as well as National Head Start Association.

So there are a variety of ways in which we can prepare teachers and it ought to be a local issue
for us to address. There is no one-shot deal, I think.

Mr. Roemer. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, thank you for the extended time.

Chairman Riggs. Of course. And I might note for the record that we look forward to visiting
Congressman Roemer's district, I think later this week. We were juggling times, because I
have to get back here to fulfill a family commitment, but we are looking forward to going to
South Bend for our field hearing at the end of the week. Then we hope continuing on to field
hearings in Texas during the July 4th District Work Period, as well, as I alluded to earlier, to
my congressional district. .

I can hear those stomachs growling out there. I know we have gone through the lunch hour,
but I mentioned at the end of my last comments that I felt a certain amount of confusion
seeping in. So I cannot conclude the hearing on that note. Iam going to see if I can, with a
few more questions, perhaps seek some clarity and consensus, and I will try to be very brief on
this.

I do want to piggyback on what Congressman Roemer just said, because.I agree with him it is
imperative that we increase professional development. Some of the ideas we have been

kicking around include the ideas that he mentioned, as well as possible linkages to the regional
labs for early childhood training; the possible use of a demonstration project funding to

promote professional development, greater professional development; increasing the amount of .
quality improvement funding for professional development.

And I think it is safe to say that both the House and the Senate bills will address professional
development, so we solicit your ideas and your advice in that respect. And as I think Ms.
Freeman may have mentioned in her testimony, we are going to go back, and we will examine
the professional development language in the House and Senate, literacy, our reading
excellence bills.

That said, I have a very specific question. Do you think and these do not have to be anything
more than yes or no responses, unless you want to elaborate do you think that given our
commitment to enhanced professional development, it would be reasonable and maybe even
prudent to establish a goal that by the year 2003, say the end of this reauthorization, that the
majority of Head Start classrooms would have a teacher with a college degree, either an
Associate's degree or a Bachelor's degree? Ms. Aguilar, do you think that would be a
reasonable requirement in the reauthorization? :

Ms. Aguilar. Yes, if there is an emphasis in.early childhood development.

Chairman Riggs. Ms. Dollar?
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Ms. Dollar. Yes, Ido. And, again, I would like the emphasis on early childhood education.
Chairman Riggs. Do any of our other witnesses want to comment on that?
Mr. Zigler. Yes.

Chairman Riggs. Do you think, again, for any or all of our witnesses, that the primary goal of
the reauthorized act should be school readiness, however we ultimately define school
readiness? Dr. Zigler, you are nodding your head yes?

Mr. Zigler. Yes, I think that would end forever this ambiguity about what the goal of Head
Start is. Say it loudly and clearly, we are in this business to produce school readiness, which
is a realistic goal of a 1-year program.

Chairman Riggs. Dr. Snow?
Ms. Snow. Yes.
Chairman Riggs. Dr. Horn?

Mr. Horn. Iam more ambivalent, because I do think that an emphasis ought to be on trying
to do some interesting work regarding transition. And to make the emphasis not just on the
goal being at the end of the enrollment of Head Start for that particular child being ready, but
the question is, ready for what? And to spend some time paying attention to the what, which is
the schools they transition into.

Chairman Riggs. That is a very good point. So focus on maybe the back end of the Head
Start program as well as the front end.

But speaking of the front end, do you think we ought to expand the Early Head Start program,
the Early Head Start funding? You recognize, of course, that taxpayer resources are finite;
that however it continues to grow in subsequent years, with the increase in annual spending,
what we call appropriations here in Washington, that we are still talking about a limited pie, so
to speak.

And in that context, I should point out there is this debate. 1know as a former appropriator
and having sat on the Appropriations Subcommittee in question, the Labor-HHS
Appropriations Subcommittee, that the debate internally within the Appropriations Committee,
our colleagues that serve on the Appropriations Committee, is this question of whether we will
emphasize quantity over quality.

There are many Members of Congress I think this is certainly implicit in Congressman
Kasich's request to the GAO, by the way who believe that we should emphasize the highest
quality of services; that is to say, that we should ensure that children who are now enrolled in
Head Start receive the highest quality of service before expanding the program to serve more
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children.

I think there is this expectation that has now, if you will, sort of seeped in that there are going
to continue to be large spending increases each and every year, spending increases that far
exceed the rate of inflation.

So there is this quantity/quality, and I don't want to get bogged down in that, but I do want to
ask you very specifically and I have not had a chance to run this by my Democratic colleagues,
but one of the things we are thinking about doing is increasing, I believe, the set-aside from 5
percent.to 10 percent for. what I call Early Head Start, ages from birth to 3.

Does anybody have an opinion about that particular.idea? Dr. Snow?

Ms. Snow. This is an enormously-conflicting sort of question to have to respond to, since-
obviously Early Head Start provides crucial services of a very different kind from Head Start -
itself, and services that families in need probably benefit from.

But I would point out that Early Head Start, unlike old-fashioned Head. Start, is being subjected
to a randomized trial evaluation, and that it is possible to do a randomized impact study for
Early Head Start because Early Head Start actually does provide new services, such that it is
possible to get families to agree to sign up with the possibility that they will be excluded from
receiving services, since Early Head Start is, in many cases, the only source of those services.

I personally think that a randomized trial is impossible with Head Start, because there are so
many alternative programs available that you really do not know what you are comparing the
families that have not gotten admission to Head Start to. But I would personally, if it were my
money, which I guess it is actually, isn't it- ’

Chairman Riggs. It is all of our money. I like you putting it that-way. Yes.

Ms. Snow. I would not expand Early Head Start as rapidly as going from 5 percent to 10
percent of the money in this next appropriations period, but would wait to see what the effect’
of the impact-study is and invest those dollars:in improving the quality of Head Startsprograms .-
and expanding Head. Start.

Chairman Riggs. You don't think that the recent research on brain development would
warrant a gradual I should have said, by the way, that what we are contemplating is a gradual
increase in the set-aside of 1 percent per year from the 5 percent set-aside under current law to
10 percent, say, at the end of a 5-year reauthorization bill.

Ms. Snow. Obviously, if there were unlimited funds, that would be a wonderful thing to do.
Chairman Riggs. Well, there are not unlimited funds. Anybody else? Dr. Horn?

Mr. Horn. One of the largest evaluations of its-kind in. the birth-to-five program, the
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comprehensive child development program showed there was no difference between those who
got the program and those that did not. So I would agree with Dr. Snow, that if you have
limited resources to target, I would target them to improving Head Start. We do, however,
have data that would suggest that it does have an impact when expanding the Head Start
program, as opposed to shifting dollars away from Head Start to Early Head Start.

Ms. Dollar. From the field, we would like to see an emphasis on quality for services for
children but also have the opportunity, with existing grants and expansion grants, to serve birth
through five when it meets the local need.

Chairman Riggs. So you are arguing for a little more money and a little more flexibility at the
local level?

Ms. Dollar. Yes.

Chairman Riggs. And I also want to, before we conclude,'make sure I completely understand
Dr. Joyner's testimony.

As I understand it, very succinctly. Dr. Joyner, you have testified today that it is your office's
opinion that Head Start does not have sufficient measures in place currently for the Secretary
of Health and Human Services to measure performance or outcome; is that correct?

Ms. Joyner. We believe that the measures that they have, as I have spoken to, that those are
probably good measures as far as defining, this is what we want you to be able to do. Our
concern is that the processes of comparing children in Head Start with children not in Head
Start, that the processes they have in place right now are not sufficient to give us the solid
answers that we think are needed about the impact.

We believe they ought to give some serious consideration to impact evaluations, that we have
talked about; that they ought to do those and look at making their current designs provide
better comparisons.

I just wanted to clarify on the issue about random assignment. One thing we talked about, at
least informally with staff at the other hearing, and we pointed out in our report is that by
saying we think Head Start HHS should spend some more resources on an impact evaluation,
we are not saying that what you must do is one randomized study nationwide that compares
children in Head Start with children not in Head Start. That is an oversimplification of what
we are talking about. I think comparing children in Head Start with children not in Head Start,
but in other kinds of programs, is perhaps more instructive.

And you have also been hearing about a large unserved population. So I think the idea of

finding children who are in something else but not Head Start is, in fact, feasible. And that is
where we believe HHS, the Department does not go far enough.
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Chairman Riggs. 1 understood that. And I also understood you to testify you:don't feel the
Department goes far enough in that the performance standards or performance measures that .
are in place now do not apply to the individual grantee.. -

Ms. Joyner. To the local level, that's:correct.
Chairman Riggs. But I thought Ms. Dollar said there are performance--

Ms. Joyner. There are standards on how you must do things. - Those have existed -and they
still exist. My point is that now that they have established. some outcome measures, what we
would say is, this is the kind of gain we want to see in language skills, this is the kind of
improvement we want to see in the parents' parenting skills, now that they have focused on
some outcome measures, not just what we are going to do to, with, and for the child, that we .
think there would be value in extending those to the local grantee level. .

Chairman Riggs. You don't have any problem with that, Ms. Dollar, do you? -

Ms. Dollar. Let me comment. I have been in-early education for 27 years; and Head Start is
held to a higher level of accountability than any other comparable early .childhood program.

We have a revised set of performance standards that come from the national level. Each local
Head Start program submits an integrated work plan that describes their approach to
implementation of those performance standards. The next step is the implementation of the
performance measures, which are in development right now. ‘We are.eager to receive those
performance measures and to see the program compared to other programs. But there are no
other programs that have the accountability measures that Head Start has in place just at
present.

Chairman Riggs. Okay. But I think everybody could agree that it would be a good thing to
try to develop performance measures for individual grantees and that that might actually allow -
us to address, and I speak now from the perspective of the authorizing Subcommittee
Chairman, because I keep hearing the concerns again on the budget and appropriations side,
particularly in an era of very competitive budgets, about having some cost-benefit analysis
done on the Head Start program; actually having some data we-could look at with respect to
cost-benefit. :

I hear Ms. Dollar saying as the operator of an award-winning program saying, we would
welcome those kinds of challenges.

Ms. Dollar. We welcome performance measures. And I think there are many programs in the
field that have developed individual performance measures. And I think we are looking-
forward to a standardized set of performance measures that we can use.

Chairman Riggs. One other type.of priority question is should we, -given Dr. Horn's"
testimony, given this bipartisan welfare reform legislation enacted by Congress and signed into
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law by the President, should we give priority to full-day, full-year in the reauthorization? In
other words, trying to help single parents who have to struggle against heroic odds to make
that very difficult transition from welfare to work, and promote more collaboration in this idea
of seamless integration with respect to Head Start and TANF?

I want to get the perspective of Ms. Aguilar and Ms. Dollar. By the way, do you know how
many of your clients are TANF eligible or TANF participants?

Ms. Aguilar. Forty-five percent in Los Angeles County.

Chairman Riggs. And your feeling, again, with respect to giving priority to this idea of full-
day, full-year?

Ms. Aguilar. I think incentives for partnerships with existing child care programs are very,
very important. Any tools, that we can help create this wraparound, seamless program for
families, the reality that you mentioned earlier, calls for that. Families are working full days.
I would support that.

Chairman Riggs. Ms. Dollar.

Ms. Dollar. In Solano County, 75 percent of our families are TANF recipients; in Napa
County, 25 percent are TANF recipients. We very much want the opportunity to transition
into full-day, full-year where it is appropriate.

What we do not want to lose is the full, comprehensive approach to family support and family
interaction. We do not want just to become a traditional child care program and lose that
whole-family-intensive components.

Chairman Riggs. I understand that, but should a TANF recipient receive the highest priority
for consideration for services under the reauthorized act?

Ms. Dollar. In our full-day, full-year expansion grant, we are giving priority to TANF
families. That is important for our area.

Chairman Riggs. Okay. And you are still testifying that you would like flexibility in income-
eligibility, and perhaps some sort of sliding fee rules that would facilitate full-day, full-year
participation in Head Start for working families?

Ms. Dollar. Right. I do not think those things are competing. I think those things can both
be addressed at the same time.

Chairman Riggs. Okay. And this is probably my last quesnon but I always figure you hold
your bombshell to the end.
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In considering any changes to the funding formula under Head Start and I long ago recognized
any kind of funding formula change ensures a bitter, knockdown, drag-out political battle in
the Congress but in considering a funding formula change, should we, at the minimum, update
the "hold harmless," A; and, B, should we consider that new money goes outunder a revised -
formula, a revised formula that could be exclusively TANF, or some combination TANF and
the latest or most current poverty data?

So it is a twofold question for anyone that wants to respond. Should we update the funding
formula; and secondly, should we consider changing the funding formula for new money?
And new money, of course, are any annual spending increases through the appropriations bill
for the Head Start program. Does anybody want to even try that? Dr. Horn, certainly you
must have an opinion. : '

Mr. Horn. Formula fights are not very.pleasant things to behold. -

I do think that whatever-you do, whether it is in the funding formula or whatever, you ought to
use this opportunity to integrate Head Start more fully-into the reality of welfare reform. The
world has changed because of welfare reform in lew-income communities, and if Head Start
does not change with it, it will be left behind or become irrelevant. Or even worse, it will
drag it down.

So whether that is best accomplished through-a change in the funding formula or some other
mechanisms, you have to figure out a way and make a priority- within this reauthorization to
ensure that those who are participants in welfare-to-work programs through TANF are not
somehow then excluded from.the opportunity to enroll their kids in Head Start, which is-
precisely what can happen when you have a part-day, part-year program and -yet welfare-to-
work programs are moving people into full-day, -full-year work. - :

Chairman Riggs. That is a point very well taken, Dr. Horn. But there are those who have -
argued, for example, that a funding.formula change that would stipulate new money would go
out based primarily on TANF caseloads, primarily or exclusively on TANF caseloads, would
actually, in a way, work against those States, or act as a disincentive for those States that have
done a good job, either been on the cutting edge of welfare reform or have done a good job of
moving more folks from welfare to work.- '

Mr. Horn. For example, there are seven counties in the State of Wisconsin that do not have a
single person on cash welfare anymore. If you were to put out the money based upon a
formula, you would be punishing them.

So you have to be careful when you change formulas for the law of unintended consequences,
which unfortunately rears its head all too often.

Ms. Dollar. Ihave two comments about funding. One, we certainly want to emphasize

Federal-to-local funding. We would not like to see Head Start block-granted to States. We
know that the continuity and the flexibility that Federal-to-local funding allows enables us to

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

~J
AW’



68

meet the needs of individuals in our communities.

And, number two, I would certainly like to emphasize that funding remain with existing
agencies. We know that regionalization of Head Start works. We know that we have been
able to consolidate for better cost-effectiveness; to see four or five competing Head Start
programs within one community is ludicrous, and the levels of administrative structure that
that costs is not cost efficient.

Chairman Riggs. Ms. Aguilar?
Ms. Aguilar. Chairman Riggs, I would like to ask Dr. Kennedy to respond to your question.
Chairman Riggs. That would be fine.

Mr. Kennedy. Thank you. As you know, I am the Director of the L.A. County Office of
Education Head Start State Preschool Programs, and in working with TANF and Head Start,
the area around changing the formula has been discussed briefly among the child welfare
providers, and the thought was, maintaining the Head Start formula as it is. But since TANF
has a chance because it is new to change, the area would be in where the welfare recipients
receive TANF dollars and they enroll their kids in Head Start, that the most cost-effective,
cost-efficient way would be for them to pay for part of the Head Start program for the rest of
the day that their kid maintains, since Head Start is already a half-day program, which would
allow TANF dollars to be spread twice as far because you already have, in our case, 45
percent Head Start.

TANF recipients, if they were going for straight child care, they would have to pay for 100
percent of the day; the other half percent of the dollars, if they are enrolled in Head Start,
could be used to wrap around.

Chairman Riggs. I appreciate the thoughtful suggestions. We will look forward to working
closely with you and each of our witnesses. Our timetable is to, I guess I should say within the
next 2 to 4 weeks, to produce a discussion draft, a preliminarily draft of the legislation. If you
are interested, we would certainly like to share that with you at that point in time and to seek
your specific thoughts and ideas. Iknow none of you will be bashful. Our intent is to get the
best bill possible and to pass this legislation in this session of Congress.

With that, I again thank each of our witnesses for their participation today.

The Subcommittee stands adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 1:40 P.M., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
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STATEMENT BY CONGRESSMAN JOHN L. MICA
Before the House Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families-
June 9, 1998

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, I am pleased to have an opportunity to
testify today on how we can work together-to improve Head Start. Let me say at the outset that I
have been a strong supporter of the Head Start concept and unequivocally believe that we can
make no greater investment than to intervene early in the lives of our disadvantaged children. If
we do not extend that effort and make resources available, we will pay a much larger price in
social programs, public assistance and in our criminal justice system. We can produce poets,
professionals, and productive public citizens or public charges and prisoners -- the choice is ours.

The reason [ am here today is because I believe Head Start has strayed from its original
mission. I believe it was in fact established to give disadvantaged children a head start, a ‘leg
up’, and exposure to experiences they had been deprived of, and enrich their lives and abilities so
they could better compete in our schools and function in their lives. 1am afraid that while well
intended, what we have done instead in certain instances is built an‘inflexible, costly; and
sometimes unresponsive bureancracy that has lost sight and purpose of its original mission.

Let me provide as an example one of the Head Start programs in Central Florida that
serves two counties. The program services approximately 478 students. Just the local cost per
student is $6,165.86 dollars per year. By contrast, our best private programs cost, on average,
$2,265.86 less. My largest parochial preschool program has more students, one superintendent-
one aide, and costs less than half as much annually for an even more extensive and
comprehensive program. The Head Start program does not have a single state certified teacher in
the classroom. These teachers earn from approximately $11,000 to $17,000 per year. We have
25 teaching positions and 25 teacher assistants. . We also have, as mandated under the morass of
federal Head Start regulations, a small army of federal employees--call them what you may--to
administer and oversee the program. We fund around 220 positions with salaries ranging, on
average, from $40,000 to $80,000 per year. What is sad is that not only does this Head Start
program cost twice as much, it does not give what I believe is a head start to these disadvantaged
children.

What are some of the problems? Head Start has often turned into a minority grouping and
minority employment program. Children-fail to get positive exposure to language, cultural and
educational experiences. .Head Start was.intended to lift children from a cultural and educational
disadvantaged position -- not to extend their disadvantaged status. - Our least advantaged children should
be afforded the best teaching skills. Instead, we have created a sub-class of glorified babysittersto
influence children at this most critical educational and developmental stage.

Another problem relates to smaller service area programs. Inflexible federal Head Start
regulations and the mass of administrative, so called educational bureaucracy causes some programs like
ours to spend a fortune on miscellaneous, well sounding, and well intentioned positions that have little
impact on the children we set out to give a head start. Some of this mass of overhead can be absorbed in
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the larger systems of Chicago, New York or Los Angeles but, our community and many others should
be allowed more fiexibility or waivers to provide cost and program effective Head Start assistance.

1 did not come here to criticize Head Start but rather, to see if we could get it back to it’s original
mission -- to enhance programs and expand the opportunity to many more children. Today I would
plead with this committee to explore several alternatives to current Head Start program requirements.

First, consider a limited voucher program where parents could place their children in pre-
approved preschool programs. Local school boards would certify area programs eligible to participate.

A second alternative would be charter Head Start programs. General qualifying guidelines
would be established as they are with charter schools but, these Head Start programs would operate
without the morass of federally required bureaucracy and regulations.

A third proposal would be to block grant an amount to school boards or other qualifying
institutions of higher learning in order to establish local programs sans all of the current federally
required mandates. Universities and colleges, particularly those with education and post graduate
teaching programs, should be brought into this process. Disadvantaged children in Head Start programs
should have access to the highest levels of teaching skills and educational talent rather than a forced
grouping with mediocre attendant monitoring.

I believe you have one of the most important tasks for reshaping the lives of thousands of our
most needy children. While every program could use more money as a “band-aid” solution to it’s
problems, here is an opportunity to enhance and expand a program simply by providing a little more
flexibility and imagination.

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, thank you for your time and I look forward to
working with you as we work together to improve Head Start.

#HHt
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. Asyoumay.know,lmtheuﬂymanb«ofthisCong&wlwisagad\mcoﬁhe.Had
Start program. 1am actually a graduate of one of the first classes in 1965 - and 1 have-my -
graduation certificate here to prove it.

. Back in 1965, my mother saw an ad in the local paper advertising this pre-school
She took a look at me and realized this was something I needed, ~ - .

o 1 have to admit, when I was 5 years old I was a sad sight. I could not walk properly as a.
child, and was forced to wear orthopedic shoes. 1 was afraid to speak-and extremely shy.

. Head Start helped change all that. My Head Start classes transformed me from a shy,
quiﬁgiﬂhnoaninqmﬁsiﬁvemduguchﬂd,ﬁﬂypmpuedwbeginlﬁndmmathe
same level as the rest of my classmates.

. 1 think snack time had a lot to do with it. The minute I saw celery and peanut butter I was
a devoted fan of my Head Start classes! :

. Seriouslydnonghl,mnposiﬁwdmﬂadSmnmsdca.uiﬁcalwmﬂmﬁoummyeﬁy
development as a child.

«  To this day, Head Start continues to benefit courtless children with their mental,
emotional, and physical development.

«  Perhaps more than any other federally-assisted social program, Head Start serves as a

symbolofhopefor_abenaﬁfefcrlowimomedﬂdrm-and.&niﬁs. Itis some of the
most wisely-invested federal/taxpayer dollars spent. .
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It gives families the initiative for them and their children to suceeed, despite personal or
economic hardship. We all get a lot of “bang for our buck” with Head Start. And, it is
one of those programs that you can pay for now, or wished you had later on.

But, Head Start is not just s child care program - it is more than that.

Head Start incorporates families and the community into the early development of its
children. Head Start is a comprehensive program of social services, early childhood
development, and health care all rolled into one. Head Start is in a class by itself,
Therefore, why make Head Start compete with other for-profit child care centers?

Head Start address child and, more importantly, family needs. It offers health, nutritional,
and social services. It puts a premium on parent involvement: encouraging and offering
services to foster parenting, literacy and employment skills.

Not only does it transform the lives of children - like it did mine - but it transforms the
lives of parents by allowing them to participate in program management and decision
making.

Attempts to incorporate vouchers, English fluency, and paternity tests into this program is
contrary to the purpose and practice of Head Start.

Vouchers would destroy Head Start as we know it. Not only financially, but also its
foundation and organization.

Head Start is already the most successful publicly funded children’s program in the nation.
Never before have vouchers been suggested as a means to improve Head Start - that's
because it won’t. If anything, it will sacrifice accountability and quality.

Parents are deeply involved, committed, and satisfied with the services Head Start
provides. Why meddle with something that works?

Reauthorization should serve to improve and expand Head Start, not to undermine its
primary components. Let us work to maintain Head Start as the success that it is, let us
make it a birth to compulsory school age program,

1 urge the leadership of this subcommittee to consider the successful history of Head Start
and to move on with its reauthorization in a bipartisan manner.

Head Start is a program that has enjoyed incredible success and bipartisan support for
over 30 years - let us continue that tradition.

We all know it is less expensive to build a child than it is to fix a broken aduklt,

Page2of 2
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Statement of
the Honorable Matthew G. Martinez
Ranking Member, Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families
Hearing on Head Start
June 9, 1998

THANK YOU MR. CHAIRMAN.

AS YOU KNOW, THIS IS THE SECOND HEARING
ON HEAD START THIS YEAR THAT HAS BEEN
CONVENED ON THE REAUTHORIZATION OF

HEAD START.

I LOOK FORWARD TO THE PERSPECTIVES

THAT WE WILL HEAR THIS MORNING.

ERIC 81
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WE ARE FORTUNATE TO BE JOINED BY OUR!
COLLEAGUES CONGRESSWOMAN LORETTA
SANCHEZ AND CONGRESSMAN JOHN MICA.
EACH MEMBER WILL PROVIDE UNIQUE VIEWS
ON HEAD START AND POSSIBLE CHANGES TO- .

BE CONSIDERED.

GIVEN. THAT MS. SANCHEZ IS A STELLAR
EXAMPLE OF THE SUCCESS OF HEAD START,
HER COMMENTS WILL BE TRULY

COMPELLING.
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IN ADDITION, I WOULD ALSO LIKE TO
WELCOME YOLIE FLORES AGUILAR, THE
PRESIDENTOF THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY

BOARD OF EDUCATION, TO THIS HEARING.

THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF
EDUCATION, OR LACOE (LAYCO), IS THE HEAD
START GRANTEE THAT OVERSEES CENTERS IN
MY CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT AND
THROUGHOUT LOS ANGELES COUNTY, THUS
MAKING ITS HEAD START PROGRAM THE
LARGEST IN THE COUNTRY. AS A LEADER

IN THIS AREA, ITS VIEW OF ANY CHANGES
THAT MIGHT BE PROPOSED IN HEAD START IS

IMMENSELY IMPORTANT.

ERIC

Full Tt Provided by ERIC.



82
I AM GLAD THAT MS. AGUILAR WILL BE
ACCOMPANIED BY DR. ANDREW KENNEDY,
DIRECTOR OF LACOE’S HEAD START-STATE
PRESCHOOL DIVISION. DR. KENNEDY HAS
SERVED THE FAMILIES OF LOS ANGELES
WELL, AND HAS PROVEN TO BE AN

INVALUABLE RESOURCE OVER THE YEARS.

ERIC 84
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HEAD START, FROM ITS ROOTS AS A
DEMONSTRATION PROGRAM IN 1965, TO ITS
VITAL ROLE AS ONE OF THE MOST EFFECTIVE
EARLY INTERVENTION EFFORTS WHICH THE
FEDERAL GOVERNMENT INVESTS IN TODAY,
HAS SERVED COUNTLESS NUMBERS OF LOW-
INCOME CHILDREN AND THEIR FAMILIES
THROUGH ITS COMPREHENSIVE SYSTEM OF

SERVICES.

ERIC
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AS MY COLLEAGUES KNOW, THE 1994
REAUTHORIZATION PROCESS WAS A
COMPREHENSIVE AND CRITICAL EVALUATION
OF THE PROGRAM. THROUGH THE CHANGES
THAT WERE AUTHORIZED TO IMPROVE
ACCOUNTABILITY AND QUALITY IN OUR
NATION’S HEAD START PROGRAMS, I BELIEVE
WE HAVE PUT IN PLACE AN EFFECTIVE AND
LOCALLY DRIVEN AND INSPIRED PROGRAM
THAT HAS SHOWN ITS BENEFICIAL EFFECTS
BOTH THROUGH RESEARCH AND MILLIONS OF.

SATISFIED PARENTS AND FAMILIES.

©
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HOWEVER, THERE ARE CLEARLY NEEDS IN
~THIS REAUTHORIZATION WHICH WE MUST
CONSIDER. 1 HAVE INTRODUCED H.R. 3880, THE
HUMAN SERVICES AMENDMENTS OF 1998, TO

ADDRESS THESE ISSUES.

IN LIGHT OF THE AVALANCHE OF RESEARCH
AND SUPPORT FOR THE IMPORTANCE OF
BRAIN DEVELOPMENT IN VERY YOUNG
CHILDREN, I STRONGLY BELIEVE WE NEED TO
INCREASE THE SET ASIDE FOR EARLY HEAD
START FROM ITS PRESENT LEVEL OF 5

PERCENT TO 10 PERCENT.

ERIC
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INTERVENING VERY EARLY IN A CHILD’S LIFE
CAN PREVENT SO MANY OF THE PROBLEMS
THAT ARE ASSOCIATED WITH POVERTY,
MALNUTRITION, AND DISABILITY. EARLY
HEAD START HAS MET THIS CHARGE AND NOW
MUST BE EXPANDED SO WE CAN HELP A.
GREATER NUMBER OF DISADVANTAGED-

YOUNGSTERS.

ERIC 88
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IN ADDITION TO OUR FOCUS ON THE
YOUNGEST OF OUR CHILDREN, I BELIEVE WE
NEED TO STRENGTHEN THE COORDINATION
AND PARTNERSHIPS BETWEEN HEAD START
PROGRAMS AND LOCAL IEDUCATION

AGENCIES.

THIS WILL HELP ENSURE THAT THE PROGRESS
THAT CHILDREN ACHIEVE IN HEAD START
WILL BE SUSTAINED THROUGHOUT THEIR
YEARS IN SCHOOL, AND ULTIMATELY,

THOUGHOUT THEIR ADULT LIVES.

89
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MY HOPE IS THAT THIS REAUTHORIZATION
PROCESS WILL MIRROR THE BIPARTISAN,
BICAMERAL SPIRIT IN WHICH WE
ACCOMPLISHED THE 1994 EFFORT. HEAD
START, ITS SERVICES AND THE BOOST THEY
PROVIDE TO LOW-INCOME CHILDREN AND.
THEIR FAMILIES, IS TOO. VITAL TO LEAVE TO..
PARTISAN WRANGLING. I LOOK FORWARD TO
WORKING WITH MY COLLEAGUES TO REACH

THIS GOAL.

THANK YOU MR. CHAIRMAN.

10
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DONALD M. PAYNE WASHINGTON OFFICE
10TH DISTRICT, NEW JERSEY "“v?:s':.?.';'i::fé ?:5"1::-:?:1[;”"5
COMMITTEES: , {202) 225-3438
covcamonmomewoneonee— (omgress of the Tnited States ot orces
PHouge of Repregentatives Feoena Bunowa '
TWashington, BE 20515-3010 Sow S
Newanx. NJ 07102
1973} 645-3213
- Opening Statement of Rep. Donald M. Payne - 333533;:5“3:3752';;“
Hearing on Head Start (908) 629-0222
Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families
Tuesday, June 9, 1998

10 a.m.

Good Moming. I would like to thank the Chairman for holding this important hearing regarding the
reauthorization of Head Start. Head Start has provided many families and young children in my
district the benefit of pre-school education since its creation in 1965. There is no doubt in my mind
that without this program many children in the Newark, New Jersey area would not have had an
opportunity to get a head start on learning. Last fall, President Clinton visited one of the 46 Head
Start sites in Newark. He personally witnessed the pride that the parents and teachers have for the
Head Start programs in my district. .
As a former kindergarten teacher, I can tell you the difference between a child who went to pre-
school and a child who did not. Those who did participatein a pre-school program were better
prepared to be in a classroom both mentally and socially. While this is antidotal evidence on my
part, recent studies have proven what many teachers and parentshave known all along. That is that
the most important years for brain development are from birth to age three and proper development
is contingent on effective stimulation and appropriate care from a loving adult. I am confident that
this new understanding of how important the early years of life are will lead this Committee to
provide an increase in the number of infants and toddlers participating in Head Start programs. I
would also urge the Committee to no longer question the merit of early leaming programs, such as
Head Start, to the next generation of children.

1 would also like to urge the Committee to recognize that Head Start deserves the bipartisan support
needed to reauthorize the program. To modify this program in a way that would jeopardize such a
bipartisan bill would be truly unfair to the 2,723 children in the City of Newark and the close to one
million children nationwide who rely on Head Start. Thank you Mr. Chairman and I look forward
to the testimony of our witnesses.
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Introduction of Ms. Yolie Flores Aguilar
President, Los Angeies County Board of Education

IT IS MY PLEASURE TO INTRODUCE MS. YOLIE FLORES
AGUILAR, THE PRESIDENT OF THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY:-
BOARD OF EDUCATION.

'WE ARE FORTUNATE THAT SHE WAS ABLE -TO COME ALL
THIS WAY TO PROVIDE US WITH THE VIEWS OF THE .
LARGEST HEAD START PROGRAM:IN THE COUNTRY, AND
SHARE HER WEALTH OF EXPERIENCE IN EARLY CHILDHOOD
ISSUES.

PRIOR TO BEING APPOINTED TO THE BOARD IN 1995, MS.
AGUILAR WAS THE DIRECTOR OF CHILD CARE FOR THE CITY
OF LOS ANGELES. SHE CONTINUES HER EFFORTS IN THIS
AREA BY WORKING WITH THE NATIONAL ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT AND LAW CENTER IN HELPING
COMMUNITIES DEVELOP CHILD CARE PROGRAMS.

IN ADDITION, MS. AGUILAR IS A CONSULTANT TO THE ANNIE
E. CASEY FOUNDATION ON CHILD-CARE AND LATINO
CHILDREN’SISSUES; AN EXECUTIVE MEMBER OF THE-
CHILDREN’S PLANNING COUNCIL, A FOUNDER AND
DIRECTOR OF THE NATIONAL LATINA ALLIANCE, AND A
BOARD MEMBER OF THE PEDIATRIC AND FAMILY MEDICAL
CENTER AND THE LOS ANGELES ROUNDTABLE FOR
CHILDREN.

THANK YOU, MS. AGUILAR, FOR JOINING US TODAY. I THINK
WE CAN SAFELY SAY THAT THE LIVES OF CHILDREN .
THROUGHOUT LOS ANGELES COUNTY ARE ENRICHED BY
YOUR WORK.
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128737 HEAD START COST IAMACDMENT SYSTEM -- OCTUBER 1991 u1rmm »ag: 1
DSTAILED REVORT ! i
i
ANT1 04CHO208 , 4-C POR CENTRAL FISRIDA, INC. :
ZEGATE: 0 , COMMWITY COORDINATRD CHILD CARE POR CENTRAL e 97
w4 STATR{ FL
DGET PERIGD: 08/01/97 TO  01/31/98 )
oE OF H.9.P.5.1 SHIRLEY BOYCR
ACYP + MPS PUNCTIONAL COSTS
.
TRM BUDGET: 1. PRRGONNEDL A. ADMINISTRATION
- 6OCIAL PARDET N LINE ITRM
ADMIN, EDOC, REALYH EUTRIT. SRRV, mVOLY.  DISAS, TRANS. occu. oTHRR TOTAL
20,130 20,130
6,370 ! €.370
. 5,381 : 5,361
. 16,296 , 16,296
N 1,880 1,608
7,348 2,346
» 7,362 7,342
. 17,340 37,340
[ 18,667 18,637
i 1,428 1,828
. 85,495 : 85,495
., 21,656 ) 23,656
i
: 201,399 201,299
ITEM BUDGRT: 3. PERSQIOGEL B. COORDINATION
i
SOCIAL PARENT LINE ITRM
ADMIN, goUC. HEALTY NUTRIT s2RV. nVOLY.  DISAD. TRANS . occuP. orien TOTAL
A 2,167 2,167 2,166 2,167 2,166 2,167 13,000
8. 4,428 4,428 4,439 4,435 4,43% 4,438 8,435 4,435 38,480
1. 26,147 26,347
3. 26,437 26,437
5. 13,060 13,068 ; 26,136
8. 12,800 12,800 | 26,600
9. 25,916 : 25,916
5t 32,743 46,829 32,837 19,670 19,669 19,402 6,413 4,428 178,116
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08/24/97 HRAD START COST MAAGEMENT SYSTUM -- OCTCOER 39:91 INSTRINVGENT PMIB: 30
DETAILRD REPORT I

GRANT: 04CH02089 , 4-C POR CRNTRAL FLORIDA, INC. .
DBLBGATE : 0 , COMMUNITY COORDINATED CHILD CARE FOR CENTRAL H P 97
REGIGN: 4 s]ram PL

BUDGBT PERIOD: 08/01/97 T0 07/32/98 |

HAMB OF B.8.P.8.: SHIRLEY BOVCE

-+ ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS. THE MAXTIORM ALLOWASLE EXPENDITURD POR ADMINISTRATIVR COSTE I8 15% OF THR TOTAL BUDGET.

“ TOTAL BUDGRT: $ 2,799,740
ARNIN. AS A FPRERCENT OF TOTALs 11.83%

1
ACYP + NPS CASH o HPE IN-KIND ADMIN. TOTAL: § 322,837 l N
i

TUB POLLOWING BUDGET LINR ITEMS RO ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS:

IKCGER PULL-TING  NUMBER PART-TIME: ADMIN COSTS AS PERCENT
CATEGORY ATMIN COSTS STAPP STAPP ; OF TOTAL BUDGET
PERSCIANEL
ADHINISTRATION
HR/TRAINING CD S 20.130 0 2 0.7a%
CONTRACTS AR $ 6,370 [ 1 0.23%
ASS? PISCAL KGR § 6,352 [ 1 0.39%
PROCUR MR 8 36,29 [ 1 0.58%
PILE QZAR ] 1,681 [ 3 i 0.06%
Bxocutive Diree  § 7,06 [} 1 e 0.26%
Fiscal slanager 8 7.362 (] X : 0.26%
Hoad Start Dire 8 37,340 1 ] ! 1.33%
Sockkeepar $ .65 ° 3 0.67%
Administracive $ 1.820 [} b3 0.07%
Secrotezy - 3 55,498 3 0 1.90%
Contar Dirsctor $ 23,856 2 ] 0.84%
WAINTERAICE N
Custodian $ 3,400 a 3 . 0.05%
FRINGE BRMERITS : :
Social Sscurity § 16,436 o K i 0.59%
Gnetployent $ 1,00 [ [ H 0.043
Horksre Cospans 3 2,57 [] [] 0.09%
Mealeh/pDental/t.  $  23.420 ° ° 0.94%
Retirement s 10,279 [ ° 0.278
Other Zringe [ 2,073 (] (] 0.07%
CCCUPANCY
Reac § 20,39 ° [ ; 0.37%
Depreviation/Us $ 628 [ 0 : 0.02%
Ueilities $ 2,014 [ 0 0.07%
Telaphone [ 9,375 ° ° X 0.23%
Building Insura 8 350 [} [} i 0.0a¢
faintenance/Rep  § 3,628 [ [ . 0.13%
Other Octupancy 8 ” [ ° 0.00%
STAPF TRAVEL
Out-of -tomn ] 3,8%¢ (] [ 0.08%
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06/24/97 . HEAD START COST MANAGENENT SYSTEM -- OCTORER 1‘9;’1 INSTRUMENT

GRANT: 04CHO208 ., 4-C POR CENTRAL PLORIDA, INC.
PELEGATE: 0 , COMMINITY COORDINATED CHILD CARE POR CENTRAL

REQION: 4
BUDGRT PRRIOD: 00/01/97 TO 07/31/90
BEAME OF X.5.9.8.1: SHIRLEY BOYCR

i. PROGRAM SCHEDULE INPORMATION. COWTINUED. . .

HOURE FER HOME VISITS

go9808g
5
[
d

BETAILED REPCRT SUMMARY ITENS

TEACH. HRS BEYOND OUILD WRS

H
3. AVERAGR CLASS 6IZE. AVERAGE CLASS SIZS FOR AUL CB, QWWWWLEWSJWIO. DEPENDING ON

DETAILED REPORT

'
|
1

STATR: L

8§ i

§-16

THE A8 OF THE CHILDABH IN THE CLASS. Ammvxsmmmmnqmumn.

SCHEDXILE NUMBER oPTICN AVERAGE CLASS EIZB/CASB LOAD

1%.12

i

T2 97

i, costs. mnmmruusmxmﬂwmmmwwmmnnmxsmmmlmmmmm

AGENCIES IN ITS STATE, REGION AND IN THE RATION AS A WHOLE.

AVERAGES .

RN AGENCY
OVERALL COST/CRILD $ 6.087
€2 cost/cHILD s 5,057
HB COST/CHILD $ [
O COST/CHILD $ [
OT COST/CHILD s []
DISAD SVCS COST/CHILD —$ 1262
ACYP COST/CHILO $  4.66
TOTAL HOURS OF SERVICR/CHILD 1,065
CB HOURS OP SRRVICR/CMILD 1,063
¥ BOURS OF SERVICE/CHILD [ ]
€O HOURS OF SERVICE/CHILD ]
T HOURS OF SBRVICE/CHILD (]

163

ETATS
§.590
5.83

22,89
an
4,74

O Mo nn

1,336
4.40¢

@

1,117
1,123
128
s
1.8

mw_
$,230
§.20)
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$,318
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Mr. Chalrman and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am pleased to be here today to discuss our work on the Head Start program.
The 30-year-old Head Start is widely viewed as one of the most successful social
programs of our time. Head Start's ultimate goal, or program purpose, is to improve the
socidl competence of children in low-income families. Critical to achieving this goal,
according to Head Start, are enhancing children's growth and development and
strengthening their families. Built on 2 philosophy that emphasizes the benefits of a
comprehensive, interdisciplinary program, Head Start has provided funding for a broad set
of educational, medical, mental health, and social services to low-income preschool
children and their families. Especially during Head Start's early years, it provided services
that participants probably would not otherwise have received. . Administered by the
Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Head Start has served over 16 million
children at a total cost of more than $38 billion. Annual funding for the program has
grown substantially in recent years~from $1.5 billion to almost $4: billion between fiscal
years 1980 and 1997-and the program is currently poised for a major expansion. The

administration's goal now is to expand the program's annual enrollment to one million .
children by 2002.

This proposed program expansion, combined with the current reexamination of
Head Start's underlying legislation as well as the demand for results-oriented programs
called for by the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 (Resuits Act), offer a.
timely occasion for considering the two major issues that my statement addresses today:
) HowweudoesHHSensureumtﬂieHeadStaxtpmgnmlsac}uemgitspmpose’ (€]

"How well is Head Start. structured to meet the needs of program participants in today's

social context, which differs significantly from that of 30 years ago?

My statement is based primarily on information from two of our recent Head Start
reports. One report provided descriptive information! on the program that we obtained in
part from surveying local Head Start agencies; the other reviewed the research literature
on the impact of Head Start’ My statement is also based on the preliminary results from
an ongoing study that we are conducting at your request on how HHS ensures that-Head

'Far our descriptive study, we surveyed all regular Head Start programs, and we obtained
responses from 86 percent of them. By "regular” Head Start, we mean programs that
operate within the scope of established Head Start program options and under normal .»
Head Start requirements. These are distinguished from.demonstration and other special
programs, which may serve populations-or offer services not normally found in Head
Start. Regular Head Start serves 85 percent of the children in Head Start:

65, Mar. 31, 1998) and Head Resea:
Current. Program (GAO/HEHS-9759 Apr 15, 1997)
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Start prograrns are accountable for complying with laws and regulations and for achieving
i program purposes. “Achieving program purposes® refers to (1) whether the Head Start

3 program has achieved outcomes such as differences in Head Start participants' growth
and development and (2) whether the program has an impact. We define impact as
differences in cutcomes, such as improved school readiness or health status, caused by

v Head Start participation. Implicit in this definition is that differences in outcomes would
not have occurred without program participation *

In summary, Head Start has, through the years, provided a comprehensive array of
services and, as envisioned by the Results Act, has in recent years substantially
strengthened its emphasis on determining the results of those services. Its processes still
provide too little information, however, about how well the program is achieving its
intended purposes. HHS has developed a performance assessment framework that
3 effectively links program activities with the program's overall strategic mission and goal
This framework also includes measurable objectives for how the program will be
implemented and what outcomes will be achieved. HHS has new initiatives that will, in

the next few years, provide information not previously available on outcomes such as
. gains made by children and their families while in the program. Currently, however, these
initiatives are limited to assessing outcomes at the national level, not at the local agency
level. In addition, we are not convinced that these initiatives will provide definitive
information on impact, that is, on whether children and their families would have
| achieved these gains without participating in Head Start. Although obtaining this kind of
E impact information would be difficult, the significance of Head Start and the sizeable
, investment in it warrant conducting studies that will provide answers to questions about
| whether the program is making a difference.

In addition to questions about the program's impact, questions exist about whether
Head Start is structured to meet the needs of today's participants who live in a society
o much changed since the mid-1960s when the program was created. Families' needs have
changed as more parents are working full time either by choice or necessity. In addition,
children and their families can now receive services similar to Head Start's from a
growing number of other programs. These social trends raise questions about how well
Head Start is structured to meet participants' needs and, if changes are needed, what
those changes should be. For example, the predaminantly part-day, part-year structure of
w HeadSta.rtprogransmynotbeassuitedtomeedngtheparﬁcipams'needsﬂmltwas
in the past Moreaver, a lack of information about the array of community programs
available and about actions local Head Start agencies have already taken hinders
decisionmakers' ability to respond to these trends.

L AXRLE)A
2

ct (GAO/T-HEHS, 98-126,
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BACKGRQUND

Head Start was created in 1965 as part of President Johnson's War on Poverty. It
was built on the premise that effective intervention in the lives of children can be best
accomplished through family and community involvement Fundamental to this notion
was that communities should be given considerable latitude to develop their own Head
Start programs. Head Start's primary goal is to improve the sccial competence of
children in low-income families. Social competence is the child's everyday effectiveness
in dealing with both the present environment and later responsibilities in school and life.
Because social competence involves the interrelatedness of cognitive and intellectual
developmental, physical and mental health, nutritional needs, and other factors, Head
Start programs provide a broad range of services. Another essential part of every
program is parental involvement in parent education, program planning, and operaﬂng
activities.

Head Start is administered by HHS' Administration for Children and Families
(ACF), which includes the Head Start Bureau—one of several under ACF. Agencies that
deliver Head Start services at the local level may be either grantees or delegate agencies.
Unlike some other federal social service programs that are funded through the states,
HHS awards Head Start grants directly to local grantees. Grantees numbered about 1,460
in fiscal year 1997. They may contract with organizations—called delegate agencies—in the
cormmunity to run all or part of their local Head Start programs. Grantees and delegate
agencies include public and private school systems, community action agencies and other
private nonprofit organizations, local government agencies (primarily cities and counties),
and Indian tribes.

distributes Head Start funds by using a complex formula that is based upon,
among other things, previous allotments and the number of children, aged b and under,
below the poverty line in each state compared with the number in other states. Head
Start is a3 federal matching grant program, and grantees typically must contribute 20
percent of program costs from nonfederal funds. These funds can be cash, such as state,
county, and private money, or in-kind contributions such as building space and ..
equipment. The average amount of funds available per child in Head Start prograrus in
the 1996-97 program year was $5,186;* an average of $4,637° of this amount came from
Head Start grant funds. Total funds per child varied widely by program, however, ranging
from 31,081 to $17,029 per child Before using Head Start funds for services, local
agencies are required by Head Start regulations to identify, secure, and use community

*Total funding per child was calculated by dividing the funding from all sources; including
Head Start grant funds, by total funded enroliment.

’Avmgeneadsmngmntmndmgperchndwascalcmmdbydmdmgﬂeadsmnm
frnds by Head Start-funded enrollment

3 GAO/T-HEHS-98-163
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resources to provide services to children and their families. Consequently, Head Start
programs have established many agreements for services.

Head Start targets children from poor families, and regulations require that at least
90 percent of the children enrolled in each local agency program be low income. As
shown in figure 1, Head Start families are poor as indicated by several measures. During
the 1886-87 program year, more than one-half of the heads of Head Start househalds were
either unemployed or worked part time or seasonally, and about 60 percent had family
incomes under $9,000 per year. Furthermore, only 5 percent had incomes that exceeded
official poverty guidelines, and 46 percent received Temporary Assistance for Needy
Families (TANF)® benefits.

21%
$8.000 - $8.939

13%
$15.000 and Ovar

0%
30 -$5.599

]
$9,000 - $14.839

*TANF, enacted in 1996, replaced the Aid to Families With Dependent Children program.

4 GAO/T-HEHS98-163
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Source: Head Start's 1996-87 survey.

Head Start is authorized to serve children-at any age:before the age of compulsory
school attendance; however; most children enter the program at age 4. In the 1996-97
program year, most children were either 3 (31 percent) or 4 (83 percent) years old (see
fig. 2). They also shared other similar demographic characteristics. Most of the children-—
79 percent-spoke English as their main language. Spanish-speaking children constituted
the next largest language group—-18 percent. About 38 percent of the children weze black,

33 percent were white, and 25 percent were Hispanic. About 13 percent of Head Start
children had some sort of disability.
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‘Regular Head Start, which excludes Early Head Start and Migrant programs (which serve
a number of children in this age group), also serves children who are under 3 years old—
as well as children who are 6. However, both groups represent less than 1 percent of the
total

*Other includes children who are Asian or Pacific Islanders and American Indian or
Alaska Native.

‘OmermdudschﬂdrmwhosedmumtlmguagehMMNaﬂveAmeﬁmmcﬂm
language.

Source: Head Start's 199697 survey.

The Congress has recently acted to strengthen Head Start's emphasis on achieving
program purposes by, for example, requiring the program to develop performance
measures. hreauthorizlngtheHeadStmtActhtlQM,’theCongrosrequiredlﬁ!Sw
developspedﬁcpafonnmcememtorﬂeadsmnsothatpmgrmoutmmwcodd
be determined. This requirement: is consistent with the Results Act, which seeks to shift
the focus of federal management away from inputs and processes and toward outcomes.
Under the Resuits Act, agencies are required to develop goals and performance measures
thatwinbeassesedaxmuanywshowpromuowardreadﬁngﬂ\egoals. Agencies are
also egpected to conduct specific evaluation studies as needed to obtain additional
information about what federal programs are achieving.

In response to this emphasis on performance assessment, Head Start has developed
a framework that links program activities of local Head Start grantees to the program's
overall strategic mission and goal. This framework emphasizes the importance not only
of complying with statutes and regulations, but also of achieving demonstrable outcomes.
Head Start has developed five measurable, performance-based objectives. Two of these
focus on outcomes: (1) enhancing children's growth and development and 2
strengthening families as the primary nurturers of their children. The other three focus
on program activities that the agency believes are critical to achieving the two outcome
objectives: (1) providing children with educational, health, and nutritional services; @
linking children and families to needed community services; and (3) ensuring well-
managed programs that involve parents in decision-making.

P.L. 103-252.
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Overall, HHS has a methodologically and conceptually sound approach to
asswsmgommmes. HHS developed muitiple performance measures to use in assessing
progress in meeting these objectives. For each measure, HHS has established one or
more performance indicators by which to track the percentage of change. Because data
on many of these indicators were not previously available, HHS has designed initiatives to
collect the data. Head Start intends to assess progress toward these goals mainly through
the Family and Child Experiences Survey - (FACES). This survey will collect data from
families with children enrolled in a random sample of Head Start centers (3,200 families
were selected when the survey began in fall 1997), assessing them-on a wide range of
characteristics at the beginning of program participation, at the end of each year they .
partcipate, and at the end of kindergarten  Thus, Head Start will know, for example, if

participants' phymmlhealﬂ\andemergemmracyandmathandlanguageskmshave
improved.

The FACES survey, however, will collect information only at the national level. At -
the local level, HHS does not require individual Head Start agencies to demonstrate that
they have achieved program outcomes: They are only held accountable for achieving the
objectives linked specifically to activities, such as providing a developmentally
appropriate educational environment. HHS officials told .us, however, that they intend in
the future to require local agencies to-assess what outcomes they have achieved, as some
agencies already do. . HHS has no specific plan or timetable yet for when this transition -
will take place.

In addition, these HHS initiatives will not address the need for information on Head
Start's impact, limiting its ability to assess how well the program is achieving its purpose.
That is, the initiatives will not explain what caused any improved outcomes-whether the
same outcomes would have occurred if children and families were in other kinds of early
childhood programs or none at all. Although we acknowiedge the difficulty of conducting
impact studies of programs such as Head Start, we believe. that research could be done
that would assure the Congress and HHS that the current $4 billion federal investment in -
Hlead Start is achieving its purpose.

Head Start has described its FACES initiative as useful for drawing conclusions
about impact as well as outcomes, but we believe a more rigorous research. design is
needed. HHS officials have told us, for example, that the FACES results can be used to
determine program impact because each time the performance of Head Start participants
is assessed it will be compared with the "norm” or typical performance of some other .
group of children on the same test. - Although this approach has some merit, it also has .
many limitations. For example, if the group of children used to establish the norms is
unlike the children in Head Start, conclusions about program impact will be unclear. The
most reliable way to determine program impact is to compare a group of Head Start
participants with an equivalent group of nonparticipants. Comparable groups of
participants are important to determining impact because they prevent mistakenly
attributing cutcomes to program effects when these outcomes are really caused by other

7 GAO/T-HEHS-88-163

BESTCOPY AVAILABLE



121

factors. For instance, a recent evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development
Program,’ a demonstration project involving comprehensive early childhood services like
those of Head Start, found positive changes in the families participating, Because the
study could compare participants with a comparable group not in the program, however,
researchers discovered that families that had not participated also had similar positive
changes. They concluded, therefore, that the positive changes could not be attributed to
the program. Because of the importance of being able to attribute outcomes to Head
Start rather than to other experiences children and their families might have had, we
recornmended in our 1997 report’ that HHS include in its research plan an assessment of
the impact of regular Head Start programs.

Head Start operates in a social environment that differs greatly from that of 30
years ago when the program was established: more parents are working full-time, either
by choice or necessity, and many more social service programs exist to address the needs
of disadvantaged children and their families. These circumstances raise policy questions
relevant to any consideration of the Head Start program's future.

The need for early education and child care beyond the home has increased
dramatically in the last 20 years due to changes in family structure, women's employment,
and the demand for preschool education.'® The proportion of children under age 6 who
live with only one parent has increased. Due partly to the growing proportion of single
mothers, the number of those with children under 6 who work outside the home has also
increased dramatically. Welfare reform legislation, passed in 1996, may further intensify
families’' need for full-day, full-year education and child care services. Under TANF,
which was created by the 1996 legislation, states rmust place 25 percent of adults receiving
TANTF benefits in work and work-related activities in fiscal year 1997 to avoid financial
penalties. The required participation rate rises to 50 percent in fiscal year 2002. Head
Start's own data show that about 38 percent of Head Start families needed full- day, full-
year child care services in 1997. About 44 percent of the families that needed full-day,

Asocxates (Cambndge, Mass June 1997)
*GAO/HEHS-97-69, Apr. 15, 1997.

Cantract No. LC88090001, Mathernatica Policy Research, Tnc. ' N.I: 1981), p. 1.
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full-year child care services left their children at a relative's or unrelated adult's home
when the children were not in Head Start.

Because Head Start is predominantly 2 part-day, part-year program, the full-day
needs of families conflict with the way program services have traditionally been delivered.
In program year 1996-97, most Head Start children (30 percent) attended programs at
group centers, rather than in home settings;"' about half of them (51 percent) attended
centers that operated 3 to 4 hours per day. Only 7 percent of the children attended
centers that operated 8 or more hours a day (see fig. 3). Almost two-thirds of the
children attended centers that operated 9 months of the year; only one-fourth (27:percent)
of the children sttended centers that operated 10 to 11 months. And even fewer-7 :
percent-attended centers that operated year round. -

[ parosy ] parvorr

=) FusDay Ful-Yorr
Note: For this figure, programs operating 8 hours per day or more are considered full
day.

YHead Start has three approved program options: (1) children receive most servicesin a
center but sormre home:visits are-required; (2) children receive most.services irrtheir home
with some opportunities to interact in a group setting, and (3).children receive services -
that combine center attendance with home visits. Local agencies may also.get approval
for a locally designed option such as family day care homes. .
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Program officials have been asking themselves fundamental questions about how
they will operate in an environment in which more parents are wnrldng, according to our
research. For example, a New York City Head Start official described a critical dilernma:
Do we serve more children for fewer hours or fewer children for more hours? Given the
large number of unserved children in New York City, serving fewer children was
considered unwise and impractical. On the other hand, if the program continued to serve
children in part-day programs, it would not be meeting needs of many children who need
full-day services. This program has also received anecdotal reports of families who have
left Head Start programs because their hours of service are insufficient to meet families'
needs. According to the director of 2 program in Ohio, this part-day Head Start program
was “out of sync” with the needs of families who need longer hours of care for their
children. The director stated that the need for part-day services is "evaporating.*

Other aspects of the program may also conflict with the priorities of working
parents. For example, Head Start's emphasis on strong parental involvement, its
requirernent that staff visit children's homes, and its home-based service delivery option
may be more difficult to implement given the schedules of working parents. Head Start
program officials told us that welfare reform was already seriously affecting their
programs' makeup. For example, 2 Head Start director in Montana reported that the
program eliminated some of the home-based slots so that more children could attend
centers. According to a Head Start director in Pennsylvania, the changed environment
presents considerable obstacles to the home-based program. This program will try to
accommodate families' schedules and perhaps conduct home visits in the evening, but the
director acknowledged that sometime in the future home visits may no longer be feasible.

In 1997, the Congress appropriated additional funds to, among other things,
increase local Head Start enrollment by about 50,000 children. The Head Start Bureau's
priorities for allocating these funds differed from those of the past. In the past, priorities
for allocating funds to expand Head Start emphasized part-day, part-year, or home-based
services. In recognition of the increasing proportion of Head Start families needing full-
day programs for their children, however, the Head Start Bureau announced that
programs providing more full-day, full-year fHead Start services will receive special priority
for the new funds. Head Start has urged local agencies to consider combining these new
Head Start expansion funds with other child care and early childhood funding sources and
to deliver services through partnerships, such as community-based child care centers.
According to HHS officials, this shift in emphasis was responsible for the fact that more
than 30,000 of the 36,000 new enrollment opportunities for 3- to 5-year-olds will be for
full-day, full-year Head Start.

Other federal, state, and local programs as well as private organizations now
provide more services for disadvantaged children and their families than in the past Asa
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result, the role of local Head Start agencies has evolved from providing services directly
to helping participants obtain services. Local agencies, in fact, are required to identify,
secure, and use community resources in providing services to Head Start children before
using Head Start funds for these services. As figure 4 shows, Head Start often facilitates
its participants' access to services, such as immunizations, rather than provide them
directly. For example, when we asked Head Start programs the main methods used to
provide medical services for enrolled children, 73 percent of survey respondents said that
they referred participants to services, and sorne other entity or program, such as
Medicaid's Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment Program, primarily

paid for the services. Dental services were also mainly provided by entities other than
Head Start programs.

11 ’ GAO/T-HEHS-98-163
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Note: Head Start programs deliver services in a variety of ways. This figure highlights
the most direct and indirect ways Head Start programs deliver services.

Source: GAO survey.

Although the number of other programs that provide educational services has also
grown in the past 30 years, education is the one service that local Head Start agencies
typically provide by delivering it directly rather than facilitating access to it from another
source. Some Head Start program officials who contracted with private prescheools or
child care centers to provide education services described the arrangerment as offering
benefits to both Head Start and the other program. For exarmple, the arrangement
eliminated the need to find a facility for the Head Start program as well as to provide the
facility startup costs. The private center benefited from the arrangement as well because
the Head Start funds allowed the center to do some repair work and purchase computers
and playground equipment We do not know the numbers of community programs that
may provide education services, their caparity, or the overall quality of these progeams.
Head Start programs reparted, however, that an array of early childhood programs -
operate in their communities and serve Head Start-eligible children. For example, 70
percent of Head Start program respondents reported to us that their area had state-funded
preschools; 90 percent had other preschools and child development and child care centers

in their area; and 71 percent reported that family day care homes served Head Start-
eligible children in their area.

Just as Head Start is not the only community program providing specific services
to disadvantaged children and their families, it is also not the only program that uses 2
community's network of services to facilitate access to 2 comprehensive set of services.
In a 1995 report (which used 1990 data from a nationally representative sample of early
childhood centers),'* we concluded that most disadvantaged children did not receive a full
range of services from early childhood centers in part because of the limited number that
could be served and limited subsidies and in part because of such centers' limited
missions. More recent evidence, however, suggests growth in the availability of such
services for children. HHS has no information about the number of community programs
providing comprehensive services, nor did we obtain this information in our recent study;
we plan to explore this further in another study.

We do know, however, that some programs other than Head Start that serve
disadvantaged children also help children and families obtain additional services such as
medical and social services. For ezample, the Head Start grantees responding to our
survey in some cases also operated other early childhood programs for disadvantaged
children. We found that about 11 percent of the local Head Start agencies served some
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children who were eligible for Head Start through other early childhood programs.
(Respondents reported serving about 14,000 such children in program year 1996-87.)
These children received some or most-but not all—of the services typically provided to
children in Head Start programs. These programs were more likely to provide education
services, meals, social services, and immunizations; dental and medical services were least
often provided. In addition, some states offer preschool programs that emulate Head
Start's comprehensive model. In fact, some states provide services that are seemingly
identical to those provided through Head Start. For example, in 1993, Georgia initiated its
first statewide prekindergarten program. The program coordinates services for families,
and children receive basic health and dental screenings and meals. In addition, Ohio has
a state-funded Head Start initiative that coordinates closely with the federal Head Start
program. The state-funded initiative offers children services that are identical to Head
Start's. In addition, Ohio has a state-funded preschool program for disadvantaged
children that operates according to Head Start performance standards.

While recognizing that these social changes may significantly affect Head Start now
and in the future, the Congress and Head Start lack information needed to decide what
specific actions to take in response to them. Information is lacking about families' needs
for services, how well Head Start's current structure can respond to those needs, and the
array of options available to disadvantaged children and their families. For example,

- although we expect the need for full-day services to grow, we do not know the extent to
which families will choose Head Start-a predominantly part-day educational program-—
over full-day programs that offer child care, even if the Head Start program has an
arrangement with another provider for child care for the rest of the day. Moreover,
evidence suggests that more states, for example, are investing in child care and
prekindergarten initiatives. The number of such initiatives is not known, however, nor do
we have information on their quality. In addition, only limited anecdotal information
exists about Head Start agencies' initiatives for responding to these trends and the
success of those initiatives. Additional information on family service needs and the
options available to them would be valuable to Head Start and the Congress in ensuring
that the significant investment of federal dollars is used to the greatest advantage to
improve the social competence of children in low-income families.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I would be happy to answer any
questions you or members of the Subcommittee may have.

(104929)
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House Commm on Education and the Workforce

June 9, 1998
Testimony of Edward Zigler, Yale University

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to speak before this committee on
how to make our nation’s Head Start program better, and on how to gauge our progress
toward that goal. When I sat on the committee that planned Head Start back in the carly
1960s, we did not have much evidence to prove that comprehensive services and parent
involvement could hzlpl prepare young children living in poverty for their entry into
school. We put these components into Head Start because of our professional hunches—
hunches that have now been amply justified in the scientific literature. And we certainly
were not privy to the recent knowledge on how important the carly years are to brain
development. We were not aware that ages birth to 8 present a window of opportunity
for wiring or structuring the brain. We did suspect that earlicr and more are better, which
is why we planned Head Start for 3-to-5 year olds. Over the years, the number of § year
olds who attend has dwindled as public kindergarten has become more widely available.
Unfortunately, the percentage of 3 year olds has also declined, largely because program
expansion has concentrated on children about to enter grade school.

I'm afraid that we are being lured back to the inoculation model, thinking that if
we give young children a little bit of Head Start, their brains will develop to full
capacity. The human brain develops throughout life. Age 4 is important, but so are the
years that come beforc and after. Gradually expanding Early Head Start for children from

Y
(]
e



133

birth up to age 3 would be responsive to the new findings on brain development, and so
would be reopening Head Start’s doors to more 3 year olds as well as the 4s it currently
serves. Ages S to 8 can be served by a larger Head Start-Public School Transition
program, which puts the elements of effective intervention into school practices.

For any intervention to be effective, it must be of high quality. Quality is clearly

related to child outcomes. Head Start has long suffered uneven quality, but I am happy

to say that this is tuning around. A milestone event in Head Starts history was the work
of the Advisory Committee on Head Start Quality and Expansion. This bipartisan group
provided a road map for the Clinton Administration on how to improve the program. The
panel’s advice was turned into action by Olivia Gelden, Helen Taylor, and other officials.
For the first time in 30 years, poor programs have been closed, and marginal centers have
been put on probation and are receiving technical sssistance, After more than 2 decades,
the program performance standards have been revised to reflect new knowledge and beat
practices. Congress has renewed the quality set aside to enhsnce salaries, benefits, and
facilities.

[ am very pleased with this progress. Head Start js improving. Yet today I want
to point out to you one area that needs more attention. A fact that is not very well kmown
is that since day one, early childhood educstors have been unhappy with the quality of
preschool education in Head Start. Part of their concem is aboﬁt staff qualifications. .
Only about half of Head Start’s teachers have a college degree—a degree that is
mandatory in most private early childhood centers. Many staff do have CDAs, although
that number is not high enough because of the expense and low availability of

scholarships. Without better compensation, better trained teachers go elsewhere, leaving
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less qualified staff in charge. I believe that, while there will always be 8 place for CDAs
and parents in Head Start classrooms, they should be headed by professionals who are
paid a worthy wage.

The type of education delivered in Head Start is also of suspect quality. The
planners did not mandate a specific curriculum because we had no proof that any one
cwrriculum was better than any other. In fact, over 20 years ago I studied the effects of
various curricula used in Head Start and found no particular model superior. The same
held true in Follow Through, which was a planned curriculum variation experiment. Yet
because we imposed no curriculum, what happened is that many centers never bothered
to write one at all. They just did whatever came to mind each day.

The new performance standards wisely require & written plan. This has sparked a
heated debate among those who recornmend a structured, cognitively oriented curriculum
versus those who prefer a play-based, individualized, developmentally appropriate model.
The latter type has long been used in Head Start, is endorsed by the NABYC, and was
found to have lasting benefits right here in the DC public schools. Still, I belicve that if
we really knew which type was better, we would have advanced it long sgo. What type
of curriculum works best, with which students, is an empirical question and it is time that
we answered it empirically.

Head Start is a national laboratory for the development of quality practices. We
should use this natural experiment to address the curriculum issue, We can look at child
outcomes in centers using various educational methods to see who fares the best. This
type of national cvaluation study would be more *“doable” than a massive random

assignment study-— a format that the Blueprint and Roundtable panels, and many
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respected scholars, have recommended sgainst.. It would also be more informative to
local councils, who could look st the results of different curricula n centers with
populations and philosophies similar to their own.

Of course, knowing the success of an educational method depends on what we
mean by success. We cannot decide if a program works unless we know what its goal is.
To me, it is clear that Head Start’s goal has always been school readiness, sometimes
called social competence. Readiness basically entails good health and sound cognitive
and socioemotional development. The Head Start Bureau is in the process of developing
readiness and other performance measures to be used to.evaluate quality and child
outcomes in Head Start classrooms. These measures.can havetwo valuable uses. One'is -
8 tool of quality control. If outcomes in a center are not up to standards, assistance can be. -
offered. Second, a national sample of performance on these measures would be available -
annually and would enable us to continually assess the program’s efficacy. .

Research funds have always been scarce in Head Start. They should be increased
so we can conduct the naturalistic study of curricula I discussed and continue developing -
outcome measures that can be used for both accountability and service improvements. -

Thank you.
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BIOGRAPHY

Edward Zigler received a B.S. at the University of Missouri at Kansas City and

obtained his Ph.D. in clinical psychology from the University of Texas at Austin in 1958.
He taught at the University of Missouri at Columbia for ona year before coming to Yale
University in 18589.

Professor Zigler was a member of the National Planning and Steering Committee
of both Project Head Start and Project Follow Through. In 1870, he was named by
President Nixon to become the first Director of the Office of Child Development (now
the Administration on Children, Youth and Families) and Chief of the, U.S. Children's
Bureau. While in Washington, Dr. Zigler was responsible for admlnis‘iedng the nation's
Head Start program. As Director of OCD, he led the efforts in conceptualizing and
mounting such innovative programs as Health Start, Home Start, Education for
Parenthood, the Child Development Associate Program, and the Child and Family
Resource Program.

Upon leaving government, Dr. Zigler continued to assist policy makers by serving
on the President's Committee on Mental Retardation and, at President Ford's request,
chairing the Vietnamese Children's Resettiement Advisory Group.’ in 1680 Zigler was
called upon by President Carter to chair the Fifteenth Anniversary Head Start
Committee, a body eharﬁed with plotting the future course of this major intervention
program. Recently he was a member of the Advisory Committee on Head Start Quality
and Expansion and of the planning committee for the Early Head Start
pmdram for familles and children ages zero to three.

Professor Zigler has served as a special consultant to numerous Cabinet rank
officers and private foundations. He also appears with regularity as an expert witness

BESTCOPY AVAILABLE

134



137
Zigler Bio (con't) -2-

before many Congressional committees, and is frequently called upon by the media to
comment on social policy issues concerning our nation's children and families.

At Yale, Professor Zigler directs a distinguished lsboratory engaged in a variety
of basic and applied studies of child development and family functioning. His scholarly
work cuts across the fields of mental retardation, psychopathology, intervention -
programs for economically disadvantaged children, and the effects of out-of-home care
on the children of working parents. He headed a national commiittee of distinguished
Americans charged with examining the possibility of making infant care leaves a reailty -
in America, work that inspired the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1883,

Professor Zigler is the author or editor of 268 books and has produced over 500
scholarly articles. He'is amafnber of the editorial boards of 10 professicnhal journals.

Dr. Zigler has received numerous honors, inciuding the Harold W. McGraw, Jr.
Prize in Education and awards from the Joseph P. Kennedy, Jr., Foundation, the
American Psychological Assaciation, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the National
Association for Retarded Citizens, the American Association on Mental Deficlency, the
National Academy of Sciénces, the American Academy of Child and Adolescent-
Psychiatry, the National Head Start Association, and the American Orthopsychiatric -
Association, where he was the 1993-04 .President.

Professor Zigler is currently Sterling Professor of Psychology at Yale University;
where he-is also director of the Bush Center in Child Development and Sccial Policy.
He is the Head of the Psychology Section of Yale's Child Study Canter.
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The potential for Head Start to contribute to the literacy success of children in the United -
States is clear: children who arrive in kindergarten better prepared with language and early
literacy skills are more likely to experience success in learning to read. Currently, Head Startis -
not living up to its full potential as an educational resource for preschool children at heightened-
risk of school failure. Greater attention to the educational program provided by Head Start, and
efforts to make that educational program as central a focus of attention within Head Start as
health, family involvement, and community support are necessary to fully exploit Head Start’s
potential.

This testimony draws on the National Academy of Sciences report entitled Preventing -
Reading Difficulties in Young Children (Snow, Burns & Griffin, 1998) to document the.
following claims:

1. Preschool-aged children with poor-language skills, with little exposure to print, and
who have had few opportunities to experience literacy used in meaningful, communicative ways
are at enhanced risk of reading difficulties.

2. Excellent early childhood environments can provide experiences that enable children.
to develop language skills, including both wider vocabularies and more-advanced abilities to
analyze spoken language, to become familiar with the conventions of print, and to understand the
purposes-and the delights of literacy:

3. Many early childhood environments, especially those that serve children from poor
families and including;: those found in a majority.of Head Start programs, provide relatively
impoverished language and literacy environments, and thus fail adequately to support children’s

development in the domains most relevant to later school success. -
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4. Improving early childhood classrooms as language- and literacy-stimulating
environments requires commitment to the importance of excellent early childhood environments
for all children as well as investment in staff who are well-trained in early childhood education,
and salary rates commensurate with attracting professional staff. Professional in-service staff
development that is far-reaching, coht?rent, inte\nsive, and focused on methods for promoting

~
~

language and literacy development is needed to upgrade the educational activities of currently

employed Head Start staff.

While organic conditions such as mental retardation, specific language impairment, and
hearing problems are associated with a higher risk of poor literacy outcomes, we are most
centrally concerned with risk factors in early childhood associated with children’s differential
access to language and literacy experience. Early preschool language skills constitute remarkably
strong predictors of reading three to five years later; with productive and receptive vocabulary
skills emerging across studies as relatively strong correlates. On entry to kindergarten, a wide
array of language skills (including verbal memory, vocabulary, comprehension and production of
grammar, and phonological awareness) show relationships to later literacy outcomes, as do early
literacy-related skills such as letter identification, understanding print conventions, and
“readiness” skills.

While individual differences among children in language skills may derive from organic
as well as from environmental factors, much of the variation in language and almost all the
variation in early literacy can be related to children’s home and group care experiences. Thus,

children from homes where there are few opportunities for verbal interaction, where little value is
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placed on reading, where reading materials are scarce, and where parents rarely read with

children are at higher risk of later reading difficulties.

Research has demonstrated that parents (including low-income parents) can be taught
how to engage in optimal styles of book-sharing with their children, and that children whose
parents practice such styles of book-sharing show improvements in language and print
knowledge (Neuman et al., 1995; Whitechurst, 1997). Parents who talk to their children more
(Hart & Risley, 1995) and who talk using more sophisticated vocabulary (Weizman, 1995) have
children with larger vocabularies.

Similarly, children’s participation in organized early childhood programs is associated
with better proximate and long-term academic outcemes (Barrett, 1995; Pianta & McCoy, 1997
see Snow, Burns & Griffin, 1998, Chapter 5). In particular, the richness of the language:
interactions available in group care settings is related to child language outcomes, with the best
outcomes for children who have many one-on-one or small group interactions in\;/olving adults
(Phillips et al,, 1987; Smith & Dickinson, 1994), highly engaging and challengiqg conversations
during book-reading (Dickinson & Smith, 1994) and opportunities for cognitively challcngjng
talk involving sophisticated vocabulary (Dickinson et al., 1993). Preschool programs which
have had the largest and-most long-lasting positive effects on child outcomes have been fairly
intensive and exceptionally high quality programs, such as the Abecedarian Project and the

High/Scope Perry Preschool (Campbell & Ramey, 1994; Schweinhart et al., 1985, 1993)



Assessments of the quality of early childhood classrooms serving children from low-
income families typically show low ratings in the domains of language and literacy stimulation.
Bryant et al. (1993) found particularly low scores on such indicators as providing opportunities
for dramatic play and opportunities for adult-child small group interactions. Neuman (1996)
found that classrooms serving low-income children often had very few and poorly chosen books
and typically did not set aside more than a few minutes a day for book-reading or other language-
rich cognitively challenging activities. Adults in centers serving low-income children have
typically had little or no training in early childhood and lack the professional expertise to select
books or other activities appropriate to the children’s level, to read books in the ways that best
support language and literacy development, to introduce literacy appropriately into other

classroom activities, or to promote letter recognition, phonological awareness, and other early

emerging literacy-related skills.

Although early childhood experiences can be efficacious in preventing reading
difficulties for young children, in particular for children from low-income families, we have very
few safeguards for the quality of early childhood programs. Many states have no certification
requirements for early childhood education, and training for early childhood educators is
considerably less well organized than certification for primary teachers. Early childhood
educators typically receive low rates of pay and have a lower status than primary teachers. In-
service and professional development for early childhood educators is also typically

unsystematic and is far from widespread.



146

The National Academy of Sciences report on Preventing
Children noted that information about the following matters is crucial in curricula for early
childhood educators (p. 281):

e how to provide rich conceptual experiences that promote growth in vocabulary and reasoning
skills.

e lexical development, from early referential (naming) abilities to relational and abstract terms
and finer-shaded meanings.

o the early development of listening comprehension skills, and the kinds of syntactic an prose.
structures that preschool children may not yet have mastered. |

e young children’s sense of story.

e young children’s sensitivity to the sounds of language.

o developmental conceptions of written language (print awareness).

e development of concepts of space including directionality.

e fine motor development.

e means for inspiring motivation to read.

Supervised clinical experience designed to help teachers integrate and apply this knowledge base

in practice is also crucial. It is clear that these curricular demands imply that preparation for

early childhood educators will require several courses, demands preparation in a variety of

domains, and presupposes a fairly high level of preparatory education: ..

State standards for group child care settings and the.Head Start performance standards.are
considerably more explicit and exigent with regard to issues of health, cleanliness, and safety

than with regard to the stimulation of language, cognitive, and literacy development. Yet,
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children in such early childhood settings are at considerably higher risk of becoming poor readers

than of serious injury or illness.

Conclusion
Because of the considerations summarized in this testimony, the National Academy of

Sciences Panel on Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children, which I chaired,

formulated the following recommendations:

All children, especially those at risk for reading difficulties, should have access to

early childhood environments that promote language and literacy growth and that

address reading risk factors in an integrated, rather than isolated fashion.

Specifically, we recommend that the following be included in home and preschool

activities:

e adult-child shared book reading that stimulates verbal interaction to enhance
language (especially vocabulary) development and knowledge about print

concepts.

e activities that direct young children’s attention to the phonological structure of
spoken words (e.g., games, songs and poems that emphasize thyming or

manipulation of sounds).

g e activities that highlight the relations between speech and print (pp. 320-321).
]
|

B

Programs that educate early childhood professionals should require mastery of
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information about the many kinds of knowledge and skills that can be acquired in
the preschool years in preparation for reading achievement in school. Their

knowledge base should includc at least the following: :

e information about how to provide rich conceptual experiences that promote
growth in vocabulary and reasoning skills.

o knowledge about lexical development, from early referential (naming)
abilities to relational and abstract terms and finer-shaded meanings.

» knowledge of the early development of listening comprehension skiils, and the
kinds of syntactic an prose structures that preschool children may not yet have
mastered.

¢ information on young children’s sense of story.

o information on young children’s sensitivity to the sounds of language.

¢ information on young children’s developmental conceptions of written
language (print awareness).

o information on young children’s development of concepts of space including
directionality.

o knowledge of fine motor development.

- @ knowledge about how to inspire motivation to read (p. 332).

[
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Statement of Ms. Bonngé Freemap
National Center for Family TIteracy
Louisville, Kentucky

Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families
Committee on Education and the Workforce
United States House of Representatives

Hearing on Head Start
_ Tuesday, June 9, 1998
Rayburn House Office Building, Room 2175
Washington, DC

Good morning, Chairman Riggs, and ladies and gentlemen of the Subcommittee. My name is
Bonnie Freeman. I am a Family Literacy Training Specialist for the National Center for Family
Literacy based in Louisville, Kentucky. The National Center for Family Literacy (NCFL) is a non-
profit organization that provides advocacy, research and training for thousands of family literacy
programs throughout the country.

In my time today, I would like to briefly explain what family literacy is, how it can compliment
and strengthen the activities of Head Start, and what directions might be useful in the Head Start
reauthorization to strengthen the partnership between Head Start and family literacy.

What is Family Literacy?

It is well documented that the primary indicator as to how well a child will succeed in school is
intricately connected with the parents’ literacy level. Growing up in a literate environment is critically
important, but there is a segment of our population where the parents themselves do not have the skills
they need to help their children develop literacy skills. Without essential skills, the parents cannot
achieve their own goals such as employment or citizenship so that they can move their families out of
poverty. Comprehensive family literacy programs tackle the needs of the families at the bottom end of
the literacy continuum. Comprehensive family literacy services integrate the following four
components:

1. Aduit literacy education, basic skills and / or English language instruction for parents of primary
caregivers (adult education);

2. Developmental experiences for the parent's young children (early childhood education, ages 0-7);

3. Parent education and support -- time for learning, sharing experiences, and solving problems
(parent group); and

4. Regular opportunities for parents and children to work, play and learn together (parent / chil
interaction time). :

These comprehensive programs provide services in an integrated approach and include the
following goals:
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o To improve basic and/or English language skills, and raise the educational level of parents;

e To increase the developmental abilities of preschool children, and better prepare them for
academic and social success in school;

¢ To improve parenting skills;
¢ To enable parents to become familiar with and comfortable in school settings; and

¢ To help parents gain the motivation, skills, and knowledge that contributes to becoming
employed or pursue further education or training.

How can family literacy compliment and strengthen Head Start?

Head Start is the nation's first and most comprehensive national child development program.
Head Start works with children in a holistic way, addressing their nutritional, cognitive and emotional
development needs. Historically, Head Start has also engaged parents by requiring parent involvement
and giving parents the opportunity to take leadership in local programs. Additionally, Head Start
programs serve in a resource and referral capacity, charged with helping parents advocate for
themselves and gain access to other available assistance.

Family literacy, as developed by NCFL, builds upon this strong foundation by offering
intensive services for parents who are not literate or English proficient, and do not possess the skills to
support their child's education when the child transitions from a Head Start program to a larger school
setting. It makes sure that the success of a good early childhood program will be multiplied by helping
parents become the first teachers of their children and making sure the learning and messages about
education are reinforced at home.

I would like to dispel the notion that we are taking an either/or position. That is, one either
supports Head Start OR family literacy. Some of the biggest proponents of family literacy are Head
Start providers because they have experienced how family literacy can strengthen, even "turbocharge,"
the value of Head Start in a child's life. -

During its 30 plus year history, Head Start has continually broken new ground in serving the
needs of low-income children. And the world continues to change.

For a myriad of social and economic reasons, we have a generation of parents who, while they
deeply love their children, do not possess the basic literacy skills to effectively support their education.
These parents also lack the basic skills to gain solid employment skills to gain and retain employment.
Often times, they lack a knowledge of parenting skills and an understanding of healthy child
development and parent-child interaction.

The new demands of time-limited, work-oriented welfare reform are also pressing the need for
more powerful interventions. Parents are meeting the responsibility of entering the workforce.
Modeling a work ethic to their children is one component of good parenting. The demands of work
add new stress on the family unit, particularly in a single parent household. The parent in this situation
not only needs a job, extra support and better parenting strategies, but also skills-that will help them
grow beyond a minimum wage job.
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Before the advent of the family literacy approach, a parent with poor basic skills might simply
be referred to a local adult education program that was not coordinated with the Head Start program.
Possibly, the program hours would be complimentary to the Head Start program, but they might not
be, therefore, coordinating additional child care would become a disincentive for parent participation.
Transportation between different sites also became an additional challenge for either the parent or the
agency. Finally, some adult education programs didn't provide a clear strategy for helping the
individual establish and achieve their own academic and career goals, or provide a clear connection of
these skills to parenting and life skills.

Family literacy works with the entire family unit. It encourages parents to see that their own
self-improvement not only affects their employability and self-esteem, but also their child's well-being.
We have seen a much higher rate of adult retention in the integrated family literacy approach in
comparison to referring adult to other programs. As opposed to a high dropout rate in traditional adult
education programs, adults stay in family literacy programs long enough to achieve their goals and
make sustainable changes in their approach to their children and the child's learning.

Does family literacy work?

NCFL has strong, long-term evidence that family literacy programs can demonstrate significant
and lasting results. One NCFL study, Even Start: An Effective Literacy-Program Helps Families
Grow Toward Independence, was conducted to determine the long-term effects of "well-implemented”
Even Start programs. The author of the NCFL Even Start study, Dr. Andrew E. Hayes (professor at
the University of North Carolina at Wilmington) identified sites "that were implemented consistently
with the quality standards" and which would be willing to participate in the study. The study
encompassed a total of 534 children (now in grades K-5) and 536 adults. Some of the results are as
follows:

Children in the Even Start program were rated average or above in their class (grades K-5):
e 67% on overall academic performance

78% on motivation to learn

83% on support from parents

89% on relations with other students

91% on attendance

84% on classroom behavior

73% on self-confidence

75% on probable success in school

Adults also achieved positive results. The study revealed that adults continued their education and
made other significant changes in their lives. _
e 54% seeking educational credentials received the GED or its equivalent.
® 45% of those on public assistance reduced the amount they receive, or ceased to receive aid
altogether.
40% are enrolled in some higher education or training program.
50% of those not currently enrolled in an education or training program are employed

Other NCFL research on family literacy programs have revealed the following:
e The amount of literacy activity in the home increases.

9
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o Children make developmental gains three times greater than expected as a result of normal
maturation. and the gains are as high as those in high-quality, child-focused programs.

e A follow-up study in Rochester, New York, showed that while 11% scored above the 20th
percentile on a nationally-normed vocabulary test upon entering the family literacy
program, 87% scored above the 20th percentile on a standardized reading test four years
later as first and second graders.

The findings from the extensive research performed on family literacy programs illustrates its
success and added value it can have for Head Start programs when comprehensively incorporated.

The fade-out effect

Some studies have questioned whether Head Start Services yield long-term positive effects on
children previously enrolled in the program. At NCFL, we don't think a "fade out" effect, where the
net gains for children seem to fade, means there is a deficiency in the Head Start program. It indicates
that these children need more support than they are getting -- both in terms of quality classroom
instruction and support from their parents in the home environment.

The findings of the NCFL studies indicate that well implemented family literacy programs have
significant and lasting effects on children and their families. Our research indicates that parents who
succeed in family literacy have improved their own academic skills, are better able to support their
children's early education, are more emotionaily committed to the value of education, and may be more
comfortable participating in the school experience.

Collaboration between Head Start and family literacy

In the 1994 authorization of Head Start, family literacy was included as a priority for statewide
collaboration projects and encouraged at the local program level. We have seen some progress in
Head Start programs seizing the opportunity to strengthen their impact through collaborating with
other agencies to offer family literacy services. Some good examples of this include Arizona,
Washington, DC and South Carolina. These models must become the norm for the nation's Head Start
programs if systemic, positive two generational effects is the desired outcome.

In Tucson, Arizona, the Pima County Adult Education's Family Literacy Project (FLP)
completed its sixth year of collaborating with Head Start to offer family literacy programming in the
Tucson community. In 1991, the FLP initiated three family literacy programs in elementary schools in
the Sunnyside Unified School District. This began the relationship between FLP, Sunnyside School
District, and the Tucson Head Start (Child-Parent Centers, Inc.). These partners are still together and
thriving. By the 1996-1997 school year, these collaborative efforts have produced 11 family literacy
sites in three school districts in Pima County. In these sites, the achievements of the children as well
as their parents are testimony to the increased effects of a Head Start program when the parents are
also meeting their own educational needs. The connection to Head Start has made the Tucson program
a lighthouse for other Head Start programs who are seriously committed to involving parents in a
comprehensive approach to family education.

In Washington, DC, there is a very successful Head Start and family literacy collaboration
working out of the Moten and Adams Elementary Schools. According to Peggy Minnis, the program
coordinator, "Our first full year of operation proved that family literacy brings about success." After
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nine months of instruction, the predominately adult Hispanic population at the Adams Elementary
School site were able to speak and write in English at a much higher level. The children at the Adams
site made more than a year and four months gain in language, logic, math, and literacy skills. Also, the
adults at the Moten Elementary site, which is composed entirely of African American parents, made
significant gains as well. According to pre and post assessments, these adults increased their abilities
to read, write, and calculate by (at least) two grade levels. They showed a significant increase in their
abilities to interact confidently with their child's teacher, their attendance at school activities, their
modeling of reading and writing for their children, assisting their older children with homework,
volunteering in the school and using the public libraries. All parents in the program increased the
number of times they read to their children from 1 to 7 times per week. A prime example of the
success of this Head Start and family literacy collaboration is Raynice Brumfield, a former student
from this program. Raynice recently testified before the Senate Committee on Labor and Human
Resources. In a traditional Head Start program Raynice would not have the opportunity to raise her
own education level from second grade to GED level, or raise her self esteem that gives her the power
to move forward or increase her ability to help her children succeed in school. Family literacy was
what made Head Start particularly effective for her family.

South Carolina has also come to understand how comprehensive family literacy can improve
Head Start in the welfare-to-work environment. NCFL is working with South Carolina to develop and
explore the role of family literacy in welfare reform, specifically with Head Start programs.

In recent years, South Carolina has promoted the development of family literacy programs with
up to $15,000 in funding for each of 10 rural projects. These sites built on previous work of the state's
15 Head Start programs in family literacy. In 1996, South Carolina state and local agencies developed
a two-pronged collaboration. On one level, the state team, including representatives from the
Department of Education (adult education), the state Head Start Collaboration project, and the
Department of Social Services, works on issues of program design, combining funding, and issuing
requests for proposals. Local programs employ family literacy as a strategy to help Head Start families
who received public assistance. The state team, in consultation with NCFL, identifies objectives for
the rural projects. The local team is made up of local counterparts to the state team. The team
participates in joint training for program implementation, secures commitment of local resources, plans
and coordinates adult education, early childhood, welfare and job placement services, and monitors
progress and results.

Over the past 18 months, collaboration members have learned many lessons. Among the most
important lessons learned that make the connection of family literacy and Head Start successful
involves the ongoing staff development and support from NCFL and local sources. This support has
facilitated close collaboration among local partner agency heads and improved program evaluation and
analysis to insure continued program improvement.

Conclusion

Implementing an effective family literacy program is not easy, because it requires integration of
services to focus on the entire family unit not just one fragment of the family. It also requires quality
in all of the component parts so the synergy of combining them will yield results that are far beyond
the components offered in isolation. As the challenges facing families in poverty grows more intense,
we must find models of success, like Head Start/family literacy collaboration, and work to ensure the
broadest implementation possible.

154



160

This type of collaboration at the state and local site level promises to make Head Start even
more effective and powerful in breaking the cycle of poverty for the families it serves. During the
1994 Head Start authorization, Congress took important steps toward increasing the role of family
literacy as an important strategy within Head Start. Now, we need to seriously think through practical
implementation questions. We do not see broad scale legislative changes as being necessary, but we
would like to recommend several refinements that would put in place a stronger emphasis on assisting
Head Start agencies and programs in pursuing the family literacy approach.

Recommendations:

¢ Congress should insert into the Head Start authorization the new working definition of Family
Literacy Services that has already been included in the House work force training bill and the
Reading Excellence Act.

* Family literacy is a powerful tool to strengthen families. It needs to be implemented with
services, particularly adult education, to provide the stability and strength needed to help
parents gain the skills they need for employment to get themselves and their children out of
poverty

¢ For family literacy to work, Head Start can't go it alone. Effective family literacy is a
collaborative undertaking. To work at the local site level collaboration must be supported at
the federal and state levels of program management. The State Collaboration process must be
strengthened and greater responsibility must be given to the individual designated to represent
the state Head Start association.

e Effective family literacy coordination can be challenging. We suggest placing a greater
emphasis on the provision of training and technical assistance within the Head Start program so
that they can implement quality comprehensive family literacy programs.

¢ For a program the size of Head Start, implementation of family literacy services cannot be done
in a one-size-fits all manner. The Head Start system needs to develop the capacity for greater
collaboration and integration of services. Therefore, significant training funding should be set
aside to enable the regional Head Start offices and state Head Start associations to develop their
internal expertise as to how to effectively collaborate with other service providers, especially
welfare reform agencies. NCFL has trained over 10,000 teachers in implementing family
literacy and has a certified trainers system which could support the internal training systems of
existing Head Start programs. We stand ready to provide even more assistance to Head Start
agencies, Head Start regional training centers and local programs.

These are broad recommendations, and NCFL's Washington staff is prepared to work with your
staff in developing specific legislative proposals that would reflect these priorities.

I deeply appreciate the opportunity to participate in today's hearing and present our perspective
on how, working together and building upon the strength and legacy of Head Start, we can come closer
to our goal of strengthening families and breaking the cycle of intergenerational poverty.
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Short Biography

At present , Bonnie Lash Freeman is a family literacy training specialist at the
National Center for Family Literacy. Her work, experiences and writing in the arca of family
literacy span the last nine years. Her most recent publication was for the Even Start Project
Ilidl;nager’s Guide. She co-authored with Chris Dwyer ( RMC Research), Integration -

ing_the Pieces Fit ;

Her introduction to family literacy came as a result of expetience in carly childhood educarion
which includes classroom teaching (birth through second grade and also college courses),
administration of child care programs, teacher training and training of teacher/trainers and
family day care hormne providers. She has been a CDA Rcpresentative and is an endorsed
High/Scope Preschool Curriculum Trainer. She joined the National Center from the
High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, where she was a Senior Consultant and one of
the original teacher trainers for the PACE and Kenan Family Literacy Projects.

At the National Center for Family Literacy, her work continues to evolve; during 1995, she
was a Core Team member of the National Head Start Parent Involvement Training project; and
in 1995 - 1996 she was Project Manager for the Family Literacy Corps , an AmeriCorps
project sponsored by the Corporation for National Service, which entailed project management
as well as leadership and staff development. At present, her responsibilities include such
special projects as the South Carolina Head Start Family Independence project and the Knight

oundation Family - to - Work project - both project focus family literacy programs as they
respond to welfare reform. In addition, she is a Co-Principle Investigator of the Parent - Child
Interaction Project - a joint endeavor with the Louisville Science Center and sponsored by the
National Science Foundation.

Her teacher training experiences both in family literacy and early childhood education include
the staffs of public and private schools, child care centers, church sponsored child care
centers, Head Start, Title I programs and Bven Start programs. She has published articles in
Zero to Three ( Bulletin of the National Center for Clinical Infant Programs ) and The
Family Resource Coalition Report. Several examples of her work are included in a
publication. edited by the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, Supporting
Young Learners. During 1986 - 1987, she also was the Teamn Leader and principle author
of Growing Up Strong, a Mental Wellness and Chemical Abuse Prevention Program,
produced by the Center for Child and Family Development - University of Oklahoma. The
program was targeted to kindergarten and first grade children . She also was a contributor to
the second and third grade edition of Growing Up Strong the following year.

Her educational accomplishments include an undergraduate degree from the University of
North Carolina and graduate work at Bank Street College of Education, Appalachian State
College and the University of Oklahoma. She is a graduate of the 1993 - 1994 Leadership
Louisville class and the 1994 - 95 class of the African American Leadership Institute at
Bellarmine College, Louisville, KY. The African American Leadership Institute includes the
beginning course work for the MBA program at Bellarmine. Areas that are of particular
interest to Ms. Lash Freeman are teaching strategies for family literacy and early childhood
classrooms, parents and their involvement within schools, literacy and early literacy
experiences for parents and their children, healthy parent/child interactions, family support,
cultural diversity child care administration and the family's influence on a child's development
of self-esteem. She is first and foremost a mother of two wonderful daughters, Lisa Christine,
29 and Colsaria Monique, 18.
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My name is Wade @Ph’.D;"I am a clinical child psychologist and the President of *
the National Fatherhood Initiative, an organization whose mission is to improve the well-being
of children by increasing the number of children growing up with involved, committed and
responsible fathers. Formerly, I served as Commissioner of the Administration on Children,
Youth and Families (ACYF) and Chief of the Children's Bureau within the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, and was a presidential appointee to the National Commission on
Children. As Commissioner of ACYF, I was the federal administrator responsible for oversight
of the Head Start program. I would like to address my testimony to two issues: the coordination
of Head Start with welfare reform, and the evaluation of the impact of Head Start.

Welfare reform, as codified through the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity
Reconciliation Act of 1996 (PRWORA), seeks to move millions of previously welfare dependent
heads of households, primarily single mothers, into the paid labor force. Doing so will require
that we put their children somewhere. In many cases that somewhere will be out-of-home child
care.

To help states with this task, welfare reform included up to $30 billion in state and federat
funding for child care over six years (including the required state match, maintenance of effort,
and FY 1996 funding). Still, some worry that $30 billion is not enough. One place to look for
additional child care opportunities is Head Start.

In fact, Head Start and welfare reform have both overlapping target populations and
overlapping goals. Slightly less than half (44 percent) of the parents of Head Start children are
unemployed and 46.5 percent are receiving benefits under TANF making many Head Start
families eligible for the welfare-to-work programs under PRWORA. In addition, consistent with
the goals of PRWORA, a significant amount of Head Start's resources are devoted to helping the
parents of children enrolled in Head Start achieve the educational and job preparation skills
necessary to escape long-term welfare dependency, primarily through its social services and
parent involvement components. Given this overlap in goals and target population, there is a
compelling need to coordinate these two programs.

Possibilities for Coordination

Coordinating different government programs is never easy, but coordinating child care,
Head Start and welfare-to-work programs has proven particularly difficult because of
idiosyncratic and sometimes contradictory programmatic requirements. For example, under
TANF, States must guarantee child care for parents who are required to work under welfare
reform. But, because most Head Start programs provide only part-day services totaling twenty
hours or less per week, it is likely that the work schedules of many JOBS participants will not
correspond exactly with that of the Head Start program.

In addition, some welfare-to-work participants will obtain employment or enroll in
training or education programs that exceed twenty hours per week, making access to a part-day
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child care-arrangement less relevant: To make matters worse, Head Start is most typically a
nine-month program, leaving the need for child care unanswered for those who work year round.

There are two possible solutions to this problem. First, Head Start funds could be used to
expand Head Start from a part-day, part-year program, to a full-day, full-year program. This
solution has the advantage of ease of administration. For example, if Head Start funds are used
to expand the hours of the program to full-day, full-year, program administrators could be certain
as to space requirements and staffing needs. The big disadvantage would be cost. Although
exact.estimates of the cost of Head Start are hard to come by, it appears that a full-day, full-year
Head Start program can cost upwards of $10,000 per child, nearly twice as much as ordin
child care. .

An alternative would be to require Head Start programs to provide extended day services
through wrap-around child care arrangements. Wrap-around child care entails using other
funding sources to keep the Head Start center open for those children for whom full-day child
care is a necessity. Thus, Head Start would be able to provide child care for families where the
parent(s) is employed full-time outside the home, without having to transport the child across
town to another child care setting. Those children who do not require full-time child care.would
be sent home after the delivery of the three-to-four hour core Head Start services. The primary
disadvantage to wrap-around child care arrangements is the burden it places on program
administrators to seek out, procure, and coordinate different funding streams.

The most obvious source of funds for wrap-around child care arrangements is the child
care development block grant (CCDBG). The Head Start grantee and the state agency
administering the CCDBG could make various arrangements for paying for wrap-around child
care, but the best arrangement would be "purchase of service” contracts. Such an arrangement
allows Head Start administrators to know in advance the amount of space and the number of
child care providers necessary to fulfill the contract. In contrast, afier-the-fact reimbursement
arrangements could place financial burdens on the Head Start program because of unexpected
absences.

CCDBG is by no means the only source of funds for wrap-around child care
arrangements. Other sources of funding for wrap-around child care arrangements include the
Chapter One program within the Department of Education, the Job Training Partnership Act
(JTPA), the Community Development Block Grant, the TANF block grant, and the Social
Services Block Grant (Title XX).

Barriers to Effective Coordination
Whether one expands Head Start through Head Start expansion funds or through wrap-
around child care arrangements, several additional barriers exist to effective coordination. One

such procedural barrier has already been discussed, differences in hours of operation. Relatedly,
many half-day Head Start programs employ double shifts in which separate morning and
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afternoon classes are conducted utilizing the same classroom space:"The use of double shifts
most commonly occurs in communities lacking adequate space for Head Start classrooms, Thus,
in many communities it may be impossible to extend the day for children of parents enrolled in
welfare-to-work programs because the available classroom space is already being fully utilized.

Another procedural barrier is the fact that welfare-to-work programs enroll participants
throughout the year, whereas Head Start primarily enrolls children during the spring and surnmer
preceding the Head Start school year. This means that families enrolled in welfare-to-work
programs after the beginning of the Head Start school year, will most likely be unable to enroll
their child in Head Start; all the available slots will have been filled. The fact that Head Start
enrolls children only part of the year and welfare-to-work programs enroll families continuously
throughout the year, can result in welfare administrators becoming frustrated with the inability of
Head Start to satisfy the child care needs of their clients. Such frustration naturally leads to a
reluctance to continue to refer welfare-to-work participants to the Head Start program.

The need for child care by welfare-to-work participants may also change over time.
During an education and training period there may be less of a need for full-time child care
because of the flexibility and limited hours of many education and training programs. Once
employed, however, welfare-to-work participants may have a greater need for full-time child
care. Unfortunately, part-day Head Start programs may not be able to accommodate to changing
child care needs over time. As a result, children of parents enrolled in welfare-to-work programs
may experience multiple disruptions in their child care arrangements as they are transferred back
and forth from Head Start to other child care arrangements. '

Even more concerning is the possibility that some parents may actually turn down bona
fide, and otherwise attractive, employment opportunities in order to keep their child enrolled in
Head Start. Conversely, some children may be denied the Head Start experience altogether
because the program can not accommodate to the child care needs of the parent.

A third barrier to effective coordination is the difference in culture and mission between
Head Start and welfare-to-work programs. Despite the explicit focus in many welfare-to-work
programs on the chronically unemployed, many local programs are held accountable for
expeditiously moving participants into jobs. This has led at least some observers to feel that
welfare-to-work programs tend to focus on the recently, rather than the chronically, unemployed.

In contrast, Head Start's mission has always been to focus on the "poorest of the poor."
There are few, if any, expectations for Head Start programs to move families expeditiously off
welfare and into self-sufficiency. Indeed, it is not uncommon to hear Head Start staff talk of
using a full year of Head Start simply to get the parents comfortable with the idea of accepting
help through the Head Start program.

A second difference in mission between these two programs is that welfare-to-work
programs see the parent(s) as their primary client, whereas Head Start sees the child as its
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primary client. Given this difference in perspective, welfare-to-work program administrators and
frontline staff often lack the background and expertise to know how to meet the needs of the
children in participant households.

In addition, the adult focus of welfare programs frequently leads welfare-to-work
caseworkers to view child care arrangements as acceptable so long as that child care setting
provides a safe, healthy and sanitary environment for the child while the child's parent(s) is in an
education or training program, or at work. Little emphasis in welfare-to-work programs is given
to the developmental appropriateness of the child care setting or to addressing the individual
needs of a particular child while in that child care setting. Head Start, in contrast, sees as its
primary mission the enhancement of the child's developmental status. To Head Start
administrators and frontline staff, a safe environment is not nearly adequate enough; the setting
must also be developmentally appropriate and designed to meet each child's individual needs.

Similarly, state welfare agencies often have little history in, and consequently little
appreciation for, performing such tasks as conducting family needs assessments, networking with
other social service agencies, and administering child developmental screenings; all hallmarks of
a successful Head Start program. Rather, heretofore state welfare agencies were primarily
charged with determining eligibility for welfare benefits. Providing for the non-cash assistance
needs of families on cash welfare was historically been seen as the purview of other social
service agencies. Effective coordination is largely dependent on the sharing of a common sense
of purpose, and these conflicting perspectives, sense of mission, and standards for accountability
make coordination between the two programs difficult to achieve.

Some barriers to effective coordination also arise because of Head Start staff attitudes and
preconceived notions about welfare agencies. Given the historical emphasis of state welfare
departments on the eligibility determination process, it should not be surprising that many Head
Start staff, as well as low-income families, view public welfare agencies with a certain amount of
suspicion and mistrust. Such attitudes are antithetical to effective coordination which requires a
measure of mutual respect and trust.

In addition, Head Start staff themselves may be reluctant to shift from part-day to full-day
employment. Research suggests that one reason individuals are attracted to employment in day
care settings is that such employment may not be full-time, allowing time to be with one's own
children or the freedom to pursue other education or career goals.? In fact, when in 1993 a
summer Head Start program was contemplated, there were reports of Head Start staff raising
objections to having to work during the summer and disrupt family vacation plans.’ .

Turf battles among different constituent groups have also hampered collaboration efforts.
Most notably, Head Start programs have at times encountered disinterest, and at times even
active discouragement, when seeking to access child care funding streams for wraparound child
care arrangements. Rather than using the different categories of federal funding of child care to
develop a seamless systern of child care services, each child care grant program has developed its
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own constituents who have a rather proprietary view of the monies made available through
"their" particular grant program. For example, when the Child Care Development Block Grant
(CCDBG) was implemented in 1989, representatives from the Head Start community were often
specifically not invited to attend state-wide planning meetings because of the feeling that Head
Start had its own source of funds, and the CCDBG monies were for the non-Head Start child care
community.

A final barrier to effective coordination is that Head Start and the CCDBG have entirely
different funding mechanisms. From its inception, Head Start has been a direct grants program.
Funding levels for specific Head Start programs are based upon a determination as to what it will
cost to operate an effective early childhood intervention program. Although it is possible to
calculate a per child cost in Head Start, funds are not generally awarded based upon such a
calculation.

CCDBG, on the other hand, frequently awards funds through contracts and vouchers
based upon a unit cost per child calculation. Head Start program operators are not accustomed to
administering programs in which funding is tied so explicitly to an individual child. Conversely,
CCDBG administrators seldom have the luxury of thinking programmatically when it comes to
child care arrangements because funds are tied so explicitly to individual children. This
difference in funding mechanisms can make it difficult for these two programs to coordinate with
each other.

;l‘wo Routes to More Effective Coordination

As the above discussion illustrates, coordination between Head Start, welfare-to-work
programs and child care funding streams has proven difficult, to say the least. In fact, according
to the latest data collected by the Head Start Bureau, in the 1996-1997 program year, 303,211
(40.1%) of Head Start enrollees were in need of full-time, full-year child care; but only 74,701
(9.8%) of enrollees actually received full-time, full-year child care through the Head Start
program. This does not mean there are no effective models of coordination and collaboration;
but coordination is difficult -- and will likely become even more so as welfare reform progresses.

Might there be a better way? Let me suggest two possibilities.

One possibility is to strengthen the current Head Start State Collaboration Grants
Program by providing Governors with the authority to seek waivers from Head Start
programmatic requirements in order to more effectively coordinate Head Start with welfare
reform and other funding mechanisms. For example, Governors could petition for a waiver to
relax the income guidelines so as to allow participation of more of the working poor in the Head
Start program than is currently the case. Alternatively, Governors could petition to ensure that
welfare-to-work participants are given preference in terms of entry into the Head Start program, a
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decision which is currently left up to the local grantee.

A second possibility is to devolve the administration and oversight of the Head Start
program to the states. Although controversial, this possibility deserves serious consideration for
several reasons.

First, Head Start has grown too large; there is simply no precedent for a direct federal-to-
local grantee arrangement for a program with a budget of over $4 billion and annual participants
in the millions. Why should states have so little (if any) oversight and administration of a
program that touches so many of its citizens?

Second, over the past six years, the federal government has been downsizing, both at the
federal level and in the regional offices. This downsizing makes oversight of an expanding
program ever more difficult. Ed Zigler, for example, has estimated that as much as one-third of
Head Start grantees are of inadequate quality. Devolving Head Start to the states would allow
for better oversight of the program.

Third, coordination is made especially difficult by the fact that Head Start is a federally
administered program, whereas both welfare-to-work programs and most child care funding
streams have largely been devolved to the states. By devolving Head Start to the states, it would
allow program planners and policy makers at the state level an increased ability to coordinate all
three programs which, after all, do share a common target population and common goals.

Finally, there are many lessons learned from Head Start about providing developmentally
appropriate settings and experiences for children. Devolving Head Start to the states would
allow more effective cross-pollination of the lessons leamed from Head Start into the broader
child care community.

I know that this proposal to devolve Head Start to the states will be controversial --
especially within the Head Start community. So it should not be done impulsively and certainly
not simply because I say so. Rather, my purpose in offering this idea is to stimulate a discussion
about the rationale for continuing Head Start as a federally administered program.

Perhaps there are very good reasons to do so; but one of them should not be "because
that's the way we've always done it." Instead, we should look more comprehensively at the needs
of low-income families and their children, especially within the context of welfare reform, and
develop even more effective systems for supporting them.

Evaluating the Impact of Head Start

We do know something about the impact of Head Start. We know, for example, that
parents who are actively involved in Head Start show immediate treatment effects -- they have
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higher self-esteem, and provide more language stimulation in the ome. We also know that
communities with Head Start programs evidence increased use of paraprofessionals, greater
attention to the needs of poor students, and more mental health clinics in Head Start
communities.

Most importantly, we know that Head Start can have significant and positive effects on a
host of child variables including: achievement, aptitude scores, achievement motivation, self-
concept, and measures of physical health. However, we also know that most of the superiority
shown by Head Start children on these measures, when compared to non-Head Start peers, fades
by the third grade.

Critics of Head Start point to this "fade out" effect and conclude that Head Start is of little
value. Some perspective, however, is in order here. I come from a profession (clinical
psychology) which throws wild parties if we can demonstrate that the effects of a particular
psychotherapeutic intervention lasts for more than six months. Hence, a program which has
demonstrated positive outcomes for several years is, in my judgement, a success, not a failure.
Indeed, it is ludicrous to expect Head Start -- or any other preschool intervention program -- to
overcome the devastating effects of crime ridden neighborhoods, communities without fathers,
and ineffective. and even dangerous, schools.

But, while congratulating ourselves on Head Start's short-term effectiveness, we must at
the same time focus on strengthening Head Start's long-term effectiveness. There are at least two
possibilities for doing so:

1. give more years of Head Start before school entry; and

2.  transform the system into which the Head Start child goes, most especially the
schools.

The first possibility is part of the rationale for Early Head Start. Unfortunately, there is
little empirical evidence that multiple years of Head Start, or any other preschool intervention
program, yields substantially better effects than one year. The highly touted Perry Preschool
Project, for example, specifically compared the effectiveness of one versus two years of its
program, and found no differences as a function of length of time children were enrolled in the
program.

A much more promising approach is to fundamentally transform the schools into which
the Head Start child graduates. This was the idea behind the Head Start Transition Grants which
I helped to implement during my tenure as Commissioner of ACYF. Unfortunately, no results of
the effectiveness of this program have been released to date.

Today. I recommend a much bolder idea. I see little evidence that public schools within
low-income communities are capable of transforming themselves. Rather, I now champion the
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use of school choice as the impetus for fundamental school reform. " -

Here's my idea. Congress should authorize a demonstration program in which a
randomly selected sample of Head Start graduates would receive tuition vouchers for use in the
public or private school of their choice. The outcome of these children could then be compared
with the outcome of Head Start graduates who do not receive vouchers to determine whether or
not the "fade out" effect is diminished, if not eliminated, through school choice.

Conclusion

Head Start has been operating as an exemplary program since 1965. I offer these ideas
for reform not because I believe Head Start to be a failure, but because I believe that to remain
exemplary, Head Start must change with changing conditions. Better coordination of Head Start
with welfare reform and education reform, and éspecially school choice, offers the potential for
doing just that.

I thank you for the opportunity to provide you with this testimony and would be pleased
to answer any questions you might have concerning my testimony.
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Good Momning Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee.

Thank you for giving me the opportunity to represent Head Start practitioners
who are doing extraordinary work on behalf of children and families across the
country and in the trust territories. I would like to address three areas this
morning: Regionalization of Head Start and our lessons learned, a successful
example of Community Collaboration, and key issues that would improve Head

Start operational effectiveness.

Regionalization

In 1995, our grantee was awarded a competitive grant to operate the Head Start
program in Solano County, a county contiguous to Napa. This was due to the
dissolution of thc; prior grantee, that had been operating Head Start. The grant was
awarded on 9-14-95 and services to families began on 1-30-96, a four month
transition. The impact of change on the agency was significant. It was a 400%
increase in size, increasing our family population from 206 to 755. Staff grew
from 42 to 150 members, funding increased from $1 million to $5 million and, we
became 75% of our existing grantee capacity. We grew from a bicultural (2

languages) to a multicultural (8 languages) program, the staff was housed in two

central and three satellite offices as opposed to one central office and, the region
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grew from 794 square miles to a total of 1685 square miles. The growth in the
number of income eligible families increased from 800 to 5,000 in four months.

We opened 30 classrooms in addition to our existing 9 and hired 108 staff.

The transition work elements were enormous. We had to:

e continue to operate the Napa program .

e develop mission and values statements

¢ revise the original application

e negotiate for funding

e design the work plan

o dissolve the existing infrastructure

e develop a community assessment and an organizational structure
e rewrite by-laws

¢ hire a transition team

e mail 2800 letters of introduction

o develop press packets for media coverage

e set up the new offices

e host Saturday Spirit Days for families and Open Houses for professional

colleagues
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¢ conduct a personnel recruitment process and 1}ost a job fair

e write job descriptions

¢ identify, renovate and furnish 15 facilities

e manage child recruitment

o design a comprehensive training calendar and pre-service

e conduct parent forums

e develop marketing for collaborative parmershipé

¢ develop a final transition report and archive file so that we could share our

experience with others undertaking the regionalization approach.

We learned, through this process, some valuable lessons on becoming a change
agent. You must control your attitude, take ownership of the changes, choose
your battles carefully, be tolerant of mistakes, keep your sense of humor, don’t let
your strengths become weaknesses, practice good stresé management techniques
and most importantly focus on reinventing the future instead of trying to re-design

the past.

The benefits to the program have been striking. Each county has benefited from

the strengths of the other, and the weaknesses are better addressed due to the
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increased and more efficient funding available through consolidation of staff,

facilities and focus.

Napa-Solano Head Start continues to grow with the recent expansion into full day
. full year capacity. We are opening four new sites in two counties, within the next

60 days.

Collaboration

A hallmark of Head Start and indeed of Napa-Solano Head Start has been the very
effective results of collaborative partnerships. I would like to describe to you just
one of the many opportunities Napa—Solano Head Start has seized to create new
and better services for children and families in our region. The Fillmore Head
Start Center opened in 1996 as a partnership between Head Start and the City of
Fairfield’s Quality Neighborhood Team. The key players included the City of
Fairfield, the Police Department, the County Office of Education, and the property
owners; Mr. Silva and Mr. Lee. The Quality Neighborhood Team needed a tenant
services.component to revitalize a decaying area and Head Start needed a facility
with a play area. Mr. Silva, the apartment building owner, had vacancies, Mr. Lee,

the parking lot owner, had excess parking space. We negotiated with the city to
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lease two apartments and the parking lot. Community Development Block Grant
funds provided the play equipment. Residents of Fillmore Street and the city
volunteered to build the playground and Head Start converted two downstairs

apartments for the center. In the evenings it is used for tenant meetings and adult

classes.

' The Fairfield Redevelopment Agency provides rent support to Head Start, made a
loan to the property owner, provides Quality Neighborhood Team staffing, and
funded the landscaping, driveway improvements and exterior painting for all 16
buildings. The Police Department maintained an on-site sub station for one year.

Head Start leased the play area for $1 per year.

The outcomes have been many:

¢ Fillmore area residents have a free, reliable child and family development
program

e all buildings are attractive and meet the building and housing code

o -property values have rebounded

e tenants are connected through a weekly newsletter from the Quality

Neighborhood Team
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mandatory housecleaning classes are held for every tenant -
microenterprise training is-provided to interested tenants

services for children with disabilities are.coordinated on site

regular tenant meetings and ESL classes are held

the vacancy rate has dropped from 25% to 3%

calls for police service dropped from 300 in 1995 to less than 40 in 1997

serious crimes have been virtually eliminated:

From this project.and many others we have leaned some important considerations -

when developing partnerships: .

develop a written agreement as a model.for local planning

consider the motivation or impetus for local planning

clearly define the roles and responsibilities of the system and the people

ensure that all terms, semantics.and vernacular of each agency are defined and .
understood:

understand the regulations and constraints of each agency ~

avoid making assumptions about agency procedure or mandates

define clearly the role of the parents on the Policy.€ouncil when determining

the focus of the agency
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o be flexible and make a commitment that is reality based

¢ understand funding considerations and shifting costs

¢ include all stakeholders

e agree on a timeline

* include a futures discussion which sets the stage for next step implementation
e focus on your similarities and understand your differences

e be up front about the obstacles

Key Issues
Head Start has been a part of the conceptual landscape of services to families in

this country for over 33 years. We have weathered some devastating challenges

and have enjoyed the exhilarating crest of success.
The current issues facing Head Start are diverse. From my perspective the

following are the issues that are important to address now through

re-authorization.

The Child Care Block Grant compels Head Start to develop strong and effective

collaborative partnerships at the State level. When partnering well, both the state
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and Head Start benefit from the best that each has to offer in program approach
and funding. There is a strong program focus on State/Head Start full day
partnering but the effective strategies to support that at.a policy level have not-
been adequately addressed. I encourage you to support individual choice of .

partnership selection at the local level

Second, the State/Head Start Collaboration projects are well conceived in purpose
and strategy but poorly funded for the larger states such as-California. Cutrently-
the State of Vermont receives the same amount of support as.California. .:-The
inequities in terms of size, population, participants, travel and complexity cannot
be adequately addressed. Please review funding for larger states for . -

Collaboration Projects.

Third, quality Child Care is a key success issue for transitioning families from -
welfare to work. Head Start must be suppeorted to implement this transition from
part day to full day as appropriate at the local level. Child Care and.a job do net
necessarily create a healthy family. Head Start must be funded to-continue to
provide the comprehensive family services necessary.for families to b‘e -

successful employees and-good parents.- To meet famiiy needs, programs must
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be supported to address seamless services birth to school age through

existing funding and expansion grants.

Fourth, the income eligibility of families in Head Start remains the lowest of all
social service programs. This is particularly critical in states with high cost of
living areas. A review of the income eligibility and its effect on full day full
year participation for working families must be addressed in order to respond

to the changing needs of the individual communities served.

Fifth, Program Monitoring is a crucial factor in Head Start maintaining the high
quality reputation it has earned. Each Head Start director must be encouraged to
participate as a member of the peer monitoring process. Regional offices must be
supported in raising the leverage for poor performing grantees. The unevenness
in Head Start programs must be addressed and programs assisted with

enhanced training opportunities to achieve the level of accountability dictated

by the revised Performance Standards.

be reviewed. When Head Start was granteed in 1965, they were small, short term,
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underfunded demonstration-projects. The situation has dramatically changed and
Head Start programs have grown much larger than the agencies-funded to govern.
them. The Regional Offices must support programs to address the inequities. ofa

grantee relationship that is often an inefficient and. unnecessary layer of

administration.

The mission of Head Start is-clear: to break:the cycle of disparity:by.preparing -
young low income children and their families to better-succeed in life. This
mission has not changed since 1965. Because of its clarity of purpose and
pationally acclaimed success Head Start continues to generate tremendous .
excitement and commitment throughout our local communities. Our program
alone had 210,000 hours of volunteer support and over $1,400,000 in In-kind .

donations this program year:

Head Start is defined as-a comprehensive program that addresses the needs of the
whole child, and this always includes the needs of the child’s family. What is most-
extraordinary is the extent to which Head Start generates the-loyalty and respect of
the people and communities it serves. Millions are_served, yet Head Start has

retained the capacity to speak to the needs and aspirations of the individual

10
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participants. Head Start offers hope and leads the way to self sufficiency, self

esteem and self improvement.

The results speak for themselves. Head Start has documented the program’s
lasting etfects on children. By every important measure children perform better,

are healthier and depend less on social services as adults.

If there are two secrets to Head Start success, they are that Head Start staff enter in
to a compassionate partnership with each parent to shape the future of the child.
Services to children are not provided without the active and intense participation

of the family. There is an array of commitments and agreements that parents

make so that each participant is a key and active stakeholder in program outcomes.
In fact Head Start was the original welfare reform program in that it was time

limited. not entitlement and required active participation for eligibility.

Even a strong parmership formed between the parent, the child and the Head Start

staff cannot succeed without the committed involvement of the local community.

Because of this, a significant part of the Head Start mission is also to partner with

public private and corporate entities to effectively move families to personal

11
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responsibility, self sufficiency and active community involvement. Community
development itself is the result of an actively supported, community based
program. While the child is in Head Start families are being supported and
connected to community resources. Families demonstrate willing and active
participation in improving their circumstances and moving from isolation to

connection with a social and work network.

In summary, Head Start builds strong-families and strong families build healthy

commniunities.

12
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BIO

Jackie Dollar is the Director of Napa-Solano Head Start in Northern California and
has been with the program for 18 years. She has a BA in Child development and
an MS in special Education from the University of Southern California and is
active in Head Start, Early Childhood disabilities and community advocacy issues.
She is the most recent winner of the Johnson & Johnson Corporation’s 1997
management in Excellence Award for Head Start. Her program serves 1,000
families in a two county region and is staffed by 175 employees. Originally from
Los Angeles, she lives in Napa, C#lifomia and is the proud mother of two

handsome sons, Matthew 23 and Zachary 14.
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Jackie O’Connor Dollar

]
Sinpenfalitmintis
(o
Education
1995 Johnson & Johnson Fellow, UCLA, Andersson School of Management
Los Angeles
1973 University of Southern California-
Los Angeles -

M.S. Special Education -

1972 Mount St. Mary's College-
Los Angeles

B.A. Child Development. Minor - Administration
Professional Experience

1995 - Present Napa-Solano Head Start
Director

1985 - 1995 Napa Valley:Head Start and Home-Base Program
Director

1980 - 1983 Napa Valley Child Gare System - €enter/Family Day Care Hornes
Director

1997 - 1980 Sausalito Cooperative School
Director

1978 - 1979 Western Leadership Training Institutes
Independent Consultant .

1977 - 1978 California Regional Resource Center
University of Southern California

Los Angeles

Education Specialist

1975 - 1977 California Learning Resource Center
University of Southern California

Los Angeles

Learning Resource Consultant=
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1973 - 1975

1972 - 1973

1972 - 1973

1969 - 1972

1997

1997

1996

1994 - Present

1988 - Present

February 1988

California Learning Resource Center
University of Southem California

Los Angeles

Materials Specialist

Clinic for Exceptional Children, Preschool Unit
Teacher & Curriculum Coordinator

Clinic for Exeptional Children
Educational Therapist

Instructional Materials Center for Special Education
University of Southem California

Los Angeles

Research Librarian

Professional Activities

Performance Standards Training
Region IX, Consultant
Oakland

Disabilities Coordinator’s Training
Los Angeles County Office of Education
Presenter

| California State Department of Special Education

Conference Presenter
Sacramento

Regional Access Project
Sonoma State University
Consultant

“Pre-Employment/Career Development Services Project”
Department of Health and Human Services

Washington, D.C.

Project Director

“Children Living In Chemically Dependent Families”, Head Start Training Conference
San Jose, California

Training Consultant
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February 1986 “Two for-One” - Pre-Employment Screening Strategies - ADAPT Training Conference
Los Angeles. California -
Training Consultant

March 1985 Home Based Children’s Services, San Luis Obispo County Schools
San Luis Opispo, California
Training Consultant.:

1984 - Present OSPRI, Team Consuitant
Region IX

1984 - Present Administration for Children, Youth and Families
Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D.C.

Grant Reader

1983 . Personnel - Conflict Resolution Training
Napa Non-Profit Coalition -
Coordinator

1978 Paramount Studios, Education Division -
Hollywood
Consultant

1977 State Department of Education, Personnetl Development Unit -
Sacramento
Consultant

1977 National information-Center for-Educational- Materials
University of Southern Califomia..
Los Angeles

1976 - 1977 VORT Corporation
Palo Alto, California
Consultant

1976 System FORE Resources, National CEC Convention Presentation
Chicago, llinois
Co-Chairperson

1973 - 1976 System FORE, Individualized Instruction Program
Trainer

February - June 1975 | Newport-Mesa Unified School District -
Costa Mesa, California :
Consultant
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April 1975

July - December 1975

September 1975

April 1974

September - June 1973

August 1973

Spring 1973

April 1973

March 1973

February 1973

January 1973

“Film Theatre", National CEC Convention
Los Angeles
Coordinator

Northwest Learning Resource System
University of Oregon

Eugene

Consultant

Wisconsin Department of Education, Cooperative Special Education Units
Stephens Point, WI ’

Consultant

“Non-Categorical Evaluation Model", National CEC Convention Presentation
New York, NY

Chairperson

Sophia T. Salvin School for the Orthopedically Handicapped
Los Angeles

Evaluation Consultant

“Adaption of Commercially Published Materials for Use with the Deaf"

Southwest Regional Media Center for the Deaf Workshop
Lake Tahoe, CA

Consultant

Interaction Analysis Training Workshop
California State College at Los Angeles
Coordinator

“Perfomance Objectives in the Affective Domain®
National CEC Convention Presentation

Dallas, TX

Co-Chairperson

Program Planning and Evaluation Conference NIH-HEW Grant Region VI
Gulf Shores, Alabama
Facilitator

*Values for the Preschool Child”
Confratemity of Christian Doctrine
Archdiocese of LosAngeles
Workshop Coordiantor

Program Planning and Evaluation Conference NIH-HEW Grant Region IV
Gatlinberg, TENN
Facilitator
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April - June 1972 Program Planning and Performance Objectives-for Special Education Department
Grossmont Unified School District
San Diego
Training Consultant

April 1972 “Structuing the Classroom for Success™

National CEC Convention Presentation
Washington, D.C.
Facilitator

March 1972 Structuring the Classroom for Success”
National CEC Convcrmon Presemanon
Facilitator

1971 - 1972 Automated Assessment Reférral and-Counseling System NIMH Grant
. University of Southem California

Los Angeles

Project Staff

November 1971 Evaluation of Early-Childhood: Education Projects
BEH Grant No. 32-14-1490-1033 (607)
Facilitator

August 1971 Special Project

Training of Professional Educators in the Evaluation of Special Education Projects, BE!
| Grant No.32-71-3678 (603)

Facilitator.

July 1971 Evaluation of Early Childhood Eduction Projects
BEH Grant No. 32-14-1490-1033 (607)

Professional Competencies

Ability to organize people and resources."

Derive or define long-range goals and.periodic. objectives.
Establish critical decision points and time requirements
Define task requirements.

Assess personnel skills.

Locate needed resources.

Match personnel skills to task requirements.

Design training for new skills.

Establish feedback procedures for’ problem-solvmg and evaluation.
Prepare and communicate technical reports.

Design dissemination plans:
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Spring 1987

Winter 1976

Fall 1975
Spring 1973
Spring 1973

Spring 1972

1997
1997
1995

1988

1972 - 1973

1972

1972
1970
1969

1968 - 1971
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Professional Competencies (continued)

Ability to establish effective patterns of communication and problem solving.
* Ability to identify discrepancies between current situational needs and past
personnel resources.

* Ability to facilitate the selection of alternative response pattems.

* Ability to design accommodative learning experiences for delivery of new skills.

 Ability to monitor acquisition of new skills and adjust program to match leamer
differences in terms of content, style, rate or environmental needs.

Publications

“Guidelines for Developing a Child Development Facility”, City of Napa

“Match Materials to the Learner”
Audio Visual Instruction, December 1976, Vol. XXI No. 10, pp24-25

Media Competency Training Materials - Index, ERIC
Noncategorical Preschool: Model Program-monograph, ERIC
“Affective Materials for Use with Adolucents - A Bibliography", ERIC

“The Growing Years - A Bibliography of Affective Materials fo rthe Preschool Child"
ERIC

Honors
Napa-Solano Head Start Policy Council Award, “Visionary Leadership”

MIP Strategic Initiative Award, Johnson & Johnson Fellow Program
Johnson & Johnson Fellow, UCLA, Anderson School of Managemeht

Department of Health and Human Services Award “Public/Private Sector
Partnerships”

USOE-BEH Traineeship for Graduate Study

MSMC, Department of Psychology Award for “Outstanding Achievement in the
Behavioral Sciences - Child Study”

Delta Epsilon Sigma - Nationatl Scholastic Honor Society
MSMC, “Estelle Doheny Award for Scholastic Achievement”
President, Delta Theta Chi Sorority

California State Scholar
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Professional Organizations, Task Forces, Committees
Child Care Planning Council

Children's Network Council

Association of Directors and Parents Together

Napa Coalition for Non-Profit Agencies

State/ Head Stan Collaboration Committee

North Bay Articulation Pilot Project -Sonoma State University
National Head Start Association

California Head Start Association

ROP Advisory Group - Napa College

EOPS Advisory, Solano Community College

Mentor Teacher Task Force, Solano Community College
CDBG Task Force

Solano Economic Development Corportation (SEDCORP)

Hobbies/Personal Interesfs
Skiing
Tennis

Racquetball

Reading
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Chairman Riggs, Congressman Martinez and Members-of the Subcommittee,
good afternoon. . | am Yolie Flores Aguilar; President of the Los- Angeles County
Board of Education. The Los Angeles County Office of Education, or LACOE as
we call it, operates the largest Head"Start Program in the nation. We contract
with 15 school districts, 15 private nonprofit agencies and 2 city governments, to -
provide direct, comprehensive services to over 21,000 Head Start eligible
children and their families.

In addition to my responsibilities as Board President, | work with the National
Economic Development and Law Center in helping communities develop child .
care programs. | am also a. consultant to the Annie E. Casey Foundation on
child care and Latino Children's-issues.: Previously, .| served as the director of
Child .Care for the City of-Los.Angeles. Accompanying.me today is Dr. Andrew
Kennedy, Director- of'LACOE's Head Start-State Preschool Division. ‘We at:
LACOE "have been providing.innovative family services for Head Start eligible
families since 1979.

It is a pleasure to be here today to present our recommendations-on-Head Start-
reauthorization. Before | outline our recommendations, let me highlight some of -

the innovative programs we operate:

e Our Head Start Regionalized Family Services program has expanded
services-to-the whole family — based on the premise that parents. are the
foundation- of their childfen's success and.are the primary resource for
“building strong families for America's future”: This program-uses a case
management approach, providing =~ comprebensive,- participant-directed-
services defigned to promote family literacy; family weliness, and-meaningful
employment.
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e Our Direct Services Home Base program provides an opportunity for parent
involvement to influence their child's development and education. Parents
learn about child development and parenting skills, and how to access
community resources-medical, dental, mental health and other social

services through home visits, group activities and training sessions.

« We have also developed a partnership with the JTPA program to provide
training, field work, and course work leading to employment for selected
Head Start parents as instructional assistants or Head Start teachers. We
provide the parents with not only academic credit through Cerritos College

but also critical employment skills.

e We also provide substance abuse awareness training and seek to help

parents address gang prevention issues.

These are just a few examples of the comprehensive approach we have adopted
for our Head Start program.

Let me now talk about some of the transition services we have bullt into our
program so that our Head Start children are ready to learn when they reach
kindergarten. Before | do that, let me commend Congressman Martinez for
introducing H.R. 3880 which directly focuses on needed transition sefrvices and
increased collaboration between Head Start programs and local education
agencies.

Our experience clearly demonstrates that collaborative transition plans between
preschool programs and early elementary grades prepares families for learning
continuity, helping children begin kindergarten successfully. To succeed,
transition plans must address issues of curriculum continuity, developmentally
appropriate instruction, staff development and teacher-student ratios.

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

195



204
Our Head Start program partners with local educational agencies to promote
reading readiness, family literacy and transition from Head Start to kindergarten.
We have also formed a partnership between our Head Start delegate agencies

and the California Parent-Teacher Association units to link Head Start parents
with the local PTA networks.

These collaborative efforts have enabled us to:

~ Assist elementary schools. in building on the positive aspects of the Head
Start experiences,

- Contribute to the self-esteem, well being and skills: of both children and their
families, and

- Provide a. communications network. for. parents, teachers and Head Start
agencies.

in addition to the transition services authorized in Congressman Martinez's bil,
we would like your Committee to consider several recommendations, developed -
in collaboration with-other large Head Start grantees in New York City, Chicago,
Puerto Rico, Migrant Head Start, and the Navajo Nation.

Eirst, Head Start reauthorization should enhance: family. literacy services by
requiring specific literacy. services for the whole family. Our experience shows
that literate parenis greatly ‘assist their childrén in learning -to read and these
parents are more likely to gain meaningful employment. It is also important to
link Head Start literacy ' services ‘to.-pre-employment -skills training, thereby
furthering the goals of welfare reform.

Second, early Head Start programs should be expanded. Clearly the recsnt
research on brain development shows us. the critical need for early childhood -
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education. We now have the opportunity to reach our infants and toddlers of

today early on to help promote their cognitive and social development.

Third, reauthorization should include quality perfformance measures. Head Start
grantees and delegate agencies need to have in place concrete objectives,
measurable outcomes and timelines for a child's achievement. These measures

must be aligned with accepted quality program indicators.

Eourth, reauthorization should emphasize safety. We see too much violence in
and around the communities where Head Start services are delivered.
Therefore, we recommend that the Head Start Bureau partner with the Justice
Department to develop programs to improve the safety of the environment where
Head Start programs are located, and improve training for parents and staff that

addresses the best practices in making their communities and programs safer.

Lastly, reauthorization should inciude program flexibility to coordinate between
Head Start and child care providers and incentives for partnerships and other
forms of collaboration with the goal of achieving full day, full year services.

Program guidelines should be strengthened to address:

¢ areas of allowable supplemental expenditures for collaboration with child care

providers;
= allowance for joint funding of Head Start agencies and child care providers;
* enhanced program requirements such as parental pérticipation; and

» liability issues.
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! believe we can all agree that the Head Start-program is-a critically important-
resource in helping -our children and. families succeed in this increasingly -
competitive world. Therefore, it is.my.strongest recommendation that funding be :
included to.reach the goal of serving-1 million children and their families by the -
year 2002,

Thank you for providing me with.the epportunity to testify.- | would be happy to
answer any questions you may have.
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